

LUND UNIVERSITY

Sedation and analgesia during intensive care after cardiac arrest

Ceric, Ameldina

2025

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Ceric, A. (2025). Sedation and analgesia during intensive care after cardiac arrest. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation)]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Sedation and analgesia during intensive care after cardiac arrest

AMELDINA CERIC DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES LUND | LUND UNIVERSITY



Sedation and analgesia during intensive care after cardiac arrest

Sedation and analgesia during intensive care after cardiac arrest

Ameldina Ceric



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University to be publicly defended on May 16th, 2025 at 13.00 in Jubileumsaulan, Skånes University hospital, Malmö.

Main supervisor:	Professor Niklas Nielsen
Co-supervisors: Professor Tobias Cronberg	
	Dr Anna Lybeck
	Dr Josef Dankiewicz
	Dr Teresa May
Faculty opponent: Medicine, Anesthesiology	Professor Ole Mathiesen, Department of Clinical and Intensive Care, Copenhagen University,

Copenhagen, Denmark

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY

Document name: Doctoral dissertation Date of issue: 2025-05-16

Author: Ameldina Ceric

Title and subtitle: Sedation and analgesia during intensive care after cardiac arrest

Abstract: Sedation and analgesia are commonly used during intensive care and targeted temperature management (TTM) after cardiac arrest to reduce anxiety, discomfort, and patient-ventilator asynchrony. However, there is limited evidence to guide clinicians in selecting optimal drugs and dosing strategies. While adequate sedation is necessary, deeper sedation may lead to adverse effects such as hemodynamic instability, compromised ventilation, delirium, and delayed awakening. The impact of sedation and analgesia on clinical outcomes including seizure occurrence, functional recovery, and survival, remains unknown.

Paper I This study evaluated sedation and analgesia practices after cardiac arrest between and within centers at 12-, 24-, and 48-hours following randomization to TTM at 33°C or 36°C. Associations with survival, clinical seizures, and delayed awakening were assessed in a cohort of 614 patients from 18 centers. Significant inter-center variability was identified in dosing and titration of sedatives and analgesics. Higher sedation and analgesia doses were associated with delayed awakening and clinical seizures, whereas downward titration of analgesics was associated with improved six-month survival.

Paper II This post hoc analysis of 1861 patients from the TTM2-trial investigated the associations between sedation and analgesia use and functional outcomes, survival, clinical seizures, and delayed awakening. Cumulative doses of sedatives and analgesics such as propofol, midazolam, fentanyl, and remifentanil were analyzed up to 72 hours after randomization to hypothemia or normothermia. Higher propofol doses and the use of remifentanil/fentanyl were associated with both good functional outcomes and survival, as well as increased occurrence of clinical seizures and delayed awakening, analyzed in multivariable logistic regression model adjusting for severity of illness and clinical factors influencing sedation.

Paper III This TTM2 substudy investigated the impact of hypothermia versus normothermia on sedative and analgesic serum concentrations and time to awakening. Blood samples and cumulative dosing data were collected at the end of TTM and at 72 hours (end of protocolized fever prevention) and analyzed for propofol, midazolam, clonidine, dexmedetomidine, morphine, oxycodone, ketamine, and esketamine concentrations. Among 71 patients (33 treated with hypothermia, 38 with normothermia), no significant differences in cumulative drug doses or serum concentrations were observed between groups. While hypothermia prolonged awakening in midazolam-treated patients, overall awakening times did not significantly differ. These findings suggest that hypothermia does not significantly alter sedative pharmacokinetics, though larger studies are needed to confirm these results.

Paper IV This systematic review, meta-analysis, and trial sequential analysis (TSA) investigated the effects of sedation depth on mortality, serious adverse events, neurological outcome, and delirium in critically ill adults. Fifteen randomized clinical trials (4352 participants) were analyzed. No significant differences were observed between deeper and lighter sedation in terms of mortality, delirium incidence, or serious adverse events. TSA indicated futility in detecting further mortality differences. While results were robust, moderate-quality evidence underscore the need for high-quality studies with higher methodological rigor.

Paper V This study protocol describes the SED-CARE trial, a randomized, international, multicenter study investigating the effects of sedation depth on six-month mortality in comatose survivors of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Adults who remain comatose after sustained return of spontaneous circulation will be randomized within four hours to either deep (Richmond agitation and sedation scale (RASS) -4/-5) or minimal sedation (RASS to -2) for 36 hours. Conducted as part of the Sedation, Temperature and Pressure after Cardiac Arrest and Resuscitation factorial trial, which also investigates temperature control and blood pressure strategies after cardiac arrest. A total of 3500 participants will be enrolled, based on a power calculation designed to detect an absolute risk reduction of 5.6%, with an alpha of 0.05 and 90% power. Findings from this large-scale study are expected to inform future guidelines and optimize post-cardiac arrest.

Key words: Cardiac arrest, Sedation, Analgesia. Language: English Number of pages: 103 ISSN 1652-8220 ISBN 978-91-8021-706-4

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2025-05-16

Sedation and analgesia during intensive care after cardiac arrest

Ameldina Ceric



Copyright pp 1 – 103 Ameldina Ceric

Paper 1 © 2022 The Author(s)

Paper 2 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Paper 3 © 2023 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V.

Paper 4 © 2024 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd.

Paper 5 © 2025 by the Author(s). Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica Foundation.

Faculty of Medicine

Department of Clinical Sciences Lund

ISBN 978-91-8021-706-4

ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University

Lund 2025



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se



To my beloved family, Eldar and Emin

"He takes the souls at the time of their death, and those that do not die He takes during their sleep. Then He keeps those for which He has decreed death and releases the others for a specified term. Surely in this are signs for people who reflect" – Ruh

Table of Contents

Abstract	
List of publications	15
Publications not included in thesis	16
Abbreviations	17
Thesis at a glance	
Introduction	
Cardiac arrest	19
Background	
Epidemiology of cardiac arrest	
Chain of survival	
Post cardiac arrest syndrome	
Post cardiac arrest care treatment	
Post cardiac arrest syndrome: Myocardial dysfunction	
Post-cardiac arrest brain injury	
Seizures	
Targeted temperature management	
Sedation and analgesia	
Sedation strategies	
Sedation strategies in patients with acute brain injury	
Sedation effects on the brain	
Sedative drugs	
Analgesics	
Volatile anesthetics	
Pharmacokinetic challenges in critical illness	
Heterogeneity in post-cardiac arrest patients	
Awakening	
Neurological prognostication	
Outcomes	
Survival	
Functional recovery	
Aims of the thesis	

The overall aim of the thesis	39
The main aims of each paper are:	39
Material and methods	40
Paper I	
Study design and overview of the TTM-trial	
Randomization and ethical considerations	41
Participants	41
Sedation and analgesia practices	42
Neurological management and outcome definitions	42
Outcomes	42
Statistical analyses	42
The TTM2-trial: Paper II and III	
Patients	44
Ethics	44
Patient management	44
Intervention and post-intervention periods	
Neurological prognostication and WLST	45
General intensive care	
Sedation	46
Outcomes and follow-up	46
Paper II	47
Objectives	47
Study design and population	47
Subgroup analyses: Comatose patients at 96 hours without clinical	
seizures	47
Data collection and outcome measures	48
Statistical analyses	48
Paper III	49
Objectives	49
Patients	49
Intervention and sedation management	49
Seizure management	49
Serum sampling and analysis	50
Outcomes	50
Statistical analyses	50
Paper IV	52
Systematic review and meta-analysis	52
Rationale for trial sequential analysis	52
Methodological approach	53
Objectives	53
Data sources and search strategy	53

Inclusion and exclusion criteria.	54
Data extraction and management	54
Risk of bias assessment	54
Data synthesis and analysis	54
Trial sequential analysis	54
Certainty of evidence	55
Paper V	56
Study design	56
Participants and inclusion criteria	56
Randomization and blinding	57
Interventions	57
Outcome measures	58
Sample size and statistical analysis	58
Data collection and management	59
Ethical considerations	59
Monitoring and interim analysis	59
Results	60
Paper I	60
Study population and participating centers	60
Assessment tools for sedation and analgesia	60
Administration of sedatives and analgesics	60
Dosage and titration of sedatives and analysis	
Paner II	62
Patient nonulation clinical characteristics and outcomes	02
Sedation and analgesia practices	02
Sensitivity analyses: Comatose patients at 96 hours without seizure	es 63
Paner III	65
Patient nonulation	05
Sedative and analgesic administration and blood concentrations	05
Time to awakening and neurological outcomes	05
Paner IV	66
Study inclusion and characteristics	00
Primary outcome: All-cause mortality	00 68
Secondary outcomes	68
Exploratory outcomes	60
Di i	
Discussion	70
Paper I and II	70
Sedation and analgesia practices	/0
Sedation and analgesia practices over time	70
Variation in sedation and analgesia practices across centers	71
Sedation practices and target temperature management	71

Impact of sedation management and clinical outcomes	. 72
Late awakening	. 72
Clinical seizures	. 72
Functional outcome and survival	. 73
Reasons for prolonged or increased sedation	. 74
Strengths and limitations	. 75
Paper III	. 77
Effects of temperature management on sedation and pharmacokinet	ics
during TTM in post-cardiac arrest care	. 77
Sedation and serum concentrations	. 77
Shivering and seizures	. 77
Implications for clinical practice	. 78
Limitations	. 78
Paper IV	. 79
Strengths of the study	. 79
Methodological challenges and limitations	. 79
Implications for practice	. 80
Paper V	. 81
Aim and rationale	. 81
Potential consequences	. 81
Strengths	. 82
Limitations	. 82
Conclusions	. 83
Future Directions	. 85
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning på svenska	. 86
Studie I	. 86
Studie II	. 87
Studie III	. 87
Studie IV	. 87
Studie V	. 87
Acknowledgments	. 89
References	. 90

Abstract

Sedation and analgesia are commonly used during intensive care and targeted temperature management (TTM) after cardiac arrest to facilitate TTM and reduce anxiety, discomfort, and patient-ventilator asynchrony. However, there is limited evidence to guide clinicians in selecting optimal drugs and dosing strategies. While adequate sedation may be necessary, deeper sedation may lead to adverse effects such as hemodynamic instability, compromised ventilation, delirium, and delayed awakening. The impact of sedation and analgesia on clinical outcomes including seizure occurrence, functional recovery, and survival, remains unknown.

Paper I

This study evaluated sedation and analgesia practices after cardiac arrest between and within centers at 12-, 24-, and 48-hours following randomization to TTM at 33°C or 36°C. Associations with survival, clinical seizures, and delayed awakening were assessed in a cohort of 614 patients from 18 centers. Significant inter-center variability was identified in dosing and titration of sedatives and analgesics. Higher sedation and analgesia doses were associated with delayed awakening and clinical seizures, whereas downward titration of analgesics was associated with improved six-month survival.

Paper II

This post hoc analysis of 1,861 patients from the TTM2-trial investigated the associations between sedation and analgesia use and functional outcomes, survival, clinical seizures, and delayed awakening. Cumulative doses of sedatives and analgesics such as propofol, midazolam, fentanyl, and remifentanil were analyzed up to 72 hours after randomization to hypothermia or normothermia. Higher propofol doses and the use of remifentanil/fentanyl were associated with both good functional outcomes and survival, as well as increased occurrence of clinical seizures and delayed awakening, analyzed in multivariable logistic regression model adjusting for severity of illness and clinical factors influencing sedation.

Paper III

This TTM2 substudy investigated the impact of hypothermia versus normothermia on sedative and analgesic serum concentrations and time to awakening. Blood samples and cumulative dosing data were collected at the end of TTM and at 72 hours (end of protocolized fever prevention) and analyzed for propofol, midazolam, clonidine, dexmedetomidine, morphine, oxycodone, ketamine, and esketamine concentrations. Among 71 patients (33 treated with hypothermia, 38 with normothermia), no significant differences in cumulative drug doses or serum concentrations were observed between groups. While hypothermia was associated with prolonged awakening in midazolam-treated patients, overall awakening times did not significantly differ between the two groups. These findings suggest that hypothermia does not significantly alter sedative pharmacokinetics, though larger studies are needed to confirm these results.

Paper IV

This systematic review, meta-analysis, and trial sequential analysis (TSA) investigated the effects of sedation depth on mortality, serious adverse events, neurological outcome, and delirium in critically ill adults. Fifteen randomized clinical trials (4352 participants) were analyzed. No significant differences were observed between deeper and lighter sedation in terms of mortality, delirium incidence, or serious adverse events. TSA indicated futility in detecting mortality differences of 16% or more. While results were robust, moderate-quality evidence underscore the need for high-quality studies with higher methodological rigor.

Paper V

This study protocol describes the SED-CARE trial, a randomized, international, multicenter study investigating the effects of sedation depth on six-month mortality in comatose survivors of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Adults who remain comatose after sustained return of spontaneous circulation will be randomized within four hours to either deep (Richmond agitation and sedation scale (RASS) -4/-5) or minimal sedation (RASS 0 to -2) for 36 hours. Conducted as part of the *Sedation, Temperature and Pressure after Cardiac Arrest and Resuscitation* (STEPCARE) factorial trial, which also investigates temperature control and blood pressure strategies after cardiac arrest. A total of 3500 participants will be enrolled, based on a power calculation designed to detect an absolute risk reduction of 5.6%, with an alpha of 0.05 and 90% power. Findings from this large-scale study are expected to inform future guidelines and optimize post-cardiac arrest care.

List of publications

This thesis if based on the following original scientific papers, referred to int the text by their Roman numerals.

- I. Ceric A, May TL, Lybeck A, Cronberg T, Seder DB, Riker RR, Hassager C, Kjaergaard J, Haxhija Z, Friberg H, Dankiewicz J, Nielsen N. Cardiac Arrest Treatment Center Differences in Sedation and Analgesia Dosing During Targeted Temperature Management. Neurocrit Care. 2023 Feb;38(1):16-25.
- II. Ceric A, Dankiewicz J, Cronberg T, Düring J, Moseby-Knappe M, Annborn M, May TL, Thomas M, Grejs AM, Rylander C, Belohlavek J, Wendel-Garcia P, Haenggi M, Schrag C, Hilty MP, Keeble TR, Wise MP, Young P, Taccone FS, Robba C, Cariou A, Eastwood G, Saxena M, Ullén S, Lilja G, Jakobsen JC, Lybeck A, Nielsen N. Sedation and analgesia in post cardiac arrest care: a post hoc analysis of the TTM2 trial. (Under peer review in Critical Care).
- III. Annborn M, Ceric A, Borgquist O, During J, Moseby-Knappe M, Lybeck A. Hypothermia versus normothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest; the effect on post-intervention serum concentrations of sedatives and analgesics and time to awakening. Resuscitation. 2023 Jul;188:109831.
- IV. Ceric A, Holgersson J, May TL, Skrifvars MB, Hästbacka J, Saxena M, Aneman A, Delaney A, Reade MC, Delcourt C, Jakobsen JC, Nielsen N. Effect of level of sedation on outcomes in critically ill adult patients: a systematic review of clinical trials with meta-analysis and trial sequential analysis. EClinicalMedicine. 2024 Mar 28;71:102569.
- V. A. Ceric, J. Dankiewicz, J. Hästbacka, P. Young, V. H. Niemelä, F. Bass, M. B. Skrifvars, N. Hammond, M. Saxena, H. Levin, G. Lilja, M. Moseby-Knappe, M. Tiainen, M. Reinikainen, J. Holgersson, C. B. Kamp, M. P. Wise, P. J. McGuigan, J. White, K. Sweet, T. R. Keeble, G. Glover, P. Hopkins, C. Remmington, J. M. Cole, N. Gorgoraptis, D. G. Pogson, P. Jackson, J. Düring, A. Lybeck, J. Johnsson, J. Unden, A. Lundin, J. Kåhlin, J. Grip, E. M. Lotman, L. Romundstad, P. Seidel, P. Stammet, T. Graf, A. Mengel, C. Leithner, J. Nee, P. Druwé, K. Ameloot, A. Nichol, M. Haenggi, M. P. Hilty, M. Iten, C. Schrag, M. Nafi, M. Joannidis, C. Robba, T. Pellis, J. Belohlavek, D. Rob, Y. M. Arabi, S. Buabbas, C. Yew Woon, A. Aneman, A. Stewart, M. Reade, C. Delcourt, A. Delaney, M. Ramanan, B. Venkatesh, L. Navarra, B. Crichton, A. Williams, D. Knight, J. Tirkkonen, T. Oksanen, T. Kaakinen, S. Bendel, H. Friberg, T. Cronberg, J. C. Jakobsen, N. Nielsen. Continuous deep sedation versus minimal sedation after cardiac arrest and resuscitation (SED-CARE): A protocol for a randomized clinical trial. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2025; 69(5):e70022. doi:10.1111/aas.70022.

All papers are reprinted with permission of the copyright owners.

Publications not included in thesis

- I. Holgersson J, Ceric A, Sethi N, Nielsen N, Jakobsen JC. Fever therapy in febrile adults: systematic review with meta-analyses and trial sequential analyses. BMJ. 2022 Jul 12;378:e069620.
- II. Ceric A, Holgersson J, May T, Skrifvars MB, Hästbacka J, Saxena M, Aneman A, Delaney A, Reade MC, Delcourt C, Jakobsen J, Nielsen N. Level of sedation in critically ill adult patients: a protocol for a systematic review with meta-analysis and trial sequential analysis. BMJ Open. 2022 Sep 8;12(9):e061806.
- III. Haxhija Z, Seder DB, May TL, Hassager C, Friberg H, Lilja G, Ceric A, Nielsen N, Dankiewicz J. External validation of the CREST model to predict early circulatory-etiology death after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest without initial ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2023 Jun 20;23(1):311.
- IV. Ceric, A, Wise MP. Optimal sedation in the patients with acute brain injury including post cardiac arrest. Review for Critical Care Clinics of North America. CCC 41.4 (Shehabi/Stollings/Girard) Optimizing Sedation & Analgesia in the ICU, Chapter 12.

Abbreviations

AED	Antiepileptic drugs			
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate			
CAG	Coronary angiography			
CI	Confidence interval			
CPC	Cerebral performance category			
CPR	Cardiopulmonary resuscitation			
DSMC	Data and safety monitoring committee			
ECG	Electrocardiography			
ECMO	Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation			
EEG	Electroencephalography			
ICP	Intracranial pressure			
ICU	Intensive care unit			
FOUR	Full outline of unresponsiveness			
GCS	Glasgow coma scale			
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and			
	Evaluation			
MAP	Mean arterial pressure			
mRS	Modified Rankin scale			
NMB	Neuromuscular blockade			
OHCA	Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest			
OR	Odds ratio			
Rob2	Risk of bias tool 2			
ROSC	Return of spontaneous circulation			
PCAS	Post cardiac arrest syndrome			
PCI	Percutaneous coronary angiography			
RASS	Richmond agitation-sedation scale			
RCT	Randomized clinical trial			
RR	Risk ratio			
SAE	Serious adverse events			
SAS	Riker sedation-agitation scale			
SED-CARE	Sedation after Cardiac arrest and Resuscitation			
STEPCARE	Sedation, Temperature, and Pressure after Cardiac arrest and			
	Resuscitation			
TTM	Targeted temperature management			
TTM-trial	Targeted temperature management trial			
TTM2-trial	Targeted temperature management 2 trial			
TSA	Trial sequential analysis			
WLST	Withdrawal of life sustaining therapy			

Thesis at a glance

Title	Aim	Methods	Results
Paper I: Cardiac Arrest Treatment Center Differences in Sedation and Analgesia Dosing During Targeted Temperature Management	Evaluate sedation and analgesia practices in TTM at 33°C vs 36°C and assess associations with survival, seizures, and awakening.	Multicenter observational study analyzing 614 patients from 18 centers. Drug selection, dosing, and titration were compared in multivariable linear regression model.	Significant variability in sedation practices across centers. Higher sedation/analgesia doses associated with delayed awakening and seizures, and downward titration of analgesics with improved survival.
Paper II: Sedation and analgesia in post-cardiac arrest care: a post hoc analysis of the TTM2-trial	Investigate associations between sedation/analgesia use and functional outcome, survival, seizures, and awakening in TTM2-trial.	Post hoc analysis of 1861 patients in TTM2-trial. Multivariable logistic regression used to adjust for severity of illness.	Higher propofol doses and fentanyl/remifentanil use were associated with survival, and good functional outcome, and increased seizures/delayed awakening.
Paper III: Hypothermia versus normothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest; the effect on postintervention serum concentrations of sedatives and analgesics and time to awakening	Examine the impact of hypothermia vs normothermia on sedative and analgesic serum concentrations and time to awakening.	TTM2 substudy measuring drug serum concentrations and awakening time in 71 patients in multivariable regression model.	No significant differences in drug concentrations between hypothermia and normothermia groups. Awakening was prolonged with midazolam use.
Paper IV: Effect of level of sedation on outcomes in critically ill adult patients: a systematic review of clinical trials with meta-analysis and trial sequential analysis	Assess effects of sedation depth on mortality, serious adverse events (SAE), and delirium in critically ill adults.	Systematic review, meta-analysis, and trial sequential analysis (TSA) of 15 randomized clinical trials (RCTs) (4352 participants) comparing deep vs light sedation outcomes.	No significant mortality, SAE, or delirium differences between different sedation levels. TSA suggested futility in detecting mortality differences.
Paper V: Continuous deep sedation versus minimal sedation after cardiac arrest: A study protocol for a randomized clinical trial	Describe protocol for SED-CARE trial investigating sedation depth impact on six- month mortality in OHCA patients.	RCT trial enrolling 3500 patients to assess sedation depth impact on six- month mortality.	Study ongoing. Expected to inform guidelines and optimize sedation and analgesia strategies in post-cardiac arrest care based on a large-scale sample.

Introduction

Cardiac arrest

Cardiac arrest is a critical event defined by the sudden cessation of cardiac mechanical activity, typically identified by the absence of circulation signs, unresponsiveness, and cessation of breathing, often confirmed as pulselessness by trained personnel [1, 2]. This condition leads to the rapid loss of blood flow to vital organs, making immediate intervention essential to prevent death. While cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) can temporarily restore circulation, addressing the underlying causes is vital for long-term survival. Cardiac arrest represents the third leading cause of death in Europe and remains a significant global health challenge, demanding attention from healthcare providers, researchers, and policymakers [3-5].

Despite its high mortality rates, advancements in resuscitative techniques, early intervention strategies, and a deeper understanding of its pathophysiology have contributed to improving outcomes [6-8]. This background chapter describes the epidemiology, mechanisms, current management strategies, and the need for innovative approaches to enhance survival rates and improve long-term outcomes post-cardiac arrest. Among these management strategies, sedation and analgesia have crucial role in optimizing post-cardiac arrest care, yet their practices remain highly variable and insufficiently studied. This dissertation aims to investigate sedation and analgesia practices in this context, contributing to ongoing research and driving advancements in clinical practices to improve patient outcomes.

Background

Location and causes of cardiac arrest

Cardiac arrest is typically classified based on its location of occurrence as either out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) or in-hospital cardiac arrest [2, 9]. This distinction reflects perceived differences in underlying causes, response times, and available interventions; however, recent evidence suggests that differences in outcomes may be smaller than previously assumed [10-12]. Studies indicate that inhospital cardiac arrest patients are more often female, have a higher burden of comorbidities, and are more likely to experience arrest due to non-cardiac causes, such as respiratory failure and sepsis [11, 12]. In contrast, OHCA is primarily of medical origin (90%), with cardiac causes being the most prevalent, followed by respiratory and neurological causes [3, 13-15]. Non-medical causes include trauma, suicide, drug overdose, and other external factors. Furthermore, cardiac arrest can be categorized based on the first documented rhythm as either shockable (ventricular tachycardia or ventricular fibrillation) or non-shockable rhythm. Shockable rhythms occur in approximately 20% of cases and are associated with more favorable outcomes [16, 17].

Epidemiology of cardiac arrest

OHCA is a major public health concern, affecting approximately 700,000 people annually in Europe and the US [18-21]. Cardiovascular disease, the leading underlying cause of cardiac arrest, remains the primary global cause of death, with mortality rising from 6.9 million to 8.9 million deaths in 2000 to 2019 [22]. The incidence of OHCA varies by region and reporting system. In Europe, the overall incidence is approximately 89 per 100,000 individuals (varying from 53 to 166) though this differs across countries, for example, 55 per 100,000 in the United Kingdom, 93 per 100,000 in Denmark, and around 50 per 100,000 in Sweden [8, 13, 23-26]. Survival to hospital discharge has improved in recent years, currently averaging 9% in Europe and the US, with variations ranging from 3% to 20%. For instance, survival rates are 8% in the UK and 12% in Sweden [3, 8, 26-28]. This increase is largely attributed to higher rates of bystander CPR and greater public access to early defibrillation [26, 28-30].

Chain of survival

The "chain of survival" is a structured framework developed to improve outcomes for cardiac arrest victims and provides a simple means to educate the public [31]. It consists of four key steps: early recognition and activation of emergency services, early CPR, early defibrillation, and post-resuscitation care (see Figure 1). When implemented effectively, this sequence can significantly improve survival rates [32]. Among these steps, early recognition and bystander CPR have the greatest impact on survival, as the number of patients who survive decreases at each subsequent stage [33]. In recent years, bystander CPR rates have risen to between 30% and 58%, though substantial variation exists between countries [4, 26]. While early interventions are critical, post resuscitation care (also named post-cardiac arrest care), the final step in the chain of survival, is increasingly recognized as essential for improving survival and long-term recovery [34, 35].



Figure 1 The Chain of survival, conceptual illustration of survival after cardiac arrest dependent on critical interlinked interventions. © European Resuscitation Council, reprinted with permission.

Post cardiac arrest syndrome

Cardiac arrest, the sudden cessation of blood flow, deprives vital organs, particularly the heart and brain, of oxygen and glucose, leading to severe metabolic and cellular stress [36]. Resuscitation efforts, including CPR and ROSC, aim to reestablish perfusion and limit ischemic damage. However, the subsequent ischemiareperfusion injury triggers a cascade of pathophysiological responses, activating immune and coagulation pathways [37, 38]. This inflammatory and pro-thrombotic response contributes to multiple organ dysfunction, collectively known as postcardiac arrest syndrome (PCAS). PCAS manifests as a spectrum of multiorgan failure and neurological impairment that develops within hours to days after cardiac arrest. It includes post-cardiac arrest hypoxic-ischemic brain injury, myocardial dysfunction, systemic ischemia-reperfusion response, and persistent precipitating pathology (see Table 1) [39]. Similar to sepsis, PCAS is characterized by systemic inflammation, leading to endothelial damage, microcirculatory dysfunction, intravascular volume depletion, and vasodilation [40-42]. These complications can hinder recovery, impact long-term outcomes, and significantly contribute to morbidity and mortality following cardiac arrest [39, 43]. The severity of PCAS depends on the duration of ischemia, the underlying cause of cardiac arrest, and preexisting comorbidities, all of which influence the extent of organ dysfunction and neurological injury [39, 44].

 Table 1. Schematic illustration of the four components of the post-cardiac arrest syndrome, their pathophysiology and clinical manifestations according to the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation.

Post cardiac arrest syndrome			
	Pathophysiology	Clinical manifestations	Management
Brain injury	Cerebrovascular dysfunction: Impaired autoregulation, ischemia-reperfusion injury. Neurological damage: Cerebral oedema, neuronal death through gliosis and apoptosis.	Impaired consciousness, seizures/myoclonus, neurocognitive dysfunction, electroencephalography (EEG), suppression, stroke, brain death.	Targeted temperature management, EEG monitoring, seizure treatment, blood pressure management
Myocardial dysfunction	Global hypokinesis, reduced cardiac output, acute coronary syndrome.	Dysrhythmias, cardiovascular collapse, hypotension	Revascularization, hemodynamic optimization (e.g. intravenous fluids, inotropes, intraaortic balloon counterpulsation, left ventricular assist device, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation)
Systemic/ischemic reperfusion response	Systemic inflammatory response, cytokine release, inflammatory mediators, impaired vasoregulation and coagulation, adrenal suppression, impaired tissue oxygenation and immune function, aspiration pneumonia.	Tissue hypoxia/ischemia, cardiovascular collapse, hypotension, fever, hypoglycemia, infection, multi-organ failure.	Oxygenation, infection control, organ support.
Persistent precipitating physiology	Common causes: cardiomyopathy, acute coronary syndrome, asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, cerebrovascular accident, pulmonary embolism, hypoxemia, acidosis, sepsis, pneumonia, hemorrhage, dehydration.	Clinical manifestation according to etiology.	Treatment according to underlaying cause.

Post cardiac arrest care treatment

Critical care for unconscious OHCA patients includes hemodynamic support, mechanical ventilation, temperature management, treatment of seizures, and potential coronary angiography if cardiac etiology is suspected [34, 43]. Tracheal intubation is typically performed during or shortly after CPR to facilitate oxygenation, ventilation monitoring, and aspiration protection [45-47]. Depending on the patient's level of consciousness post-ROSC, sedation and analgesia may be necessary [45-47]. Following cardiac arrest, patients are at risk of hypoxic-ischemic brain injury and organ dysfunction. While increased blood oxygenation can enhance cerebral oxygen delivery, excess oxygen may generate harmful oxygen radicals [48, 49]. Current evidence supports initial administration of 100% inspired oxygen, followed by titration to maintain normal oxygen saturation (92-98%) once levels can be reliably monitored [45, 47, 50-54]. Carbon dioxide plays a crucial role in cerebrovascular tone and cerebral blood flow regulation, and this cerebrovascular reactivity appears to be preserved post-cardiac arrest [52, 55, 56]. Guidelines recommend targeting normocapnia, however this may be insufficient to restore cerebral blood flow after cardiac arrest. While observational studies suggest potential benefits of mild hypercapnia, recent randomized clinical trials (RCTs) have not confirmed these findings [57-59].

Post cardiac arrest syndrome: Myocardial dysfunction

Cardiovascular failure is the leading cause of death within the first three days following cardiac arrest [21, 60]. Significant myocardial dysfunction is common post-arrest, typically improving within 2–3 days, though full recovery may take longer [61, 62]. In patients with ST-elevation post-ROSC, immediate percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) is crucial, as myocardial ischemia-induced arrhythmia is a frequent cause of sudden cardiac death. Early PCI significantly improves survival and neurological outcomes, with over 80% of patients with ST-elevation or left bundle branch block on electrocardiography (ECG) having an acute coronary lesion [63]. Current guidelines recommend emergency cardiac catheterization for these patients [43].

For patients without ST-elevation, recent coronary occlusion cannot be ruled out, and the need for early coronary angiography (CAG) should be assessed based on hemodynamic or electrical instability and ongoing myocardial ischemia [64]. Key factors in this decision include medical history, pre-arrest symptoms, initial cardiac rhythm, post-ROSC ECG, and echocardiography findings. When ischemia is suspected, early CAG is recommended, whereas in low-probability cases, delayed CAG allows for initial intensive care unit (ICU) stabilization and post-resuscitation care. Studies have shown no significant difference in survival or functional outcomes between early and delayed CAG in patients without ST-elevation [65-67].

Observational studies suggest hypotension is associated with poor outcomes. However, meta-analyses of randomized clinical trials comparing lower and higher mean arterial pressure (MAP) targets have not shown significant differences in mortality or functional outcomes [68-77]. Hemodynamic monitoring and management are essential due to the frequent occurrence of post-resuscitation myocardial dysfunction, with early echocardiography guiding treatment [45-47]. Current recommendations suggest setting hemodynamic goals, including MAP and systolic blood pressure targets, but there is insufficient evidence on the optimal hemodynamic threshold [77, 78]. MAP is a key determinant of cerebral blood flow, and higher MAP targets may be required in brain-injured patients to improve cerebral perfusion and mitigate hypoxic-ischemic brain injury, particularly in the presence of cerebral swelling and increased intracranial pressure (ICP) [78, 79]. Additionally, cerebral autoregulation is often impaired post-cardiac arrest, making cerebral blood flow more dependent on MAP at lower levels, thereby increasing the risk of cerebral hypoperfusion and secondary brain injury [78-80]. Postresuscitation myocardial dysfunction often requires inotropic support, as vasodilation and vasoplegia in PCAS driven by systemic inflammation and myocardial dysfunction, can lead to circulatory collapse. While vasopressors and inotropes have dose-dependent adverse effects, pilot studies suggest noradrenaline is well tolerated even at higher MAP targets in post-cardiac arrest patients [81, 82]. Dobutamine is the most established inotropic agent to increase cardiac output. When fluids, inotropes, and vasopressors fail to maintain circulation, mechanical circulatory support devices (e.g., intra-aortic balloon counterpulsation, left ventricular assist device, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO)) may be considered

Post-cardiac arrest brain injury

Post-cardiac arrest hypoxic-ischemic brain injury refers to the neurological damage that occurs following successful resuscitation [83]. Among the patients initially resuscitated from OHCA and who die, approximately two thirds of deaths result from withdrawal of life-sustaining therapy (WLST) following an assessment of brain injury and a prognosticated poor neurological outcome [21, 84, 85]. Consequently, post-cardiac arrest care prioritizes strategies to mitigate brain injury, as understanding its mechanisms and implications is essential to optimize survival and neurological recovery.

The brain, despite constituting only about 2% of total body weight, accounts for approximately 15% of total metabolism due to the high energy demands of its neurons and glial cells [86]. Glial cells provide structural and regulatory support, while neurons communicate via electrical impulses, neurotransmitter exocytosis, and reuptake, processes that require adenosine triphosphate (ATP). Neuronal metabolic demand can double during periods of high activity, making these cells

particularly vulnerable to oxygen and glucose depletion when blood flow is interrupted.

Post-cardiac arrest hypoxic-ischemic brain injury involves multiple complex mechanisms, including endothelial and microvascular damage, which disrupts blood flow and oxygen delivery, leading to tissue hypoxia. Within 2–3 minutes of circulatory arrest, cessation of blood flow to the brain results in mitochondrial dysfunction, ATP depletion, and failure of energy-dependent Na⁺/K⁺ pumps, leading to loss of membrane potential and anoxic depolarization [87, 88]. ATP depletion also causes extracellular accumulation of neurotransmitters and intracellular Ca²⁺ overload, further exacerbating neuronal injury and cell death [87, 88]. These mechanisms trigger widespread neuronal damage, with most injury occurring within the first 72 hours. Additionally, neuroinflammation, a secondary immune response to the initial insult, can exacerbate neuronal damage and contribute to long-term neurological dysfunction [89]. The post cardiac arrest hypoxic-ischemic brain injury can present clinically as loss of consciousness, seizures, myoclonus, neurocognitive dysfunction, EEG suppression, and ultimately brain death [90, 91].

Seizures

Seizures occur in approximately one-third of cardiac arrest patients in the ICU, often indicating severe hypoxic–ischemic brain injury [92]. They may present as clinical convulsions or abnormal EEG activity, with continuous EEG monitoring revealing substantial overlap between the two [93]. Seizure activity can be focal, multifocal, or generalized, affecting various body regions.

Myoclonic seizures are the most common post-cardiac arrest, characterized by sudden, brief muscle contractions typically appearing within the first 24-48 hours. They are strongly associated with poor prognosis and often exhibit epileptiform activity on EEG, such as synchronous time-locked discharges or burst-suppression [93-95]. Status myoclonus, defined as a severe and continuous form of myoclonus lasting more than 30 minutes, occurs in about 20% of patients and is associated with a poor prognosis if it develops within 48 hours post–cardiac arrest [94, 96, 97].

Subcortical myoclonus is a distinct subgroup of myoclonic seizures that originates from subcortical structures (e.g. brainstem or basal ganglia) rather than the cerebral cortex. Unlike cortical myoclonus, subcortical myoclonus is not consistently associated with cortical EEG findings. This distinction is important, as subcortical myoclonus is not necessarily linked to poor outcomes [97].

Lance-Adams syndrome is a form of generalized action myoclonus, that typically develops days to weeks after cardiac arrest, often persisting chronically with preserved consciousness. Early prognostication is challenging, as affected patients may initially be indistinguishable from those with post-cardiac arrest myoclonus

who ultimately have poor outcomes. Additionally, sedation used in post-cardiac arrest care can mask early signs of Lance-Adams syndrome, further complicating accurate assessment and prognosis [98, 99].

Tonic-clonic seizures and combined seizures are less commonly observed and are not necessarily associated with poor outcome [92].

Seizures can exacerbate brain injury by increasing metabolic demand. Management typically involves antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) such as levetiracetam and valproate. Current guidelines recommend against prophylactic AED use in post-cardiac arrest patients but support active seizure treatment when detected [43, 47]. A recent study in comatose cardiac arrest survivors found that suppressing rhythmic and periodic EEG activity with antiseizure medication for at least 48 hours did not significantly improve neurologic outcomes at 3 months compared to standard care alone [100]. Sedatives, some of which are also potent antiepileptic agents, may mitigate secondary brain injury and optimize neurological recovery by lowering metabolic rate and ICP [101, 102]. In clinical practice, sedation is often increased when a patient is having clinical seizures or shows signs of pain and agitation. However, sedation and analgesia during targeted temperature management (TTM) and post-cardiac arrest care may mask clinical seizures, making EEG monitoring essential for accurate detection and prognostication [43, 47].

Targeted temperature management

Fever, defined as an elevated body temperature due to a raised hypothalamic setpoint caused by pyrogens in response to inflammation and infection, is part of the body's natural defense mechanism [103, 104]. While it can inhibit certain pathogens and enhance immune activity, both fever and hyperthermia are hypothesized to lead to adverse effects such as increased metabolic demand, seizures, and organ damage [104]. In hospital settings, fever management is standard practice to reduce discomfort and physiological stress. In ICU, fever therapy aims to lower metabolic demand and prevent hypoxic-ischemic tissue injury.

Early studies in 2002 demonstrated that inducing hypothermia (32–34°C) improved outcomes for patients with shockable rhythms following cardiac arrest [105, 106]. However, subsequent trials, including the Target Temperature Management trial (TTM-trial) and Target Temperature Management 2 trial (TTM2-trial), found no significant benefits of hypothermia over maintaining normothermia [107, 108]. As a result, the American Heart Association guidelines currently recommend maintaining temperatures between 32°C and 37.5°C for 24 hours [109]. Similarly, the European Society for Emergency Medicine and the European Society of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care emphasize temperature control as a key component of post-cardiac arrest care, but rather than promoting strict hypothermia protocols, they now recommend preventing hyperthermia (>37.7°C) for at least 72 hours due to insufficient evidence supporting specific temperature targets [110, 111]. Additionally, TTM is resource-intensive and carries potential risks, including arrhythmias that compromise cardiac stability, coagulation disturbances that increase the risk of hemorrhage and thromboembolism, and may increase the risk of infections and sepsis.

Sedation and analgesia

Sedation and analgesia are essential parts of critical care management, alleviating anxiety, discomfort, and pain while facilitating mechanical ventilation, invasive procedures, and other treatments necessary for critically ill patients. However, their use requires a balance between ensuring patient comfort and minimizing adverse effects. Deeper sedation can compromise circulatory and respiratory function, prolong mechanical ventilation, delay awakening, and increase the risk of delirium [112].

Sedation strategies

Lighter sedation strategies in general ICU populations have been associated with shorter time to extubation, reduced ICU length of stay, and a lower incidence of delirium [113, 114]. However, there is no universally accepted definition of "light sedation", and different approaches, including protocolized sedation, goal-directed sedation, and daily sedation interruptions, are commonly used. Sedation depth is typically monitored using validated assessment tools, such as the Richmond Agitation-Sedation Scale (RASS) and the Riker Sedation-Agitation Scale (SAS), which are widely applied in critically ill patients [115, 116].

RASS	Classification	Description
+4	Combatative	Overtly combative, violent, danger to staff
+3	Very agitated	Pulls or removes tubes/catheters; aggressive
+2	Agitated	Frequent non-purposeful movement, fights ventilator
+1	Restless	Anxious, apprehensive, but not aggressive
0	Alert and calm	Normal responsiveness
-1	Drowsy	Awakens to voice (eye opening/contact) > 10 seconds
-2	Light sedation	Briefly awakens to voice (eye opening/contant) < 10 seconds
-3	Moderate sedation	Movement or eye opening, no eye contact
-4	Deep sedation	No response to voice, but movement or eye opening to physical stimulation
-5	Unarousable	No response to voice or physical stimulation

Table 2. Richmond Agitation and Sedation Scale (RASS).

Table 3. Riker Sedation-Agitation Scale (SAS).

SAS	Classification	Description
7	Dangerous Agitation	Pulling at endotracheal tube, attempting to climbing over bedrail, striking at staff, thrashing
6	Very Agitated	Requiring restraint and frequent verbal reminding of limits, biting endotracheal tube
5	Agitated	Anxious or physically agitated, calms to verbal instructions
4	Calm and cooperative	Calm, easily arousable, follows commands
3	Sedated	Difficult to arouse but awakens to verbal stimuli or gentle shaking, follows simple commands but drifts off again
2	Very Sedated	Arouses to physical stimuli but does not communicate or follow commands, may move spontaneously
1	Unarousable	Minimal or no response to noxious stimuli, does not communicate or follow commands

Both RASS and SAS are validated tools for assessing sedation in general ICU populations. However, their applicability in patients with acute brain injury or post-cardiac arrest syndrome is limited, as these patients are often excluded from validation studies due to brain injury-induced unresponsiveness, which confounds the assessment of sedation depth. Observational studies suggest a potential mortality benefit from lighter sedation strategies, but RCTs have shown inconsistent results [114, 117-119]. Additionally, non-sedation strategies for mechanically ventilated ICU patients have been explored in RCTs, demonstrating feasibility but no significant differences in clinical outcomes [120].

Sedation strategies in patients with acute brain injury

In patients with acute brain injury, sedation and analgesia play a critical role in maintaining cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) and ICP, managing seizures, and preventing secondary brain injury [121, 122]. However, sedation can obscure neurological assessments, making it difficult to accurately evaluate consciousness level, pupillary response, motor function, and EEG activity. These risks are particularly pronounced in patients with acute brain injuries or hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy following cardiac arrest and presents unique challenges in the ICU. This is particularly relevant for patients undergoing TTM, where sedation is essential to control shivering and alleviate discomfort, as shivering increases body temperature and metabolic demand and may exacerbate neurological injury [123].

Patients with acute brain injury are often excluded from sedation trials due to their unique pathophysiological considerations, including the need to manage primary injury, prevent secondary brain injury, and mitigate confounding effects on neurological assessments [124]. While general ICU guidelines favor lighter sedation strategies to reduce mechanical ventilation duration and ICU length of stay, patients with acute brain injury, such as traumatic brain injury (TBI) and stroke, often require deeper sedation to manage CPP and ICP [125-127]. In these patients, sedation is primarily used to control agitation, facilitate mechanical ventilation, and prevent secondary brain injury by maintaining ICP and CPP within optimal ranges [128]. Regular neurological assessments are essential, necessitating the use of short-acting sedatives to allow for frequent clinical evaluations. Similarly, in acute ischemic stroke, excessive sedation can mask evolving neurological deficits and delay necessary interventions [129]. Additionally, pain management in these patients is also critical, as pain can elevate ICP, but analgesics must be carefully administered to avoid deeper sedation.

For post-cardiac arrest patients, sedation is essential during TTM to suppress shivering and alleviate discomfort, reduce metabolic demand, and facilitate mechanical ventilation [45, 47]. Unlike TBI and stroke, where deep sedation may be necessary for ICP control, post-cardiac arrest sedation strategies emphasize progressive lightening after rewarming to normothermia to enable early neurological assessment and prognostication [45, 47]. The variability in sedation practices across institutions underscores the need for high-quality, methodologically rigorous trials to standardize best practices and optimize patient outcomes.

Sedation effects on the brain

Sedation has significant effects on cerebral physiology, with potential neuroprotective benefits, particularly in patients with acute brain injury [101, 130, 131]. By reducing the cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen, sedation may improve tolerance to ischemia and balance oxygen supply and demand, particularly when

autoregulation is impaired. This leads to decreased cerebral blood flow and volume, effectively lowering ICP. Monitoring ICP is a critical component of managing acute brain injury, as it helps clinicians adjust sedation depth to prevent ICP spikes triggered by arousal, agitation, pain, or sympathetic responses. Sustained elevated ICP is strongly associated with poor neurological outcomes, including increased mortality and long-term cognitive dysfunction [132-134].

Sedation may also enhance brain protection by promoting glymphatic system function, particularly when inducing non-REM sleep [135-137]. The glymphatic system facilitates the clearance of neurotoxic byproducts such as β -amyloid and tauprotein, potentially reducing the risk of neurodegeneration. This novel mechanism underscores the multifaceted role of sedation in supporting neuroprotection beyond its traditional focus on ICP management [138, 139].

Seizure management is another important consideration in sedation strategies for patients with acute brain injury and PCAS. Seizures, particularly status epilepticus and refractory status epilepticus, significantly increase cerebral metabolic demands and subsequently ICP, exacerbating secondary brain injury [89]. Sedatives such as propofol, barbiturates, and midazolam have anti-epileptic properties, enabling effective seizure control through increased sedation [140, 141]. Depending on the dosing, these drugs will suppress clinical myoclonus and epileptiform activity in the EEG. In refractory cases, high doses of sedatives may induce burst suppression on EEG, reducing metabolic demands and controlling seizures to prevent further injury. Current guidelines recommend continuous EEG monitoring within 24-48 hours for patients with acute brain injury or PCAS who are at risk of seizures, especially those who are comatose or sedated [47, 142]. However, there remains uncertainty whether deep sedation prophylactically reduces seizure risk and secondary brain injury, highlighting the need for further research to determine whether lighter sedation strategies is feasible in these patients without increasing the risk of seizure.

Hemodynamic stability is another crucial component of sedation management, as cerebral perfusion pressure, critical for oxygen delivery to the injured brain, is dependent on both MAP and ICP [128]. Sedation can influence blood pressure, heart rate, and systemic vascular resistance, often necessitating the use of vasopressors to maintain adequate MAP. In patients with impaired cerebral autoregulation, fluctuations in blood pressure can lead to inadequate cerebral perfusion or hyperperfusion and subsequent elevated ICP, with potential adverse effects on outcomes [78]. Thus, sedation strategies must balance neuroprotection with the prevention of hemodynamic instability to optimize care in acute brain-injured patients.

It is recommended that in comatose cardiac arrest survivors with clinical indicators of cerebral edema and elevated ICP, consideration may be given to invasive ICP monitoring [47]. However, while invasive ICP monitoring is standard in

neurocritical care for conditions like TBI, its routine use in post-cardiac arrest patients is not universally established. The decision to implement invasive ICP monitoring should be individualized, taking into account the patient's overall condition, the presence of signs indicating elevated ICP, and the expertise available within the treating facility.

Post-cardiac arrest patients face unique challenges related to hemodynamic instability, often resulting from factors such as cardiogenic shock and systemic inflammation associated with post-cardiac arrest syndrome [143]. Hypotension is particularly detrimental in this population, as it is strongly associated with unfavorable outcomes [68-76]. While it is possible to maintain adequate MAP during deep sedation in post-cardiac arrest care, meta-analyses of RCTs targeting higher or lower blood pressure levels have not demonstrated significant differences in mortality or functional outcomes [77, 78]. This suggests that blood pressure management during sedation must be individualized, balancing the risks of hypotension with the need for adequate cerebral perfusion.

Sedative drugs

The choice of sedative and analgesic agents in critically ill patients with acute brain injury and post-cardiac arrest syndrome is guided by their effects on cerebral physiology, hemodynamic, and the ability to facilitate frequent neurological assessments. Each agent has benefits and limitations, requiring careful selection to balance neuroprotection, hemodynamic stability, clinical seizures, and clinical neurological assessment.

Propofol is a widely favored sedative due to its rapid onset and short half-life, which allow for precise titration and timely neurological evaluation. It effectively reduces the cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen and lowers ICP while preserving cerebrovascular reactivity [144]. Additionally, propofol suppresses EEG activity in a dose-dependent manner, making it particularly effective as an anti-epileptic agent. Despite these benefits, propofol carries risks, including hypotension and propofol-related infusion syndrome, which necessitate cautious use and close hemodynamic monitoring [145, 146].

Midazolam, a short-acting benzodiazepine, has a more favorable hemodynamic profile compared to propofol but is slightly less effective in reducing cerebral blood flow and ICP [124]. Midazolam possesses strong anti-epileptic properties and is considered the first-line treatment for status epilepticus worldwide [147]. It is primarily metabolized in the liver, to metabolites with retained pharmacological activity, and are renally execrated. However, its active metabolites can accumulate, particularly in patients with renal impairment, leading to prolonged sedation, delayed awakening, and extended ICU stays [148]. Prolonged midazolam use has

also been associated with increased risks of delirium, post-traumatic stress disorder, and confounded neurological assessments [148].

Barbiturates also effectively reduce cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen and ICP but are associated with significant adverse effects, including prolonged sedation, increased risk of delirium, hemodynamic instability due to reduced cardiac contractility, electrolyte disturbances, and suppression of innate immunity. Currently, barbiturates are reserved for the management of refractory intracranial hypertension and status epilepticus, where their ability to induce burst suppression on EEG is critical for reducing cerebral metabolic demands and achieving seizure control [149, 150].

Dexmedetomidine, an alpha-2 adrenergic receptor agonist, provides titratable sedative and analgesic effects with minimal respiratory depression, making it particularly advantageous for critically ill patients. Its use has been associated with reduced risks of delirium, shorter durations of mechanical ventilation, and reduced ICU stays [151, 152]. Although its effects on cerebral physiology remain unclear, emerging evidence suggests potential neuroprotective properties, and studies have demonstrated its safety and efficacy in neurocritical care patients [153-155]. Nevertheless, dexmedetomidine may cause bradycardia and hypotension, necessitating careful hemodynamic monitoring in patients with acute brain injury [151, 152].

Ketamine, an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist, is a short-acting sedative and analgesic agent with minimal impact on respiratory function and cardiovascular stability. Its role in cerebral physiology remains debated, but recent studies suggest that ketamine can stabilize or even reduce ICP while increasing cerebral blood flow [156, 157]. These findings indicate its potential utility in patients with acute brain injury, although further research is warranted to clarify its effects and safety in this context.

Analgesics

Opioids remain central to the management of analgesia in critically ill patients, particularly those with endotracheal tubes, as they effectively reduce discomfort and ventilator asynchrony. In recent years, clinical practice has shifted from long-acting opioids such as morphine to short-acting agents like, sufentanil, and remifentanil, which offer rapid onset and shorter half-lives, facilitating frequent neurological assessments. Morphine's metabolism in the liver and renal excretion can lead to metabolite accumulation in cases of renal or hepatic impairment, increasing the risk of neurotoxicity, including seizures and myoclonus. In contrast, fentanyl and sufentanil are less affected by such impairments, while remifentanil, metabolized via non-specific tissue and plasma esterase, offers an ideal pharmacokinetic profile for patients with compromised liver or kidney function. However, bolus opioid

dosing can decrease MAP and cerebral perfusion pressure, necessitating hemodynamic monitoring [158, 159]. For patients with acute brain injury and postcardiac arrest syndrome, opioid selection and administration require careful consideration to balance analgesia with hemodynamic stability and timely neurological evaluations. While short-acting agents are preferred for their favorable pharmacokinetics, long-acting opioids may still have a role in specific clinical scenarios where prolonged analgesia is necessary.

Volatile anesthetics

The use of volatile anesthetics for sedation in critically ill patients is gaining interest as an alternative to intravenous sedation. Traditionally used in the operating room, agents such as sevoflurane and isoflurane are now being explored in the ICU due to their rapid onset, easy titration, and pulmonary elimination. Unlike intravenous sedatives, which rely on hepatic metabolism and renal clearance, volatile anesthetics are primarily eliminated via pulmonary exhalation, making them less susceptible to altered drug metabolism in critically ill patients, particularly those undergoing TTM or suffering from organ dysfunction. Volatile anesthetics can be challenging to use in the ICU because they are administered as gases, requiring specialized delivery systems and scavenging equipment not routinely available outside the operating room.

Among the commonly used volatile anesthetics, sevoflurane has low solubility, allowing for rapid induction and arousal from sedation, which is beneficial in ICU sedation when fast awakening is required. It is well tolerated in mechanically ventilated patients due to its minimal airway irritation, though it causes dose-dependent vasodilation and hypotension. Isoflurane, with a higher blood-gas solubility, has a slower onset but remains a potent cerebral vasodilator, which may increase ICP in patients with acute brain injury necessitating careful monitoring [160-162]. Volatile anesthetics may provide neuroprotective effects by reducing cerebral metabolic rate while maintaining cerebral blood flow and modulating neuroinflammation [162-164]. Studies suggest they may attenuate ischemia-reperfusion injury, oxidative stress, and excitotoxicity, potentially reducing secondary brain injury after TBI, stroke, or cardiac arrest. While volatile anesthetics present a promising alternative for ICU sedation, particularly in patients with acute brain injury and post-cardiac arrest syndrome, their clinical role remains to be investigated [165].

Pharmacokinetic challenges in critical illness

The metabolism and clearance of sedative drugs are significantly altered in critically ill patients, particularly in the setting of TTM and acute brain injury. Critical illness and hypothermia impair drug metabolism by reducing hepatic blood flow and
altering cytochrome P450 enzyme activity, resulting in slower and more variable drug elimination compared to healthy individuals [166, 167]. This delayed clearance increases the risk of drug accumulation and prolonged sedative effects, complicating the management of sedation and neurological assessments. Thus, the challenge of predicting drug pharmacokinetics in critically ill populations, particularly when hypothermia further impairs drug metabolism.

An additional consideration in ICU sedation infusions is the context-sensitive halftime, which refers to the time required for a drug's plasma concentration to decrease by half after stopping a continuous infusion. Unlike elimination half-life, which is a fixed property of a drug, context-sensitive half-time increases with prolonged infusions, particularly for lipophilic sedatives such as propofol and midazolam. In critically ill patients, prolonged sedation, reduced hepatic clearance, and impaired drug redistribution further prolong drug elimination, increasing the risk of delayed awakening and lingering sedation.

In the setting of TTM, hypothermia further prolongs context-sensitive half-time by reducing hepatic enzyme activity and renal clearance, making dose adjustments and careful titration essential to prevent excessive sedation and delayed neurological recovery [168-171]. Given these challenges, short-acting sedatives such as dexmedetomidine or remiferitanil are often preferred in patients requiring prolonged sedation, as they have shorter context-sensitive half-times and more predictable clearance, even in the setting of critical illness and temperature modulation.

Heterogeneity in post-cardiac arrest patients

One critical aspect of post-cardiac arrest care that warrants further discussion is the significant heterogeneity among patients in terms of myocardial injury, brain injury, seizure susceptibility, and sedation/analgesia response. Patients are not a uniform group, and their physiological differences—including underlying comorbidities, the severity of ischemic injury, and individual pharmacokinetic variability—may lead to differing responses to the same treatment strategies. Evidence suggests that factors such as myocardial dysfunction, cerebral autoregulation impairment, and variations in seizure threshold contribute to variations in clinical outcomes, making a one-size-fits-all approach to sedation and analgesia potentially suboptimal [172-174].

Awakening

Neurological recovery following cardiac arrest follows a well-defined trajectory, extensively documented in prospective studies [175, 176]. The process typically begins with the restoration of brainstem function, marked by the return of spontaneous breathing and cranial nerve reflexes. This is followed by the

appearance of motor responses, including extension patterns and defensive movements. Consciousness gradually returns, accompanied by the progressive recovery of speech, motor functions, orientation, and memory.

While most patients regain consciousness within the first three days after cardiac arrest, delayed awakening has been observed in some cases, sometimes occurring weeks later [177]. Studies have reported that nearly 25% of patients awaken more than 72 hours after rewarming, with the latest documented case of awakening occurring 59 days post-rewarming in the absence of WLST [177]. However, beyond the timing of awakening, it is essential to consider the long-term quality of life in these patients. Earlier awakening has been associated with better functional outcomes, whereas delayed or absent awakening correlates with poorer neurological recovery and overall prognosis [178-180].

The awakening process may also be influenced by the use of sedative agents, which are often required during post-cardiac arrest care, can prolong time to awakening due to lingering effects. Both critical illness and hypothermia further contribute to delayed drug metabolism and reduced elimination, potentially leading to extended sedation and delayed neurological recovery. Recognizing the impact of residual sedation is crucial to ensuring accurate neurological assessments and avoiding premature prognostic conclusions.

Neurological prognostication

Brain injury remains the leading cause of death in patients who survive the initial phase of cardiac arrest. However, only a minority of these fatalities meet the formal criteria for brain death [181]. Instead, the majority of deaths result from the WLST following a predicted poor neurological outcome. Accurate neurological prognostication in unconscious patients following cardiac arrest is essential to guide clinical decision-making and avoid both premature WLST and futile care. To ensure prognostic accuracy, predictive tests must have a high specificity for poor neurological recovery. The 2021 European Society of Intensive Care Medicine and European Resuscitation Council algorithm suggests poor prognosis in patients with stereotyped flexion responses at 72 hours post-arrest if at least two predictors are present, including absent pupillary and corneal reflexes, bilaterally absent N20 somatosensory evoked potentials, malignant EEG patterns, elevated neuron-specific enolase, myoclonic status, or extensive anoxic brain injury on imaging [45]. However, the reliability of these predictors is influenced by residual sedation, metabolic disturbances, and other critical care-related confounders, necessitating careful interpretation.

To enhance the reliability of prognostication, a multimodal approach is recommended, incorporating clinical examination, neurophysiological testing, neuroimaging, and serum biomarkers of brain injury. However, many studies on neurological prognostic markers are subject to self-fulfilling prophecy bias, which arises when treating clinicians, unblinded to predictive test results, allow these findings to influence WLST decisions [182]. Additionally, TTM complicates neurological prognostication, as sedative agents can interfere with both clinical assessments and neurophysiological tests, further obscuring accurate outcome prediction. Guidelines recommend a washout period of at least five context-sensitive half-lives of the longest-acting sedative before prognosis is determined [45].

Outcomes

Incorporating patient-centered outcomes is essential for a comprehensive evaluation of recovery after cardiac arrest. These outcomes focus on quality of life, functional independence, and the ability to return to normal activities, which are crucial for assessing the true impact of the event on survivors.

Survival

Survival is a robust outcome measure in cardiac arrest studies, indicating recovery objectively. However, its interpretation is influenced by the practice of WLST, and the specific time point recorded. Survival to discharge and 30-day survival are preferred over shorter-term metrics, yet both have limitations: survival to discharge varies by cultural and health system differences, while 30-day survival, though less biased, leading to higher follow-up loss. However, there is international variation in the feasibility of collecting this information. While multiple follow-up time points may be used to capture the trajectory of recovery, a 6-month follow-up is considered a strong endpoint, providing sufficient time for meaningful neurological and functional recovery while limiting the risk of unrelated events confounding outcomes.

Functional recovery

Neurological recovery continues for at least six months post-arrest, with the most significant improvements occurring within the first three months. Functional outcomes following cardiac arrest are typically assessed using clinician-completed measures, including the Cerebral Performance Category (CPC), Structured CPC, CPC-Extended, Glasgow Outcome Scale–Extended (GOSE), and the Modified Rankin Scale (mRS) [183-185].

The CPC scale, while widely used, has limited granularity, making it less favorable due to its inability to discriminate between different levels of recovery and a tendency to overestimate function [186]. In contrast, the mRS and GOSE provide

greater precision, with the mRS being more extensively used in cardiac arrest survivors.

The mRS is a brief, clinician-completed, ordinal scale that assesses functional limitations by focusing on restrictions in daily activities and social roles. While it effectively differentiates between mild and moderate disability, it does not capture specific residual impairments or distinguish whether disability results from neurological or non-neurological causes [187]. Recognizing its advantages, the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation recommended in 2018 that the mRS be used for measuring functional recovery after cardiac arrest, citing its better discrimination between mild and moderate disability and its substantial interrater reliability [183]. However, despite this recommendation, many studies still rely on the CPC scale.

For clarity and statistical purposes, studies often dichotomize outcomes as 'good' or 'poor', though there is no universal consensus on what constitutes a poor neurological outcome. A systematic review found that 96% of studies on neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest define poor outcomes as CPC 3–5, while only 4% use CPC 4–5 [188]. When using the mRS, outcomes are commonly dichotomized into binary categories to facilitate interpretation and analysis. A common approach, derived largely from stroke trials, defines mRS 0–2 as a good outcome (indicating functional independence) and mRS 3–6 as a poor outcome. However, in the context of cardiac arrest, many studies have adopted a broader definition, classifying mRS 0–3 as a good outcome to reflect the realistic recovery trajectory in this population, where moderate disability may still represent a meaningful and acceptable quality of life [189]. This approach aligns with functional and clinical relevance while reducing the risk of underestimating the benefits of interventions in more severely affected patients.

For a detailed comparison of the CPC and mRS scoring systems, see Table 4.

Table 4.

Cerebral	Cerebral performance cathegory (CPC)				
CPC 1	Normal (good cerebral performance)	Conscious, alert, able to work and lead a normal life. May have minor psychologic or neurologic deficits			
CPC 2	Moderate disability (disabled but independent)	Conscious, with sufficient cerebral function for part-time work in sheltered environment and independent activities of daily life. May have hemiplegia, seizures, ataxia, dysarthria, dysphasia, or permanent memory or mental changes			
CPC 3	Severe disability (conscious but disabled and dependent)	Conscious, but dependent on others for daily support; has at least limited cognition. This category includes a wide range of neurologic dysfunction, from patients who are ambulatory but have severe memory disturbances or dementia that precludes independent existence to those who are paralyzed and can communicate only with their eyes (as in the locked- in syndrome).			
CPC 4	Unconscious (coma or vegetative state)	Unconscious, unaware of surroundings, no cognition; no verbal or psychologic interaction with environment			
CPC 5	Brain death	Meeting criteria for brain death or dead by traditional criteria			
Modified Rankin Scale (mRS)					
mRS 0	No symptoms at all				
mRS 1	No significant disability despite symptoms	Able to carry out all usual duties and activities			
mRS 2	Slight disability	Unable to carry out all previous activities, but able to look after own affairs without assistance			
mRS 3	Moderate disability	Requiring some help, but able to walk without assistance			
mRS 4	Moderately severe disability	Unable to walk and attend to bodily needs without assistance			
mRS 5	Severe disability	Bedridden, incontinent and requiring constant nursing care and attention			
mRS 6	Dead				

Aims of the thesis

The overall aim of the thesis

To evaluate the sedation and analgesia management during intensive care in patients resuscitated from out of hospital cardiac arrest and investigate the effect on outcomes.

The main aims of each paper are:

Paper I. To evaluate differences in patient-level sedation and analgesia dosing in an international multicenter trial to characterize current practice, differences between and within centers, and its effect on time to awakening, clinical seizures, and survival.

Paper II. To evaluate the sedation and analgesia management in post cardiac arrest care in an international multicenter trial, and its effects on time to awakening, clinical seizures, functional outcome, and survival.

Paper III. To determine the association of hypothermia versus normothermia after out of hospital cardiac arrest with administered cumulative doses of sedatives and analgesic drugs, serum concentrations of these drugs, and the effect on time to awakening.

Paper IV. To investigate the effects of different levels of sedation in critically ill adults with all-cause mortality and neurological outcome and serious adverse events.

Paper V. To design a protocol for a large clinical trial evaluating the effects of continuous deep sedation compared to minimal sedation on patient important outcomes in resuscitated out-of-hospital cardiac arrest patients.

Material and methods

Overview of the methods

Paper	1	П	III	IV	V
Study design	Post hoc analysis of a multicenter randomized clinical trial (TTM-trial)	Post hoc analysis of a multicenter, randomized trial (TTM2- trial)	Multicenter prospective substudy of the randomized clinical trial (TTM2-trial)	Systematic review and meta- analyses and trial sequential analysis	Protocol for the multifactorial randomized clinical trial; SED-CARE
Study sample	614 patients	1861 patients	71 patients	4352 patients	Sample size calculated to 3500 patients
Study period	2010-2013	2017-2020	2018-2020	Until June 2024	2024-ongoing
Method	Sedation and analgesia dosing at 12, 24, and 48 hours in unconscious adult OHCA patients with presumed cardiac cause	Sedation and analgesia dosing at 72 hours in unconscious adult OHCA patients	Serum concentrations and dosing of sedation and analgesia at 40 and 72 hours in unconscious adult OHCA patients	Randomized clinical trials investigating sedation depth in critically ill adults	
Data analyses	Analysis of variance. Multivariate hierarchical linear regression model. R- squared and likelihood ratio testing.	Chi-square analyses. Multiple logistic regression model.	Kaplan-Meier estimate and log rank test. Multiple linear regression model.	Meta- analyses and trial sequential analyses	
Ethical approval	Ethical approval by Regional Ethical Review Board Lund, Protocol 2009/6 Dnr 2009/324	Ethical approval by Lund University in 2015 (Dnr 2015/228)	Ethical approval by Lund University in 2015 and 2017 (Dnr 2015/228 and 2017/36)	N/A	Ethical approval by Swedish Ethical Review Authority (Dnr 2022-02425-01) and (Dnr 2023- 00198-02)

Paper I

Study design and overview of the TTM-trial

This study is a post-hoc analysis based on the TTM-trial, an international, multicenter, randomized, parallel-group study conducted from 2010 to 2013. The TTM-trial aimed to compare survival and neurological outcomes at six months in comatose survivors of OHCA randomized to TTM at either 33°C or 36°C. A total of 950 adult patients were randomized to either group, with modified intention-to-treat groups comprising 473 patients at 33°C and 476 at 36°C.

This post-hoc analysis focuses on sedation and analgesia practices during TTM and their potential associations with clinically relevant outcomes. This study retrospectively examines sedation and analgesia dosing, its variability across centers, and its impact on awakening, seizure occurrence, and six-month survival.

Randomization and ethical considerations

The TTM-trial utilized a 1:1 randomization strategy, stratified by center and conducted via a web-based application. Participating centers were required to be high-volume ICUs with treatment capabilities, including percutaneous coronary intervention and standardized TTM protocols. Ethical approval was obtained from local ethics boards in all participating countries and the Regional Ethical Review Board at Lund University. Surviving patients provided informed consent, while next of kin were informed about study inclusion during initial hospital contact. Additionally, interim analyses were conducted by the data safety monitoring board to ensure participant safety.

Participants

The TTM-trial included adults aged 18 years or older who remained unconscious (Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) <8) after OHCA with sustained ROSC. Exclusion criteria included unwitnessed asystole as the primary rhythm, presumed non-cardiac causes of arrest, ROSC-to-screening time >240 minutes, and refractory hypotension. Other exclusions included pregnancy, bleeding disorders, acute strokes, and pre-arrest limitations in care. For this post-hoc analysis, patients were further excluded if sedation data were missing or if fewer than 10 patients from a center had complete sedation data.

Sedation and analgesia practices

Sedation was mandatory during the 36-hour intervention period, with sedation and analgesia management left at the discretion of the physician and individual centers, which allowed to reflect real-world practice. Sedative drug doses and monitoring practices were retrospectively collected via online questionnaires distributed to trial sites in 2015–2016. Cumulative doses of sedatives and analgesics were reported at 12, 24, and 48 hours and converted to midazolam and fentanyl equivalents to enable comparisons. These timepoints were chosen for practical reasons, as intensive care units typically document data every 12 hours. The use of equivalents allowed for the standardization of dosing practices across different centers and agents.

Neurological management and outcome definitions

Awakening was defined as achieving a GCS motor score of 6, indicative of command obedience, and was assessed daily in the ICU. Seizures were recorded daily, categorized as myoclonic or tonic-clonic, and assessed for duration (less or more than 30 minutes). The TTM-trial applied strict criteria for WLST, ensuring standardized care.

Outcomes

The outcomes for this post-hoc analysis was:

- Time to awakening: Early (days 1–4) versus late (day 5 or later) awakening.
- Clinical seizures: Defined as myoclonic or tonic-clonic seizures occurring during the ICU stay.
- Survival at six months: Assessed as part of the original TTM-trial's follow-up, with outcome assessors blinded to the allocation group for the survival outcome.

Statistical analyses

Cumulative sedative and analgesic doses were collected for each patient at 12, 24, and 48 hours and converted to midazolam- and fentanyl- equivalents and averaged over weight (kilogram) and time (hours). These doses were analyzed for variability in administration patterns, including number of sedatives and analgesics, dose, and titration between timepoints, across centers. Variables included in the multivariate models were selected based on their potential impact on the administration of sedatives and analgesics, aiming to account for factors that might influence dosing decisions and clinical context. Multivariate models were created to assess

associations between sedation and analgesia practices and clinical outcomes, adjusting for baseline patient and cardiac arrest characteristics such as age, sex, shockable rhythm, and time to ROSC.

Hierarchical logistic regression was employed to explore center-level variability and its influence on outcomes. These models compared sedation and analgesia dosing, titration patterns, and clinical outcomes. Additionally, center-specific effects were evaluated using likelihood ratio testing and R-squared values to identify the extent to which institutional protocols influenced observed variability.

Hierarchical logistic regression

Hierarchical logistic regression was used to explore center-level variability and its influence on outcomes. Unlike standard logistic regression, hierarchical logistic regression incorporates a multi-level structure in the data, allowing for the inclusion of nested variables. In this study, patients are nested within centers, and the model accounts for this clustering to better capture the influence of center-specific practices. This approach is particularly beneficial in multi-center studies, where center-level effects, such as institutional protocols, staffing, and resource availability, may systematically affect outcomes. By including random effects for centers, hierarchical models estimate variability at both the patient and center levels, providing more nuanced insights compared to traditional logistic regression, which assumes independence of observations.

Likelihood ratio testing

Likelihood ratio testing was used to evaluate the significance of center-specific effects in the models. This statistical test compares the goodness-of-fit between two nested models: one with and one without the center-level random effects. A significant likelihood ratio test indicates that the inclusion of center-specific random effects improves model fit, suggesting that institutional variability plays a significant role in sedation and analgesia practices on outcomes. This method is particularly valuable in determining whether center-level differences warrant further investigation or whether they can be disregarded.

R-squared values

 R^2 values were employed to quantify the proportion of variance in outcomes explained by the models, providing a measure of model performance. In hierarchical models, different forms of R^2 values, such as marginal (accounting for fixed effects only) and conditional (accounting for both fixed and random effects), were used to assess the contribution of center-specific factors. Comparing these values allows for an understanding of how much variability is attributable to the center effect.

The TTM2-trial: Paper II and III

The TTM2-trial was a large, international, multicenter, investigator-initiated, openlabel randomized clinical trial designed to compare the effects of two temperature management strategies, targeted hypothermia (33°C) and targeted normothermia (<37.8°C), on survival and neurological outcomes in unconscious patients after OHCA. Conducted between November 2017 and January 2020, the trial enrolled 1900 adult patients across 61 sites in 14 countries.

Patients

The inclusion criteria were chosen to maximize clinical relevance and applicability while focusing on patients likely to benefit from TTM. Eligible patients were unconscious adults (>18 years) who achieved sustained ROSC after OHCA and were eligible for intensive care. The randomization window was 180 min after ROSC. The exclusion criteria, such as unwitnessed arrests with asystole, were implemented to avoid confounding such as conditions with extremely poor prognoses. Other exclusion criteria include admission temperature below 30°C pre-ROSC, ECMO, pregnancy, intracranial bleeding, and severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease requiring home oxygen therapy.

Ethics

The TTM2-trial was conducted in compliance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the relevant ethics committees in each participating country. Written informed consent was obtained from a legal surrogate or deferred in accordance with local regulations until the patient regained mental capacity. The trial included two prespecified blinded interim analyses by an independent data and safety monitoring board and was monitored according to GCP. The study protocol was registered at ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT02908308) and was monitored by an independent data and safety monitoring committee.

Patient management

Intervention and post-intervention periods

Participants were randomized 1:1 to targeted hypothermia (33°C) or targeted normothermia (<37.8°C). In the hypothermia arm, cooling was initiated immediately using surface or intravascular devices and maintained for 28 hours,

followed by controlled rewarming to 37° C over 12 hours. In the normothermia group, fever (>37.8°C) was managed with cooling devices and the target was to keep the temperature below 37.5° C. If the temperature reached 37.8° C, cooling was initiated to maintain 37.5° C. These approaches allowed for a pragmatic comparison of active cooling versus fever prevention, with mechanical ventilation and deep sedation targeted in both groups to control discomfort and minimize variability between groups.

In both intervention groups, extubation was attempted as soon as possible based on standard ICU protocols. For participants who remained comatose or sedated at 40 hours after randomization, temperature was maintained within the normal range to avoid fever (>37.8°C) until 72 hours post-randomization. Use of temperature management devices during this period was at the discretion of the treating physician. Neurological evaluation was performed after at least 96 hours by a physician blinded to group allocation.

Beyond temperature management and WLST criteria, the TTM2-trial protocol did not mandate specific monitoring or therapy beyond standard care. Instead, general ICU management followed international and local guidelines to reflect real-world clinical practices. This pragmatic approach balanced trial protocolization with flexibility to account for varying local practices.

Neurological prognostication and WLST

A strict protocol for neurological prognostication was integral to the TTM2-trial to mitigate potential bias due to the open-label nature of the study. Prognostication was mandatory for all participants remaining in the ICU at 96 hours post-randomization, aligning with European Resuscitation Council and European Society for Intensive Care Medicine recommendations [45]. A neurologist, intensivist, or other experienced specialist, blinded to group allocation, conducted the prognostication to determine if a patient met the criteria for a likely poor neurological outcome. This result was recorded and communicated to the treating physician. Decisions regarding WLST were made by treating physicians in consultation with relatives or legal surrogates, as required by local legislation. For participants undergoing neurological prognostication, data were collected on when sedation was discontinued.

General intensive care

General ICU care was planned to be consistent across both trial groups according to local standardized care plans, managed by treating physicians. Key elements included fluid therapy, hemodynamic support, respiratory management, metabolic disturbance correction, and seizure management, all following local protocols. Cardiac interventions were guided by local protocols, ensuring around-the-clock invasive management availability.

Sedation

Sedation was mandatory during the 40-hour intervention period to ensure patient comfort, control shivering, and standardize conditions for both groups. Deep sedation (RASS -4/-5) was targeted, and while a specific sedation protocol was not mandated, the use of short-acting drugs or volatile anesthetics was recommended. This minimized differences in sedation management between the hypothermia and normothermia groups, reducing potential confounding and ensuring that the groups were managed equivalently to better isolate the effects of the intervention. Beyond 40 hours, sedation was tapered or discontinued based on the patient's clinical state, as prolonged sedation was discouraged in line with international guidelines.

Cumulative dosing of sedatives and analgesics up to 72 hours post-randomization was prospectively recorded, including midazolam, propofol, dexmedetomidine, clonidine, esketamine, ketamine, fentanyl, morphine, remifentanil, and oxycodone. Management of shivering was guided by the Bedside Shivering Assessment Scale (BSAS) (See Table 5), with treatments such as acetaminophen or local standard regimens. If necessary, sedation was increased, or neuromuscular blockade (NMB) agents were administered to maintain a BSAS score of 0–1.

Bedside Shivering Assessment Scale (BSAS)				
BSAS	Classification	Description		
0	None	No shivering		
1	Mild	Shivering localized to neck/thorax, may be seen only as artifact on ECG or felt by palpation		
2	Moderate	Intermittent involvement of the upper extremities +/- thorax		
3	Severe	Generalized shivering or sustained upper/lower extremity shivering		

 Table 5. Bedside Shivering Assessment Scale.

Outcomes and follow-up

The primary outcome of the TTM2-trial was six-month mortality. Secondary outcomes included poor functional outcome (mRS 4–6) at six and 24 months. Follow-up assessments began 30 days after cardiac arrest, conducted either face-to-face or via telephone using the mRS scale. Follow-ups at six and 24 months involved clinic visits, where trained and blinded assessors evaluated cognitive function, quality of life, return to work, and cardiovascular risk factors. Assessors underwent rigorous training and adhered to detailed protocol to ensure consistency and accuracy.

Paper II

Objectives

This study aimed to evaluate the sedation and analgesia management in post cardiac arrest care in an international multicenter trial. Additionally, this study aimed to investigate the effect of sedatives and analgesics on outcomes and analyzed clinical factors and severity of illness factors influencing the sedation administration. We hypothesize that there is an association between higher doses of sedatives and analgesics and long-term good functional outcome and survival, and occurrence of clinical seizures, and late awakening.

Study design and population

Paper II was a post hoc analysis of the TTM2-trial, designed to explore associations between sedation and analgesia practices during post-cardiac arrest care and their impact on clinical outcomes, including survival, neurological function, clinical seizures, and late awakening. The analysis included data from 1861 patients from 61 centers across 14 countries enrolled in the TTM2-trial. This broad cohort ensured a high degree of generalizability while reflecting real-world variability in sedation practices across international centers.

The decision to perform a post hoc analysis allowed for a focused investigation into how sedation and analgesia practices influenced outcomes within the structured framework of the TTM2-trial. While the observational nature of this analysis precluded causal inferences, the randomized design of the TTM2-trial mitigated some biases, such as confounding by treatment group allocation. This approach provided valuable insights into clinical practices and outcomes, despite not being primary endpoints of the TTM2-trial.

Subgroup analyses: Comatose patients at 96 hours without clinical seizures

Patients comatose at 96 hours without clinical seizures were included in this subgroup, as the comatose at 96 hours and thus subjects to neurological prognostication they are the population most likely to benefit from optimized sedation strategies. Patients with clinical seizures were excluded, as their presence could significantly impact sedation management and confound the analysis. For the patients who underwent neurological prognostication, the time of sedation discontinuation was recorded, allowing for calculation of the duration of sedation and the average dose of sedatives and analgesics as dose per kilogram per hour.

Data collection and outcome measures

Data on sedation and analgesia practices with total doses up to 72 hours, shivering management, and the use of NMB, and neurological prognostication were collected, according to the main TTM2-trial. Sedative doses were categorized into quartiles to facilitate dose-response analyses, and their associations with outcomes were explored using multivariable regression models. Potential confounders, including age, sex, baseline neurological status, severity markers, and clinical events such as clinical seizures were adjusted for in the multivariable regression model.

The primary outcomes analyzed in were survival and good neurological function at six months, defined as a modified Rankin Scale (mRS) score of 0-3. Secondary outcomes included time to awakening, the occurrence of clinical seizures. Subgroup analyses were performed similarly to investigate the role of sedation in patients without clinical seizures who remained comatose at 96 hours.

Statistical analyses

Cumulative doses of sedatives and analgesics were adjusted for body weight and expressed as milligrams (mg) or micrograms (mcg) per kilogram, as appropriate. Continuous variables were summarized as medians with interquartile ranges (IQR) or means with standard deviations (SD), while categorical variables were reported as percentages. To explore dose-response relationships for propofol, doses were categorized into quartiles due to observed non-linearity, whereas the administration of midazolam, fentanyl, and remifentanil was treated as binary variables.

Propofol doses were analyzed using chi-square statistics applied to test associations with clinical outcomes, including good functional outcome (mRS 0–3) and survival at 6 months, as well as the occurrence of clinical seizures and late awakening. Additionally, the associations between propofol quartiles, midazolam, fentanyl, and remifentanil use and these outcomes were further assessed in multivariable logistic regression models. The models were adjusted for potential confounders, such as age, sex, witnessed arrest, shockable rhythm, time to ROSC, shock on admission, body mass index, TTM level, shivering, and the administration of NMB agents. Markers of illness severity, including lowest glomerular filtration rate and highest bilirubin levels, were also included to account for potential confounding factors influencing sedative administration. To compare sedative and analgesic doses in hypothermia versus normothermia groups, Wilcoxon rank-sum or Wilcoxon rank-sum exact tests were used for continuous variables, while Pearson's chi-square test was applied for categorical variables.

Paper III

Objectives

Paper III focused on investigating the association between the two TTM strategies and the serum concentrations of sedatives and analgesics, as well as the time to awakening after OHCA.

Patients

This substudy included 71 patients who survived the initial 40-hour intervention period and were treated at three Swedish TTM2-trial centers. This selection minimized confounding from early mortality or deviations from the trial protocol but may limit the generalizability to patients with poorer prognoses.

Intervention and sedation management

Deep sedation was mandatory during the 40-hour intervention period. Short-acting agents, such as propofol and remifentanil, were recommended to facilitate rapid neurological assessments after the intervention. While this standardized approach ensured comparability within the three included centers, it may not reflect variability in sedation practices across centers or regions. Cumulative doses of sedative and analgesic drugs, including midazolam, propofol, dexmedetomidine, clonidine, esketamine, ketamine, fentanyl, morphine, remifentanil, and oxycodone, were recorded from 0–40 (end of intervention) and 40–72 (end of targeted normothermia) hours post-randomization.

Seizure management

Local protocol (3 sites: Malmö, Helsingborg, and Lund) stated that all epileptic seizures, whether clinical and/or electrographic, mandated treatment with an antiepileptic drug (AED). Hence, the time (day and hour) of initiated treatment with AED was registered and used as a marker of epileptic seizure activity in this study. The first choice of drug was valproic acid or levetiracetam, while second-line drugs included phenytoin, fosphenytoin, diazepam, clonazepam, lorazepam, topiramate, phenobarbital, or lacosamide at the discretion of the treating physician.

Serum sampling and analysis

Blood samples were collected at two critical time points: at the end of the intervention period (40 hours post-randomization) and at the end of fever prevention period (72 hours post-randomization). Samples were drawn into EDTA tubes to prevent coagulation and were promptly transported to the hospital's laboratory services. There, the samples were centrifuged to separate the serum and subsequently frozen at -20°C to preserve the stability of the analytes.

Analysis was performed at the Department of Forensic Chemistry, The National Board of Forensic Medicine, University of Linköping, Sweden. To ensure the integrity of the samples during transport to Linköping, Sweden, they were transported under temperature-controlled conditions. Analyses were conducted using liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry and gas chromatography–mass spectrometry, a validated method specifically adapted for use in critically ill patients. This methodology allowed for precise quantification of sedatives and analgesics, including propofol, midazolam, clonidine, dexmedetomidine, morphine, and fentanyl, even at low concentrations. Remifentanil was excluded due to its rapid metabolism.

The liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry technique was crucial for its high sensitivity and specificity, ensuring reliable measurements in a patient cohort with complex pharmacokinetics due to critical illness [190]. To further ensure reliability, sample analyses were batched and processed every four months, minimizing the risk of degradation, and ensuring consistency across the study period.

Outcomes

The primary outcomes, cumulative dosing, serum concentrations, and time to awakening, were chosen to link sedation strategies with clinical outcomes. Time to awakening was a particularly relevant outcome for evaluating neurological recovery, but this measure was influenced by patient-specific factors such as baseline brain injury and metabolic status. The time (day and hour) of sedation discontinuation and time to awakening were also documented. Consciousness was defined as Full outline of unresponsiveness (FOUR) score motor component of four (obeying commands).

Statistical analyses

Continuous data were summarized using the median and IQR to account for nonnormal distributions, and comparisons between groups were conducted using the Wilcoxon rank-sum test or Wilcoxon rank rum exact test. Categorical variable reported using percentages and significance was tested using Pearson's Chi-square test to evaluate differences in proportions. To examine the probability of awakening from sedation discontinuation up to 180 days post-randomization, Kaplan-Meier survival estimates were utilized, and the log-rank test was applied to compare survival distributions between groups. Sensitivity analyses were performed within subgroups of patients receiving midazolam and those without midazolam to assess the differential impact of long-acting versus short-acting sedatives, enhancing the robustness of the findings.

The association between propofol concentrations at 40 and 72 hours and TTM levels was evaluated using linear regression to identify potential effects. To control for confounding and account for illness severity, additional variables including age, sex, body mass index, peak neuron-specific enolase, peak bilirubin, and propofol dose at 40 and 72 hours were added to the models to adjust for severity of illness. The relationship between propofol dose and the occurrence of shivering or seizures was also explored using linear regression. Furthermore, differences in midazolam doses at 40 and 72 hours between patients with and without seizures were analyzed using the Wilcoxon rank-sum test. The application of these statistical methods ensures a comprehensive analysis while addressing potential biases and limitations related to non-normality, confounding factors, and the impact of sedative pharmacokinetics on patient outcomes.

Paper IV

Systematic review and meta-analysis

Systematic reviews and meta-analyses are essential tools in evidence-based medicine, providing a comprehensive synthesis of existing research. A systematic review involves a structured, transparent, and replicable process for identifying and synthesizing all relevant studies on a specific topic, ensuring methodological rigor, and minimizing bias. This replicable approach enhances reliability, allows for independent verification, and facilitates the consistent application of findings in clinical practice. By pooling data from multiple studies, these methodologies increase the statistical power to detect treatment effects and offer more precise estimates of intervention efficacy and safety. Thus, offer the potential to decrease the number of false-negative results and prevent delays in the introduction of effective interventions into clinical practice [191]. This approach helps address discrepancies between individual studies, providing a higher level of evidence and identifying trends and patterns that might not be evident in single studies. In the context of sedation in critically ill patients, a systematic review with meta-analysis can elucidate the comparative benefits and harms of different sedation strategies, thereby informing clinical guidelines and improving patient care.

Rationale for trial sequential analysis

Trial sequential analysis (TSA) is a statistical method used in cumulative metaanalyses to address random errors from repeated significance testing in accumulating data [192-194]. It applies principles from interim analyses in clinical trials, establishing futility and efficacy boundaries to indicate when sufficient evidence has been reached [195]. Futility boundaries show when further studies are unlikely to change conclusions, while efficacy boundaries confirm when evidence is robust enough to support an effect or if further research was warranted. TSA also calculates the required information size, similar to sample size calculations in single trials, to ensure adequate statistical power [193, 194]. By accounting for diversity among studies, TSA reduces the risks of type I (false positive) and type II (false negative) errors, making results more reliable [193, 194]. In the context of sedation strategies for critically ill or cardiac arrest patients, TSA helps determine when evidence is strong enough to guide clinical decisions, preventing unnecessary research and promoting timely, evidence-based care.

Methodological approach

Conducting a systematic review and meta-analysis requires adherence to a welldefined protocol and rigorous methodology to ensure transparency and objectivity [191]. For this study, a protocol was developed and followed, however not included in this thesis. The process begins with a comprehensive literature search using an extensive strategy across multiple databases and clinical trial registries to identify all relevant RCTs comparing varying degrees of sedation in critically ill adults. Predefined inclusion and exclusion criteria were applied to ensure consistency in study selection, and independent data extraction by multiple reviewers minimized errors and ensured accuracy.

Pooling treatment effects across trials is a critical step in meta-analysis, requiring careful exploration and management of heterogeneity arising from differences in study populations, interventions, and outcome measures [191]. This review acknowledged potential challenges, including statistical and clinical heterogeneity due to the diversity of sedative drugs and patient populations. Beyond addressing heterogeneity, the quality of included studies was critically assessed using the Cochrane Risk of Bias Tool 2 (Rob2), while the overall certainty of evidence was evaluated with the GRADE (Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation) approach, providing a structured framework for evaluating evidence quality and strength of recommendations. These tools, internationally recognized for their rigor and ensure a systematic and transparent evaluation of the evidence.

Objectives

This systematic review with meta-analysis and TSA aimed to assess the current evidence on the effects of different levels of sedation on outcomes in critically ill adult patients to provide evidence of the optimal sedation strategies, evaluating the therapeutic benefits against potential adverse effects, to provide robust evidence for guiding clinical practice.

Data sources and search strategy

A systematic literature search was conducted across the following databases: CENTRAL, MEDLINE, Embase, LILACS, and Web of Science. The search covered all available records up to June 13, 2023. Specific search terms included "sedation OR hypnotics" AND "critically ill OR critical care OR intensive care" AND "adult" AND "meta-analyses". Additional manual searches of reference lists of relevant articles and conference proceedings were performed to ensure a comprehensive inclusion of studies.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

- RCTs involving critically ill adults (18 years of age or older) admitted to intensive care units.
- Studies comparing different levels of sedation (e.g., lighter versus deeper sedation or no sedation vs sedation).

Studies were not eligible if no separation of targeted sedation depth could be identified.

Data extraction and management

Data were independently extracted by two reviewers using a standardized extraction form. Discrepancies were resolved through discussion or consultation with a third reviewer. Extracted data included:

- Study characteristics (e.g., authors, publication year, study design).
- Participant characteristics (e.g., sample size, demographics).
- Intervention details (e.g., sedation levels, duration).
- Outcomes (e.g., mortality, adverse events).

Risk of bias assessment

The risk of bias for each included study was assessed using the Cochrane Rob2 to evaluate the potential for bias in the following domains: random sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding of participants and personnel, blinding of outcome assessment, incomplete outcome data, selective reporting, and other sources of bias.

Data synthesis and analysis

Aggregate data were synthesized using meta-analysis techniques to estimate pooled effect sizes. Risk ratios (RR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated for dichotomous outcomes. Both random- and fixed-effects model was reported and the model with the highest p-value were used to account for potential heterogeneity among studies.

Trial sequential analysis

TSA was employed to reduce the risk of random errors due to repetitive testing of accumulating data. TSA calculates the required information size (i.e., the sample

size needed to confirm or refute the anticipated intervention effect) and constructs monitoring boundaries to determine whether the cumulative evidence is sufficient and conclusive, while controlling for type I and type II errors.

Compared to other statistical methods, TSA has several advantages. Bayesian Meta-Analysis dynamically updates probability distributions based on prior knowledge, offering a flexible approach but introducing potential subjectivity due to reliance on prior distributions. Cumulative Meta-Analysis, which updates effect estimates as new studies are included, lacks control for repeated significance testing, increasing the likelihood of false positive results. The Sequential Probability Ratio Test is useful for making interim decisions in clinical trials but does not adjust for heterogeneity in meta-analyses, limiting its applicability to systematic reviews. Thus, TSA is superior these methods by adjusting for heterogeneity and multiple testing, enhancing the reliability of systematic reviews and meta-analyses.

Certainty of evidence

The GRADE approach was used to assess the certainty of evidence. This approach considers the risk of bias, inconsistency, indirectness, imprecision, and publication bias.

Ethical considerations

As this study involved the synthesis of previously published data, ethical approval was not required. However, the study adhered to ethical principles in the conduct of research and reporting of results.

Registration

This systematic review and meta-analysis and TSA were registered with the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO: CRD42023386960).

Paper V

Study design

This study, the Sedation after Cardiac arrest and Resuscitation trial (SED-CARE) trial, is a robust randomized, international, multicenter, parallel-group trial designed to evaluate the effects of continuous deep sedation versus minimal sedation on clinical outcomes in patients who are comatose following OHCA. The SED-CARE trial is part of the larger Sedation, Temperature, and Pressure after Cardiac Arrest and Resuscitation trial (STEPCARE) factorial trial, which includes additional interventions related to blood pressure and temperature management. This design allows for simultaneous exploration of multiple critical interventions in post-cardiac arrest care, utilizing collective resources and facilitating the simultaneous evaluation of multiple intervention while maintaining the independence of each study arm.

The trial methodology adheres to established guidelines, including the *Standard Protocol Items: Recommendations for Interventional Trials* protocol for study design and *The Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials* reporting standards for randomized clinical trials. These frameworks ensure a comprehensive, transparent, and replicable study process. By embedding SED-CARE within the broader STEPCARE trial, the study benefits from the collaboration and expertise of a diverse, international network of researchers and clinicians, further enhancing its relevance and generalizability.

Participants and inclusion criteria

The study includes adult patients (\geq 18 years) who suffer from OHCA and achieve sustained ROSC, defined as a period of at least 20 minutes during which spontaneous circulation is maintained without the need for chest compressions. Eligible patients must remain unconscious after ROSC, as indicated by an inability to obey verbal commands (FOUR motor score < 4) or require sedation due to agitation. Exclusion criteria are applied to avoid confounding factors and are trauma or hemorrhage as the presumed cause of arrest, pregnancy, suspected or confirmed intracranial hemorrhage, prior participation in the STEPCARE trial, or the use of ECMO before randomization.

The inclusion window for enrolment is intentionally narrow (4 hours after ROSC) to align with the critical early stages of post-resuscitation care, when interventions are most likely to influence outcomes. This timeframe balances the urgency of initiating interventions with the practicalities of patient screening and randomization.

Randomization and blinding

To maintain the scientific rigor of the trial, a web-based randomization platform ensures concealed allocation using stratified permuted blocks by trial site. Stratification by trial site accounts for potential variations in practice patterns across participating centers.

While blinding the clinical team responsible for patient care is impractical due to the nature of sedation interventions, extensive measures are in place to mitigate bias. For instance, outcome assessors, statisticians, and members of the steering committee are blinded to treatment allocation. This ensures that data interpretation and final analyses remain unbiased. Allocation codes are retained securely and will only be revealed after all analyses are complete, further maintaining the integrity of the study.

Interventions

The two intervention groups represent distinct strategies to post-resuscitation sedation management.

Continuous deep sedation group

Patients randomized to this group receive continuous intravenous infusion of shortacting sedatives, such as propofol, to achieve a RASS score of -4/-5. The clinical team assesses the sedation level according to RASS every fourth hour. This level corresponds to deep sedation, where patients are unresponsive to voice stimuli. Sedation is maintained for 36 hours after randomization, with adjustments made as needed to sustain the target depth. After the intervention period, sedation practices revert to the discretion of the treating physician.

Minimal sedation group

In this group, sedative use is minimized, with a target RASS score of 0 to -2. This approach prioritizes early reduction or discontinuation of sedatives, ideally within 6 hours of randomization. Pain management is emphasized to ensure patient comfort, employing multimodal strategies such as acetaminophen and opioids. Sedatives are reserved only for cases where clinical safety or comfort cannot be achieved otherwise. This strategy encourages earlier awakening, potentially allowing more accurate neurological prognostication and faster progression toward extubation and ICU discharge.

Outcome measures

The primary outcome of the trial is all-cause mortality at six months postrandomization. This outcome was selected for its objectivity and clinical relevance, as it captures the ultimate impact of the intervention on patient survival. The timing was chosen as it captures both early and longer-term survival outcomes, reflecting the intervention's impact beyond the acute phase of care. Six months is also a widely accepted timeframe in cardiac arrest research, providing sufficient time for neurological recovery and stabilization of outcomes, while avoiding confounding from other health or unrelated events that may emerge with longer follow-up periods. Moreover, it aligns with recommendations from core outcome sets like COSCA, ensuring comparability with other studies in the field.

Secondary outcomes provide a broader perspective on the intervention's effects and include:

- Functional outcomes assessed using the modified Rankin Scale (mRS), dichotomized into favorable (mRS 0-3) and poor (mRS 4-6) outcomes.
- Serious adverse events occurring during the ICU stay, such as sepsis, arrhythmias requiring intervention, venous thromboembolism, and significant bleeding.
- Patient-reported quality of life measured using the EQ-5D-5L visual analog scale at 6 months follow-up.

Exploratory analyses will assess ventilator- and hospital-free days and time-to-event outcomes.

These outcomes ensure a comprehensive evaluation, capturing not only survival but also the quality and functionality of that survival.

Sample size and statistical analysis

The trial's sample size of 3,500 participants reflects a rigorous calculation designed to detect an absolute risk reduction of 5.6% in six-month mortality. This corresponds to a clinically meaningful relative risk reduction of 9.3%. The calculation assumes 60% mortality in the control group, consistent with prior cardiac arrest trials, and incorporates allowances for potential loss to follow-up and minor factorial interactions.

Statistical analyses will follow an intention-to-treat approach, preserving the benefits of randomization and providing a real-world assessment of the intervention's effectiveness. We will analyze dichotomous outcomes using mixed effects generalized linear models using a log-link function with 'site' as a random intercept using an exchangeable covariance matrix, and we will include the allocated intervention in the two other trials as fixed effects. Continuous outcomes will be

assessed using mixed effects linear regression, similarly incorporating 'site' as a random intercept with an exchangeable covariance matrix and adjusting for the allocated interventions from the other trials. Sensitivity analyses will explore potential variations in treatment effects across key demographic and clinical variables.

Data collection and management

Detailed patient data will be collected through standardized electronic case report forms, ensuring consistency and accuracy across sites. Data points include sedation depth and medication dosages (every fourth hours during intervention and at 72 hours after randomization), physiological parameters, and clinical outcomes. To ensure data quality, site personnel receive training and support from the coordinating team, which oversees data management and monitors adherence to the protocol.

Ethical considerations

Given the urgency of the intervention, a delayed consent process is employed. Patients unable to provide informed consent upon enrolment will have consent obtained from their legal representatives. For patients who regain decision-making capacity, informed consent is sought retrospectively. Data from deceased participants will also be utilized and is included in the ethical approval, to ensure comprehensive analysis and avoid survival bias. The consent process will vary from site to site and will align with local ethical approvals, national laws, and the Declaration of Helsinki [196].

Monitoring and interim analysis

The Data and Safety Monitoring Committee (DSMC) plays a critical role in overseeing participant safety and trial integrity. Interim analyses are conducted after the first 500 participants have been included, assessing safety, efficacy, and potential interactions between trial interventions. The DSMC has the authority to recommend further interim analyses, modifications, or discontinuation of the trial based on predefined stopping criteria or emerging evidence from other studies.

Results

Detailed descriptions of the results are available in the separate papers (see attachments)

Paper I

Study population and participating centers

The study included 614 patients from 18 centers. Of these, 163 patients (26%) were treated in a cardiac ICU at a single center, while the remaining 451 patients (74%) were treated in mixed ICUs across the other 17 centers.

Assessment tools for sedation and analgesia

RASS was the primary tool used to assess sedation, implemented in 15 centers, and including 533 patients (87%). The Critical Care Pain Observation Tool was used in one center for 29 patients (4%).

Administration of sedatives and analgesics

Most patients (99%) received sedatives at all time points assessed (12-, 24-, and 48hours after randomization). Analgesics were administered to 85% of patients at 12 hours, 86% at 24 hours, and 83% at 48 hours. Significant inter-center variability in the number of sedatives and analgesics administered was observed at all time points (p < 0.01, chi-square test), see Figure 2. These differences remained statistically significant after adjusting for age, sex, time to ROSC, bystander CPR, shockable rhythm, and shock on admission (p < 0.001).





Figure 2. Illustrating the range of average doses of fentanyl (yellow) and midazolam (red) equivalents administered to patients in each center at 12-, 24-, and 48- hours of treatment.

Dosage and titration of sedatives and analgesics

Models incorporating the center effect demonstrated significantly improved performance for sedation and analgesia dosing predictions at all time points (p < 0.001). Including the center effect increased the R² values for sedation and analgesia models from less than 10% to approximately 50%.

Significant differences in the titration of fentanyl dosage were observed between 12 and 24 hours (p = 0.04) and 24 and 48 hours (p < 0.001). Importantly, a decrease in fentanyl dosage between 24 and 48 hours was associated with improved six-month survival (p = 0.048).

Awakening

Of the 364 patients alive at the end of the study, 342 had a registered awakening time. Early awakening was rare, with only 4 patients (0.7%) awake on the first day and 20 patients (3.3%) awake on the second day. Late awakening was associated with higher average fentanyl dosage at 48 hours, a relationship that was significant both with (p = 0.002) and without (p = 0.003) the inclusion of the center effect. Additionally, an increase in fentanyl titration between 24 and 48 hours was

associated with late awakening (p = 0.04 without center effect, p = 0.005 with center effect). Similarly, increased midazolam titration during the same period was strongly associated with late awakening (p < 0.001 in both models).

Clinical seizures

An increase in midazolam equivalent dosing between 24- and 48- hours was significantly associated with clinical seizures (p = 0.04).

Survival

There were significant associations between decreased titration of analgesics and survival at 6 months (p = 0.048).

Model adjustments and robustness of findings

These findings remained consistent across models that adjusted for clinically relevant variables, including age, sex, time to ROSC, bystander CPR, shockable rhythm, shock on admission, target temperature, and center effect.

Paper II

Patient population, clinical characteristics, and outcomes

The study included 1861 patients, with a majority being male (79.4%) and a mean age of 63.8 years (SD \pm 13.6). Most patients experienced an initial shockable rhythm (73.7%) and received bystander cardiopulmonary resuscitation (79.9%). The mean time to ROSC was 30.7 minutes (SD \pm 20.1). Among clinical outcomes, 47% of patients achieved a good neurological recovery (mRS 0-3) at six months, and 51% survived to 6 months. Clinical seizures occurred in 25% of patients during their intensive care unit stay, and the median time to awakening was 2.5 days (IQR 1.8-4.4). Patients in the hypothermia group had a significantly higher use of NMB (66% vs. 45%, p < 0.001) compared to the normothermia group, though other sedation and analgesia practices were similar across groups.

Sedation and analgesia practices

Propofol was the most commonly administered sedative, given to 86% of patients within the first 72 hours. Midazolam was used in 36%, fentanyl in 50%, and remifentanil in 33% of the cohort. The cumulative doses of sedatives and analgesics did not significantly differ between the hypothermia and normothermia groups, but NMB was more frequently administered in the hypothermia group (66% vs. 45%, p < 0.001).

Dose-dependent effects of sedatives on outcomes

Initial analyses using chi-square analyses demonstrated significant associations between propofol dose and clinical outcomes. These analyses indicated that higher total doses of propofol were significantly associated with good neurological recovery (p < 0.01), 6-month survival (p = 0.001), clinical seizures (p < 0.001), and late awakening (p < 0.001). These findings established the foundation for further analysis of dose-response relationship. Subsequent demonstrated of propofol dose quartiles showed nuanced association with outcomes:

- Good neurological outcomes (mRS 0-3 at 6 months) were associated with moderate propofol doses (100.7-153.6 mg/kg), with an odds ratio (OR) of 1.62 (95% CI 1.12-2.35).
- Survival was associated with low and moderate propofol doses (0.01-100.6 mg/kg) with an OR of 1.49 (95%CI 1.05 2.12) and OR 1.83 (95% CI 1.27-2.65), respectively.
- Clinical seizures were associated with low, moderate, and high propofol doses (0.01-669.4 mg/kg) with OR of 1.53 (95%CI 1.06 2.2), OR 1.56 (95% CI 1.06-2.29), and OR 2.82 (95% CI 1.95-4.11), respectively.
- Late awakening was significantly associated with high propofol doses (153.7-669.4 mg/kg), (OR 3.19, 95% CI 1.91-5.42).

Effects of analgesics on outcomes

Fentanyl and remifentanil, both short-acting analgesics, were associated with better outcomes:

- Fentanyl use was associated with good neurological outcomes (OR 1.69, 95% CI 1.27-2.26) and survival (OR 1.80, 95% CI 1.35-2.40).
- Remifentanil showed similar positive associations for neurological outcomes (OR 1.50, 95% CI 1.11-2.02) and survival (OR 1.56, 95% CI 1.16-2.10).

Effects of midazolam on outcomes

• The use of midazolam was positively associated with clinical seizures (OR 1.99, 95% CI 1.52-2.61) and late awakening (OR 1.98, 95% CI 1.38-2.86).

Sensitivity analyses: Comatose patients at 96 hours without seizures

Among the subgroup of 463 comatose patients at 96 hours without clinical seizures:

 Good neurological outcomes (mRS 0-3 at six months) were associated with moderate and high propofol doses (1.86-38.86 mg/kg) with an OR of 3.15 (95% CI 1.29 - 8.06) and OR 2.78 (95% CI 1.15 - 6.99), respectively.

- Survival was associated with high and moderate doses of propofol (1.86-38.86 mg/kg) with an OR of 3.43 (95% CI 1.43 8.59) and OR 3.27 (95% CI 1.38 8), respectively.
- Fentanyl and remifentanil use were associated with good functional outcome and survival. Fentanyl had an OR of 2.2 for good functional outcomes (95% CI 1.1-4.4) and 2.7 for survival (95% CI 1.3-5.4). Remifentanil had an OR of 2.2 (95% CI 1.1-4.5) and 2.2 for survival (95% CI 1.1-4.5).

Paper III

Patient population

The study enrolled 71 patients who were randomized to receive either hypothermia (target temperature of 33°C) or normothermia (target temperature <37.8°C) following OHCA. Baseline characteristics and severity of illness were comparable between the two groups, ensuring a balanced study population.

Sedative and analgesic administration and blood concentrations

There were no significant differences between the hypothermia and normothermia groups in terms of the cumulative doses or serum concentrations of sedative and analgesic drugs administered during the study period, including at the end of TTM intervention (40h), or at the end of protocolized fever prevention phase (72h), see figure 3. This included commonly used medications such as propofol, midazolam, clonidine, dexmedetomidine, morphine, oxycodone, ketamine, and esketamine.



Figure 3. Boxplot of serum concentrations of propofol at 40 and 72 hours. Median serum concentrations of propofol at 40 hours were 1.80 (1.30, 2.30) in hypothermia patients compared to 1.60 (0.95, 2.30) normothermia patients, p = 0.2. Median serum concentrations of propofol at 72 hours were 0.96 (0.40, 1.63) in hypothermia patients compared to 0.51 (0.21, 1.23) in normothermia patients, p = 0.10. Two outliers not shown in the figure with concentration of 6,9 mcg/g (hypothermia) and 24,0 mcg/g (normothermia) at 40 hours.

Time to awakening and neurological outcomes

The median time to awakening was 53 hours in the hypothermia group and 46 hours in the normothermia group. While this represented a trend toward faster awakening in the normothermia group, the difference did not reach statistical significance (p = 0.09), see Figure 4. Neurological outcomes assessed at six months follow-up showed no significant differences between the two groups.



Figure 4. Time from sedation stopped to awakening in patients receiving propofol and midazolam. The time from sedation discontinued to awakening was analyzed using log rank test and showed no significant difference in time to awakening between normothermia and hypothermia groups, p = 0.1.

Paper IV

Study inclusion and characteristics

A systematic search yielded 17621 publications, of which 15 trials met the inclusion criteria, encompassing a total of 4352 participants, see Figure 5. Funnel plot analysis demonstrated minimal risk of publication bias, as indicated by Egger's statistics (intercept: -0.1953, standard error: 0.56, p = 0.73). Of the included trials, four (2084 participants) compared no sedation with sedation, while eleven (2268 participants) compared different levels of sedation, including daily interruption versus

continuous sedation, intermittent versus daily interruption, and lighter versus deeper sedation. Additionally, four trials specified the sedative type, comparing dexmedetomidine with other sedatives.



Figure 5. Prisma flow diagram outlining study inclusion.

Primary outcome: All-cause mortality

All 15 trials reported data on all-cause mortality. Mortality rates were 33.9% (739/2177) in the lighter sedation group and 34.3% (748/2175) in the deeper sedation group. A meta-analysis revealed no significant difference in mortality between the two groups (RR 0.94, 95% CI 0.83-1.06; $I^2 = 20\%$; p = 0.28), see figure 6. TSA indicated that a relative risk reduction of 16% or more is unlikely. The certainty of evidence for this outcome was rated as moderate, due to the high risk of bias across many trials.

Study	year	sample	Risk Ratio	RR	95%-CI	Weight (common)	Weight (random)
Jakob (MIDEX)	2012	500	*	1.30	[0.93; 1.80]	6.3%	8.8%
Jakob (PRODEX)	2012	498	-+	0.83	[0.55; 1.23]	5.7%	6.6%
Metha	2012	423	+	0.98	[0.73; 1.31]	8.2%	10.2%
Nasser	2014	60		0.69	[0.35; 1.37]	1.7%	2.7%
Olsen	2020	700	12	1.14	[0.95; 1.38]	16.6%	16.5%
Shehabi	2013	37		1.90	[0.42; 8.58]	0.3%	0.6%
SRLF trial group	2018	1174	D	0.91	[0.81; 1.03]	37.7%	21.4%
Strom	2010	113	-+	0.78	[0.50; 1.22]	3.4%	5.6%
Treggiari	2005	129		0.98	[0.48; 2.03]	1.5%	2.4%
Girard	2008	335	-	0.77	[0.62; 0.95]	12.4%	14.5%
Pandharipande	2007	103	-++	0.63	[0.30; 1.33]	1.8%	2.3%
Samuelson	2008	36		- 3.00	[0.13; 68.97]	0.1%	0.1%
Abdelghany	2020	97		0.43	[0.09; 2.09]	0.6%	0.5%
Weisbrodt	2011	50	+	1.09	[0.61; 1.95]	1.5%	3.6%
Anifantaki	2009	97	+	0.87	[0.51; 1.50]	2.3%	4.0%
Common effect mod	del		d	0.95	[0.88; 1.02]	100.0%	
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 20\%$	del %, τ ² = 0.01	33, <i>p</i> = 0.23	r - 1 1 - 1	0.94	[0.83; 1.06]		100.0%
			0.1 0.51 2 10				
		Light	ter sedation Deeper sedat	tion	Outco	me: All-cau	se mortality

Figure 6. Random effects meta-analysis comparing lighter sedation versus deeper sedation for allcause mortality. Random effects meta-analysis comparing lighter sedation versus deeper sedation for all-cause mortality (risk ratio 0.94, 95% confidence interval 0.83–1.06; p-val = 0.23; I2 = 20%; 15 trials). The risk ratios show a favor of lighter sedation to the left and deeper sedation to the right.

Secondary outcomes

Serious adverse events were reported in all 15 trials, with an incidence of 40.6% (883/2177) in the lighter sedation group and 41.1% (893/2,175) in the deeper sedation group. Meta-analysis showed no significant difference between the groups (RR 0.99, 95% CI 0.92-1.06; $I^2 = 0\%$; p = 0.80). TSA analysis concluded that a relative risk reduction of 9% or more is unlikely.

Delirium was assessed in 11 trials involving 3368 participants, using various diagnostic tools. The incidence was 33.9% (570/1681) in the lighter sedation group and 33.2% (561/1687) in the deeper sedation group. Meta-analysis showed no significant difference in delirium rates between the groups (RR ratio 1.01, 95% CI

0.94-1.09; p = 0.78). TSA suggested that a relative risk reduction of 12% or more is unlikely.

No trials reported on neurological outcome.

Exploratory outcomes

intervention (and its 95% CI).

The duration of mechanical ventilation was reported in five trials (1024 participants). The meta-analysis found no significant difference between groups, with a mean difference of -0.91 days (95% CI -2.01 to 0.18; p = 0.10). Three studies (198 participants) reported on the incidence of PTSD which was 8.6% in the lighter sedation group and 8.8% in the deeper sedation group. Meta-analysis showed no significant difference between the groups (RR 0.97, 95% CI 0.33-2.85; p = 0.95).

Risk of bias and GRADE assessment

Thirteen trials were assessed as having a high risk of bias, primarily due to the lack of blinding. Only two trials were deemed to have a low risk of bias. The GRADE assessment rated the certainty of evidence as moderate for mortality, serious adverse events, and delirium, reflecting concerns about the methodological limitations of the included trials, see Table 6. The certainty for exploratory outcomes varied depending on the quality and quantity of the available data.

 Table 6.
 Summary of findings table for lighter sedation versus deeper sedation.

Patients or population: Critically ill adult patient admitted to intensive care unit. Setting: Admitted to intensive care unit. Intervention: Lighter sedation. Control: Deeper sedation.							
Outcome	Anticipated absolute effect size (95% CI) ^c		Relative effect size (95% CI)	No of participants (studies)	Certainty of evidence (GRADE)	Comments	
	Risk with control	Risk with intervention					
All-cause mortality (follow up range: 28 days–365 days)	343 per 1000	339 per 1000	RR: 0.94 (0.83, 1.06)	4352 (15 RCT)	Moderate®	Risk of bias: Seriou: Inconsistency: No Indirectness: No Imprecision: No Publication bias: No	
Serious adverse events (follow up range: 28 days-365 days)	411 per 1000	406 per 1000	RR: 0.99 (0.92, 1.06)	4352 (15 RCT)	Moderate ^a	Risk of bias: Serious Inconsistency: No Indirectness: No Imprecision: No Publication bias: No	
Delirium (follow up range: 7 days-45 days)	332 per 1000	339 per 1000	RR: 1.01 (0.94, 1.09)	3368 (11 RCT)	Moderate®	Risk of bias: Serious Inconsistency: No Indirectness: No Imprecision: No Publication bias: No	
PTSD (follow up range: 4 weeks-2 months)	88 per 1000	85 per 1000	RR: 0.97 (0.33, 2,85)	138 (2 RCT)	Low ^{ab}	Risk of bias: Seriou: Inconsistency: No Indirectness: No Imprecision: yes Publication bias: No	
Discussion

This thesis synthesizes findings from five studies to provide comprehensive insights into the impact of sedation and analgesia management strategies in intensive care, particularly focusing on OHCA and intensive care unit practices. The discussion is structured around the key research questions addressed in the studies, highlighting common themes and subjects.

Paper I and II

Sedation and analgesia practices

The sedation and analgesia practices observed in the TTM- and TTM2- trials demonstrate a reliance on both short-acting agents (e.g., propofol and remifentanil) and long-acting agents (e.g., midazolam and fentanyl) during and after TTM following OHCA. While current guidelines recommend short-acting sedatives and analgesics to facilitate earlier awakening, assessment of level of consciousness, and to facilitate neurological prognostication, long-acting agents remain widely used [45, 47]. Propofol was the most frequently used sedative in both trials, but midazolam was also common. These findings reveal the balance between achieving optimal sedation depth, reducing adverse effects, and adhering to guideline-based practices. Despite recommendations to discontinue sedation early to allow accurate neurological assessment with the use of propofol and remifentanil, the frequent use of midazolam and fentanyl suggests variability in practice that may stem from differences in local expertise, resource availability, and patient-specific factors such as shivering, seizures, and hemodynamic instability.

Sedation and analgesia practices over time

In the TTM-trial, sedation and analgesia practices predominantly relied on longacting drugs, with 42% of patients receiving midazolam and 51% receiving fentanyl. Propofol was used in 70% of patients, while remifentanil was administered to only 16%, reflecting its limited adoption during this earlier trial. In contrast, the TTM2trial showed a significant shift toward short-acting agents, with 86% of patients receiving propofol and 36% received midazolam. Additionally, remifentanil use was 33%, indicating a move away from fentanyl as the dominant analgesic. This highlights that practices are considering the adverse effects of prolonged sedation and adopting of guidelines recommending short-acting agents to reduce sedation duration, facilitate early neurological prognostication, and optimize recovery. Additionally, the results from the TTM2-trial emphasizes that sedation practices have evolved between TTM- and TTM2- trials, reflecting the broader adoption of normothermia protocols and the growing recognition of the risks associated with prolonged deep sedation. These changes underscore an improvement within the field, driven by emerging evidence and evolving clinical practices.

Variation in sedation and analgesia practices across centers

In the large randomized clinical TTM-trial, we found significant differences in the approach to providing sedation and analgesia. The treatment center was independently and strongly associated with the number of medications given, cumulative dosing, and titration of sedatives and analgesics, during and immediately following temperature management. Importantly, treatment center remained independently associated for dosing and titration after adjustment for target temperature and clinically relevant variables, including markers of severity of illness like initial heart rhythm and total ischemic time. This suggests that local protocols influence sedation and analgesic dosing more than patient factors. This variability highlights the need for further research to better define the optimal sedation strategies for TTM patients and ensure consistent application across centers. The TTM-trial suggest that institutional factors, including clinician training, protocol adherence, and resource availability, may explain much of this heterogeneity. For example, centers with more experience or access to advanced monitoring tools may favor short-acting agents and early awakening protocols, while others may rely more heavily on traditional approaches involving midazolam or fentanyl.

Sedation practices and target temperature management

The level of target temperature (33 °C vs. 36 °C) did not significantly influence overall sedation dosing during the initial 48 hours of therapy in the TTM-trial, notably, some differences emerged in the titration of analgesics, with increased titration observed between 12 and 24 hours at a target temperature of 36 °C. This may reflect efforts to manage discomfort or shivering in the group managed at 36 °C, where active cooling is less intense. Similarly, in the TTM2-trial there were no

statistically significant differences in sedation or analgesia dosing up to 72 hours between patients treated with hypothermia or normothermia, suggesting that doses to keep the patients at deep sedation during TTM were similar.

Impact of sedation management and clinical outcomes

Late awakening

The findings from the TTM- and TTM2- trial show an association between higher total doses and titration of sedatives and analgesics with late awakening, after adjustment for clinical and severity of illness factors. Specifically, in the TTM-trial, higher doses of analgesics at 48 hours and increased titration of analgesics between 24 and 48 hours were significantly associated with delayed awakening. Opioid analgesics, in particular, may blunt the response to painful stimuli in the GCS and impair the pupillary light reflex, which could confound neurological prognostication. Interestingly, there was no significant association between the average dosage of sedatives up to 48 hours and time to awakening which may be because most patients received short-acting sedatives.

In the TTM2-trial, higher total doses of propofol up to 72 hours and the administration of midazolam were also associated with delayed awakening, further emphasizing the relationship between sedation and analgesia management and awakening times. Although these findings strengthen the evidence, they also highlight the need for further research to determine whether these associations are a result of sedation practices, underlying patient factors, or other clinical factors.

Our findings are in concordance with other trials that found the use of midazolamfentanyl sedation strategies to be associated with longer time to awakening post cardiac arrest [197, 198]. However, these findings also emphasize the risk of prolonged awakening times, which may increase susceptibility to premature WLST due to perceived poor neurological prognosis. This underscores the critical need to balance sedation depth with the ability to perform accurate prognostication, avoiding misinterpretation of clinical signs. Moreover, delayed awakening is common after cardiac arrest and these findings are supported by additional evidence showing that prolonged time to awakening may lead to suboptimal decision-making and adverse events in post-cardiac arrest care [180].

Clinical seizures

Clinical seizures are common after cardiac arrest, often resulting from neuronal excitation due to brain injury. Left untreated, seizures can exacerbate brain injury

through increased metabolic demand, disruption of cerebral autoregulation, and excitotoxicity, leading to poorer outcomes. Although sedatives can suppress seizures and influence cerebral oxygen consumption and blood flow, it is unclear whether they provide additional neuroprotective effects, such as acting seizure prophylactic, during TTM and post cardiac arrest care.

In the TTM-trial, increased sedative dosing between 24 and 48 hours and higher total doses at 48 hours were associated with clinical seizures, likely reflecting the clinical practice of increased sedation in response to seizure activity or discomfort during TTM. Similarly, the TTM2-trial showed an association of higher propofol doses and midazolam administration with clinical seizures. Sedatives, particularly propofol and midazolam, are known for their antiepileptic properties. However, whether these higher sedative doses reduce the risk of seizure occurrence consequently improving outcome, or simply reflect the clinical need for increased sedation during seizures, remains unclear. The causal relationship between sedation dosing and seizure occurrence remains uncertain.

Administering sedation, analgesia, and NMB during TTM and post-cardiac arrest care may make it challenging to detect clinical seizures [199]. EEG monitoring, as recommended by current guidelines, plays a crucial role in identifying seizures and is as an important prognostic indicator [97, 200]. Although routine seizure prophylaxis is not advised, antiepileptic medications and sedatives such as propofol are recommended treatments for seizures [45, 47]. Consequently, the association between higher propofol doses and clinical seizures may be due to increased sedation when seizures occur. This aligns with prior research indicating that while it is feasible to suppress epileptiform EEG activity, it does not improve outcome. The TELSTAR trial, designed to assess whether treating status epilepticus improves outcomes in comatose post-cardiac arrest patients with epileptiform patterns on continuous EEG [100]. In this trial, anti-seizure and sedative medications were administered to suppress all epileptiform activity for at least 48 hours, was compared to standard care without anti-seizure treatment. While suppression of all rhythmic and periodic patterns was achieved in 56% of patients in the intervention group versus only 2% in the control group, there was no significant difference in poor outcomes at 3 months.

Functional outcome and survival

The TTM- and TTM2- trials demonstrates insights into the complex relationship between sedation and analgesia practices and long-term functional outcomes and survival after cardiac arrest. In the TTM-trial, decreased dosing of analgesics between 24- and 48- hours was significantly associated with improved six-month survival. However, no such association was found for titration of sedatives between 24 and 48 hours or titration of sedation or analgesia between 12 and 24 hours. The observed association between decreased dosing of analgesics and improved survival highlights the need for precise titration during the post-TTM period. However, these results may also reflect variability in center-specific practices and patient-specific factors, such as severity of brain injury, which may confound the observed associations.

In the TTM2-trial, a post-hoc analysis demonstrated a significant association between higher total doses of propofol and good functional outcomes and survival at six months. Additionally, the use of remifentanil and fentanyl was associated with improved outcomes, further emphasizing their role when managing patients with less severe brain injuries. These patients appeared to require higher doses of sedatives and analgesics for therapeutic comfort, suggesting that their less severe brain injuries allowed for a more aggressive approach to maintaining comfort during therapy. However, given the observational nature of the study, causality remains uncertain. It is possible that higher doses of sedatives and analgesics themselves contributed to neuroprotection, rather than merely reflecting the clinical status of patients with milder injuries. Propofol, for instance, has been suggested to have neuroprotective properties through mechanisms such as reducing cerebral metabolism, mitigating excitotoxicity, and by promoting glymphatic system function. Thus, while the association between higher propofol and analgesic doses with good outcomes likely reflects patient severity of illness, it is also plausible that sedative and analgesic management mat be neuroprotective and improve outcome. These findings underscore the importance of individualized sedation and analgesia strategies, not only for maintaining comfort but potentially for optimizing neuroprotection and improving survival and functional recovery.

Reasons for prolonged or increased sedation

The dosing data collected at 48 hours in the TTM-trial and at 72 hours in the TTM2trial may depend on the clinical context of patients requiring prolonged sedation beyond the mandatory periods of 36- and 40-hours sedation, respectively. While both protocols recommended discontinuation or tapering of sedation as soon as possible after these mandatory periods, the decision was left to the discretion of the treating physician. The reasons for prolonged sedation remain multifactorial and complex, reflecting the variability in clinical practices across centers and patientspecific needs.

One potential reason for increased sedation and analgesia is the management of shivering, a physiological response that is closely monitored during TTM. Shivering is associated with improved outcomes after cardiac arrest, as it may indicate preserved thermoregulatory mechanisms and less severe brain injury and has been associated with better survival and neurological recovery in previous studies [201]. However, if left untreated, shivering can increase metabolic demand and contribute

to secondary brain injury. To manage this, sedation dosing is often escalated as a first-line therapy, and NMB may be introduced for refractory cases [202]. Adequate sedation must accompany NMB use to prevent awareness during induced paralysis. This escalation in sedation may partly explain the higher doses observed in patients with good functional outcomes and survival.

Another reason for prolonged sedation could be the presence of frequent myoclonus, which often indicates more severe brain injury and necessitates continued sedation and analgesia. Additionally, prolonged mechanical ventilation is a common clinical scenario requiring extended sedation, as sedation helps facilitate patient-ventilator synchrony and comfort. These factors may contribute to the observed associations between sedation practices, late awakening, clinical seizures, and survival.

Recognizing the heterogeneity, recent efforts have focused on patient phenotyping to identify subgroups with distinct treatment responses. Machine learning approaches and multimodal monitoring techniques are increasingly being explored to stratify patients and tailor post-arrest interventions accordingly [203, 204]. These advancements hold promise for optimizing sedation strategies by integrating realtime physiological data and predictive modeling into clinical decision-making. While the field is still evolving and definitive answers remain elusive, addressing heterogeneity in post-arrest care could be a key step toward improving individualized treatment strategies. This discussion also provides a conceptual foundation and highlights the importance of future research aimed at refining sedation and analgesia practices based on patient-specific factors.

Strengths and limitations

This thesis integrates findings from the TTM- and TTM2- trials, representing the most comprehensive evaluations to date of sedation and analgesia management after OHCA. The trials benefit from large, diverse patient cohorts across multiple international centers, which strengthens the generalizability of the findings. By utilizing individual patient data and robust adjustments for illness severity, the analyses provide valuable insights into factors influencing outcomes such as functional recovery, survival, delayed awakening, and clinical seizures. Although we adjusted for key clinical variables and illness severity in the multivariable analysis, there may still be residual confounding. For instance, the TTM-trial lack data on important confounding factors such as organ dysfunction, including liver and kidney impairment, which may influence drug clearance. Additionally, information on NMB use and shivering, both critical factors affecting sedation requirements, was not collected. In the TTM2-trial, while the use of neuromuscular blockade was included in the multivariable models to account for their potential impact, the depth and duration of neuromuscular blockade were not recorded. Additionally, EEG recordings were not uniformly available across participating

centers in neither TTM- nor TTM2- trials and were therefore not included in these studies which may have introduced heterogeneity in seizure detection.

Variation in sedation and analgesia practices across the 61 participating centers in the TTM2-trial may represent a source of residual confounding not fully captured by the current multivariable model. Although the TTM2-trial protocol was standardized across sites, recommending a target for sedation depth (RASS -4 to -5) and the use of short-acting agents, differences in clinical practice may still be a source of residual confounding.

Furthermore, neither TTM- nor TTM2- trials were specifically designed to investigate sedation and analgesia management. As such, there is a risk of post-randomization bias, particularly related to differences in clinical management not captured by available data. In the TTM-trial, sedation and analgesia data were collected retrospectively. This introduced variability, as not all centers participated, and only 623 of 939 patients had complete data, raising concerns about responder bias. For example, patients without sedation data had significantly lower rates of good neurological outcomes (42% vs. 49%), likely reflecting site-related differences. To mitigate potential information bias, data in the TTM2-trial was collected prospectively using standardized case report forms across all sites.

In the TTM-trial, cumulative doses were collected at 12-, 24-, and 48- hours, despite the mandatory intervention ending at 36 hours. Similarly, in the TTM2-trial, cumulative sedation doses were collected at 72 hours despite the protocol specifying mandatory sedation for 40 hours. The reasons for prolonged sedation or titration were not recorded in neither TTM- nor TTM2- trial. To address this limitation, sensitivity analyses in the TTM2-trial provide deeper understanding of sedation practices in important patient subpopulations, such as those remaining comatose at 96 hours without seizures.

The observational nature in both TTM-trials should be further investigation to establish the causality of the associations found, and findings should be interpreted as hypothesis-generating. Despite these limitations, this work provides an important foundation for understanding sedation practices and their impact on post-cardiac arrest outcomes.

Paper III

Effects of temperature management on sedation and pharmacokinetics during TTM in post-cardiac arrest care

This study, as part of the TTM2-trial, represents one of the most comprehensive evaluations to date on the serum concentrations of sedatives during post-cardiac arrest care. It adds important insights into the interaction between sedation practices, temperature management, and clinical outcomes.

Sedation and serum concentrations

We found no statistically significant differences in administered doses or serum concentrations of sedatives and analgesics between hypothermia and normothermia groups at any investigated time point when correcting for confounders. However, the hypothermia group showed higher median administered doses of propofol (over 50% higher between 40–72 hours) and nearly double serum concentrations at 72 hours compared to normothermia. These findings align with previous studies suggesting that hypothermia slows the metabolism and lower clearance of sedatives. likely due to reduced hepatic blood flow and effects on the cytochrome P450 system [167, 170, 198, 205]. Similarly, Bjelland et al. found lower clearance of propofol, fentanyl, and morphine, but not midazolam, during TTM compared to normothermic ICU patients, while another study observed decreasing serum concentrations of remifertanil, propofol, and midazolam with rewarming, though fentanyl concentrations remained stable [170, 205]. These pharmacokinetic variations, though based on small cohorts, suggest that hypothermia may prolong drug effects, necessitating careful interpretation of sedation depth and neurological prognostication.

For midazolam, a small subset of patients managed at hypothermia exhibited significantly longer awakening times, which may be explained by its slower elimination compared to propofol. Although renal function was similar between groups, individual factors such as the degree of brain injury and metabolic clearance rates likely contributed to these differences. Given these findings, the lingering effects of sedation, regardless of TTM level, should be considered when assessing neurological recovery and making decisions on WLST.

Shivering and seizures

Shivering was more prevalent in the hypothermia group (p = 0.003), consistent with prior findings from the TTM2-trial. Shivering likely influenced the increased

propofol doses observed during the intervention period (0-40 hours), as escalation of sedation is standard protocol for managing shivering to prevent secondary brain injury. Beyond 40 hours, however, shivering was no longer associated with increased sedation, suggesting other factors drove sedation needs during prolonged care.

Seizures were more common in the hypothermia group (p=0.015) and may indicate more severe brain injury in these patients, as levels of neuron-specific enolase were slightly higher (42 vs 28, p=0.068). However, sedation doses did not significantly differ between patients with and without seizures, suggesting that AED effectively controlled seizures without requiring additional sedation.

Implications for clinical practice

This study supports the hypothesis that pharmacokinetics during TTM is influenced by temperature but do not significantly impact time to awakening in most patients, excluding those receiving midazolam. Although hypothermia is associated with slower clearance of sedatives, the level of TTM itself was not a predictor of serum concentrations when corrected for confounders. This suggests that other clinical variables, such as the severity of brain injury, organ failure, shivering, and the use of NMB, play key roles in determining sedation requirements and the timing of neurological prognostication. As such, these factors should be carefully evaluated alongside pharmacologic considerations before making decisions regarding WLST.

Limitations

Despite the strengths of this study, including its multicenter cohort and prospective data collection, several limitations must be acknowledged. The study was not primarily designed to evaluate sedation and analgesia, and sedation data were collected as a secondary outcome. Reason of prolonged sedation beyond the mandatory periods of 40 hours were not collected, limiting our ability to fully contextualize dosing patterns and time to awakening. The small sample size of patients restricts the generalizability of findings, lowers the statistical power of the study, and individual patient factors such as drug metabolism rates and degree of brain injury were not fully accounted for. Additionally, while shivering and seizure data were analyzed, subclinical seizures, which may affect sedation needs, were not captured.

Paper IV

This systematic review and meta-analysis of 15 RCTs involving 4352 participants represents one of the most comprehensive evaluations of sedation depth in critically ill adults. The findings indicate that the level of sedation does not appear to significantly affect the risk of death, serious adverse events, delirium, or posttraumatic stress disorder. Similarly, no effect on the duration of mechanical ventilation was observed. These results are supported by a lack of statistical heterogeneity and consistent findings across predefined subgroup analyses, reinforcing the robustness of the conclusions. Additionally, the TSA strengthened the robustness of these findings by demonstrating futility, indicating that additional trials with similar methodologies are unlikely to affect the results. However, these conclusions were based on calculated effect sizes of 9 and 16%. Thus, future trials should aim to address the limitations of current evidence by using more robust methodologies to investigate the effect of sedation depth on outcomes and in larger sample sizes aiming for realistic intervention effects. Understanding the impact of sedation depth is crucial for optimizing patient outcomes and guiding clinical practice ICUs.

Strengths of the study

The study utilized a rigorous methodology, predefined in detail, and the protocol was published ahead of performing the literature search and adherence to predefined protocols. The inclusion of diverse sedation strategies and detailed subgroup analyses enhance the study's generalizability. We searched all relevant databases and used an eight-step assessment suggested by Jakobsen and colleagues to assess our results' clinical significance [206]. TSA was used to assess the risk of type I and II errors, ensuring a high level of analytical rigor. By rejecting a relative risk reduction of 16% or greater, the TSA findings suggest that additional trials are unlikely to significantly alter the conclusions. Furthermore, we did meta-analyses with both fixed effects and random effects meta-analysis, we investigated subgroup differences, and we assessed the certainty of the evidence using GRADE.

Methodological challenges and limitations

Despite its strengths, several limitations must be acknowledged. Thirteen of the fifteen included RCTs had a high risk of bias, primarily due to deviations from intended interventions, lack of blinding, and subjective outcome assessments. Treating clinicians and outcome assessors were often aware of patients' targeted sedation levels, potentially influencing sedation dosages and other treatments. Additionally, the methodological variations in defining and achieving sedation

levels, such as differences in sedation scales, protocolized sedation, or no sedation, make direct comparisons challenging. For example, some studies compared no sedation to sedation with daily interruptions, while others evaluated continuous versus intermittent sedation. This variability complicates the interpretation of the results. This limitation was address using subgroup analyses according to the approach used to define and reach the targeted sedation level, which strengthened our results.

Further, the evidence on neurological outcomes and quality-of-life remains insufficient, particularly for vulnerable populations such as post-cardiac arrest and brain-injured patients, who were often excluded from the included trials and lack of reporting of these patient-important outcome. These patient groups pose unique challenges in sedation management, such as altered consciousness and difficulties in assessing sedation levels, highlighting a gap in the evidence base. Additionally, the lack of high-quality data on delirium, a secondary outcome, reflects inconsistencies in assessment methods across studies.

The risk of bias assessment revealed that all but two studies were at high risk of bias, primarily due to the lack of successful blinding of treating clinicians, thus introducing potential bias through deviations from the intended interventions. The GRADE assessment rated the certainty of the evidence for the primary outcomes as moderate, indicating that further research could impact the confidence in the effect estimates. These considerations should be considered when interpreting the findings and their implications.

Implications for practice

The findings challenge the assumption that lighter sedation improves outcomes. While current guidelines recommend lighter sedation to enhance short-term recovery, this study suggests that lighter nor deeper sedation may not confer significant benefits in terms of mortality or other selected outcomes. Instead, sedation strategies should be individualized, considering patient-specific factors such as the severity of illness, underlying conditions, and clinical context. The findings are particularly relevant for populations with acute brain injury and patients requiring TTM or with severe neurological injuries, where sedation practices must balance patient comfort with neurological assessment and prognostication. The results also highlight the need to consider broader implications, such as the recourse utilizing and impact of sedation strategies and the variability in patient responses to sedation.

Paper V

Aim and rationale

The SED-CARE trial investigates the effects of deep versus minimal sedation on outcomes in resuscitated OHCA patients. By comparing these two sedation strategies, the trial aims to evaluate their impact on mortality, functional outcomes, serious adverse events, and patient-reported health. The findings are expected to provide valuable evidence to refine sedation protocols tailored to the unique needs of cardiac arrest patients, improving care, optimizing outcomes, and enhancing resource utilization. SED-CARE is part of the broader STEPCARE trial, which examines the effects of mean arterial pressure targets and fever treatment with or without temperature control devices in a factorial design, further expanding the evidence base for post-cardiac arrest care.

Sedation has been an integral part of post-cardiac arrest care since the introduction of therapeutic hypothermia over 20 years ago. However, limited evidence exists to guide clinicians in determining optimal sedation depth. Sedation carries both risks, such as impaired circulation and ventilation, and potential neuroprotective benefits. It also complicates neurological prognostication, increasing the risk of premature WLST based on inaccurate neurological assessments. The SED-CARE trial addresses this critical gap, providing essential data to inform sedation strategies in cardiac arrest patients.

Potential consequences

The trial's two sedation strategies pose distinct risks and benefits. In the minimal sedation group, patients may experience anxiety, pain, discomfort, non-planned extubation, and post-traumatic stress disorder, potentially impairing neurological recovery. Conversely, the deep sedation group may face prolonged mechanical ventilation, venous thromboembolism, infections, sepsis, arrhythmias, and extended ICU stays. Furthermore, lingering effects of deep sedation may interfere with neurological prognostication, leading to suboptimal clinical decisions.

In clinical practice, cardiac arrest patients are typically managed with sedation depths similar to those in the deep sedation group, whereas the minimal sedation group mimics the management of non-cardiac arrest ICU patients. By collecting detailed data on these outcomes, the trial aims to investigate these sedation strategies and their implications.

Strengths

The SED-CARE trial has several key strengths. Its large sample size and broad inclusion criteria enhance generalizability and enable robust subgroup analyses to identify patient populations that may benefit from different sedation targets. Additionally, the trial employs patient-centered outcomes and rigorous blinding protocols, including the blinding of outcome assessors, prognosticators, statisticians, and the steering group. This minimizes bias and strengthens the validity of the results. The factorial design within the STEPCARE trial, while inherently complex, allows for simultaneous evaluation of sedation strategies alongside other critical interventions, providing a comprehensive approach to post-cardiac arrest care.

Limitations

Despite its strengths, the trial has limitations that warrant consideration. Interaction effects between the sedation intervention and the temperature or blood pressure interventions in the STEPCARE trial are an inherent feature of factorial designs. Sedation can influence cardiovascular parameters, which may interact with other interventions. Although feasibility studies have demonstrated the safety of these interventions, the trial cannot fully eliminate the risk of interactions. A sample size adjustment (6.8%) has been incorporated to account for potential loss to follow-up and minor interaction effects, minimizing their impact.

Another challenge arises from the inclusion of severely critically ill and braininjured patients, whose baseline severity may lead to assessed sedation levels that are toward deep sedation, regardless of the sedation administered and assigned intervention. Similarly, patients in the minimal sedation group who require seizure control or temperature devices may receive increased sedation, potentially blurring the distinction between groups. To address this, the trial will conduct sensitivity analyses to explore subgroups affected by these confounders.

Unblinding of sedation targets is another limitation, as clinicians must be aware of the allocated sedation strategy. However, rigorous blinding of key stakeholders, outcome assessors, statisticians, prognosticators, and the steering group, will mitigate bias in data interpretation and ensure that trial outcomes remain objective.

Conclusions

This thesis has explored key aspects of sedation practices in post-cardiac arrest care, highlighting the variability, outcomes, and gaps in evidence across five comprehensive studies:

Paper I: Significant differences were observed between centers in the choice, dosing, and titration of sedative and analgesic drugs during and immediately following TTM. Higher dosages and upward titration were associated with delayed awakening and higher incidence of clinical seizures, while downward titration of analgesics was associated with improved survival at six months. These findings emphasize the need for standardized sedation protocols and prospective trials to further elucidate these findings and confirm causality.

Paper II: Higher doses of propofol were significantly associated with good functional outcomes and survival at six months, clinical seizures, and late awakening. Remifentanil and fentanyl were associated with good functional outcomes and survival, while midazolam was associated with clinical seizures and delayed awakening. These findings may reflect the severity of illness, with higher doses in patients with less severe brain injury and better outcomes. Although causality cannot be established, it is also possible that higher doses of sedatives and analgesics have neuroprotective effects, contributing to better outcomes.

Paper III: No significant differences were found in sedative or analgesic drug dosing, concentrations, or lingering sedative effects between patients treated with hypothermia or normothermia, unless treated with midazolam. These findings suggest that hypothermia may not significantly alter sedative pharmacokinetics or time to awakening, though further studies are needed to confirm these results in larger cohorts.

Paper IV: A systematic review and meta-analysis showed no significant differences in mortality, serious adverse events, or delirium between lighter and deeper sedation strategies in critically ill adult patients. However, the high risk of bias in most included trials and moderate certainty of evidence underscores the need for future high-quality trials with improved methodological rigor. Addressing these limitations in future high-quality studies will be critical to optimizing sedation practices and improving outcomes for critically ill patients.

Paper V: Future Directions in the SED-CARE Trial: The SED-CARE trial, a large international study embedded within the STEPCARE trial, aims to investigate whether continuous deep sedation for 36 hours confers benefits compared to minimal sedation on six-month mortality and functional outcomes. Results from this trial will provide critical insights to refine sedation management in post-cardiac arrest care and guide future recommendations.

Future Directions

- Optimizing sedation and analgesia in acute brain injury and post-cardiac arrest patients requires balancing ICP control, seizure management, hemodynamic stability, and accurate neurological assessment. Despite growing interest in individualized sedation strategies supported by multimodal monitoring, significant variability in clinical practice reflects the lack of high-quality evidence and standardized protocols. Recent trials have not demonstrated any clear outcome benefits of specific sedative agents, highlighting the need to shift research toward evaluating sedation strategies and protocols rather than individual drugs.
- Future studies should address methodological limitations by implementing standardized sedation protocols, objective definitions of sedation depth, and blinding of participants and outcome assessors to minimize bias. Research should also focus on critically ill subpopulations, particularly post-cardiac arrest, and brain-injured patients, to ensure broader clinical applicability.
- The associations found in the TTM- and TTM2- trials between higher doses of sedatives and analgesics with improved functional outcomes, survival, and clinical seizures should be further investigated in an RCT to determine causality and whether deeper sedation has neuroprotective effects. Given the conflicting results from previous sedation trials, future research should also assess long-term functional recovery, quality of life, and cognitive function alongside short-term ICU outcomes. The SED-CARE trial will provide critical data on whether continuous deep sedation for 36 hours improves six-month survival and neurological outcomes compared to minimal sedation, shaping future post-cardiac arrest sedation management.
- Research should explore how TTM affects sedative and analgesic pharmacokinetics and its impact on time to awakening to ensure accurate neurological prognostication. A prospective trial powered to detect these differences is essential to refine sedation management and optimize post-cardiac arrest care.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning på svenska

Varje år drabbas tusentals människor av hjärtstopp utanför sjukhus. Tack vare snabba insatser, såsom hjärt-lungräddning och defibrillering, kan många överleva. Många patienter hamnar i ett komatöst tillstånd och behöver intensivvård för att optimera deras chans till återhämtning. En viktig del av denna vård är sedering (nedsövning) och smärtlindring, som används för att minska obehag, förhindra skador och underlätta behandlingar som exempelvis mekanisk ventilation och temperarturbehandling.

Trots att sedering och smärtlindring är en viktig del av intensivvård efter hjärtstopp finns det begränsad kunskap om hur dessa läkemedel påverkar patientens behandling och återhämtning. Det saknas tydliga riktlinjer för vilka läkemedel som är bäst att använda, i vilken dos och under hur lång tid. Djup sedering kan ha negativa effekter såsom längre vårdtid, försenat uppvaknande, ökad risk för delirium (förvirringstillstånd) och sämre utfall. Samtidigt kan otillräcklig sedering leda till obehag och stress, vilket kan vara skadligt för hjärnan efter hjärtstopp.

Denna avhandling undersöker hur sedering och smärtlindring används vid intensivvård efter hjärtstopp och vilken påverkan det har på patienternas funktionella återhämtning, överlevnad, risk för kliniska kramper och tid till uppvaknande.

Studie I

Den första studien analyserade hur sedering och smärtlindring används vid intensivvård efter hjärtstopp. Genom att studera data från 18 sjukhus identifierades signifikanta skillnader i hur läkemedel doseras och justeras. Studien visade att högre doser av sömn- och smärtlindringsläkemedel var kopplade till en ökad risk för fördröjd uppvakning och kliniska kramper. Däremot var nedtrappning av smärtlindrande läkemedel mellan 24 och 48 timmar efter randomisering kopplad till bättre överlevnad efter sex månader.

Studie II

Den andra studien analyserade data från 1 861 patienter inom den stora TTM2studien, som undersökte effekten av temperaturreglering efter hjärtstopp. Resultaten visade att högre doser av vissa läkemedel, som propofol, remifentanil och fentanyl, var kopplade till både bättre överlevnad och bättre funktionellt utfall. Denna studie kan inte säga om de patienter som krävde högre doser speglar graden av hjärnskadan eller om sömn- och smärtstillande läkemedel har skyddande effekter på hjärnan. Framtida studier behövs för att fastställa sambandet.

Studie III

Den tredje studien undersökte om nedkylning (hypotermi) påverkar nivåerna av sömn- och smärtlindringsläkemedel i blodet och hur det i sin tur påverkar tiden till uppvakning. Genom att analysera blodprover från patienter visade resultaten att hypotermi förlängde tiden till uppvakning hos patienter som behandlades med midazolam. Däremot påverkades inte de totala läkemedelskoncentrationerna i blodet av kroppstemperaturen.

Studie IV

Den fjärde studien var en systematisk översikt och metaanalys av 15 randomiserade kliniska studier med totalt 4 352 patienter kritiskt sjuka patienter som behandlats på intensivvården. Den analyserade hur djup respektive lätt sedering påverkar överlevnad, funktionellt utfall och risken för komplikationer såsom delirium. Resultaten visade inga signifikanta skillnader mellan djup och lätt sedering avseende dödlighet eller allvarliga komplikationer. Eftersom många av de inkluderade studierna hade brister i upplägg och endast måttlig tillförlitlighet i resultaten, behövs framtida studier med högre kvalitet och bättre metodik. Att åtgärda dessa begränsningar är viktigt för att kunna förbättra sederingsrutinerna och ge bättre vård till kritiskt sjuka patienter.

Studie V

Den femte delen av avhandlingen beskriver SED-CARE studien, en stor internationell klinisk studie som just nu pågår. Den undersöker om djup sedering (RASS -4/-5) jämfört med minimal sedering (RASS 0 till -2) påverkar dödlighet och återhämtning efter hjärtstopp. Studien omfattar 3 500 patienter och är utformad för att kunna ge tillräcklig statistisk styrka för att upptäcka en skillnad i överlevnad på 5,6%.

Slutsatser

Avhandlingens resultat ger viktig kunskap om nedsövning och smärtlindring vid intensivvård efter hjärtstopp. Studierna visar att både valet av läkemedel och mängden sömnläkemedel kan ha stor betydelse för patienternas återhämtning och utfall. Eftersom stora variationer i sövningspraxis identifierades mellan olika sjukhus, finns det behov av mer standardiserade riktlinjer för att optimera behandlingen och förbättra utfall hos dessa patienter.

Vidare visar resultaten på att högre doser av vissa sömnläkemedel kan vara kopplade till bättre funktionella utfall men samtidigt ökar risken för bieffekter, såsom längre uppvakningstid och kliniska kramper. Detta lyfter fram vikten av en noggrann balans mellan att ge tillräcklig nedsövning och att undvika djupare nedsövning.

Den pågående SED-CARE studien kommer att ge ytterligare svar på frågan om vilken strategi för nedsövning som är mest fördelaktig för dessa patienter. Genom att optimera nedsövnings- och smärtlindringsstrategier kan vi förbättra överlevnaden och livskvaliteten för patienter som genomgår intensivvård efter hjärtstopp.

Acknowledgments

This thesis would never have been completed without the following individuals to

whom I wish to extend my sincere gratitude:

Niklas Nielsen, my main supervisor. Thank you for your dedication and encouragement. I will always be grateful for the opportunity you gave me to pursue my PhD under your guidance. You have taught me the value of hard work and how to seize the opportunities that research offers. Few in this field possess both the knowledge and humility that you do. Thank you, for making this thesis possible by sharing your extensive knowledge of the field, excellent guidance, and optimism.

Anna Lybeck, Tobias Cronberg, Josef Dankiewicz, and Teresa May, my cosupervisors, thank you for your support and many interesting discussions throughout this PhD journey.

To all my **co-authors**, thank you for all the wise and knowledgeable input, substantially improving our papers.

Thank you, **colleagues and staff** at the Department of Anesthesia and Intensive Care Skåne University Hospital and the Centre for Cardiac Arrest at Lund University.

I want to thank my **family**, especially my parents for always supporting me throughout life and believing in me.

My wonderful **friends**, I am so lucky to have you all and I will always be grateful for having you by my side.

Finally, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all the **patients** and their **relatives** who, despite facing a deeply challenging and distressing situation, generously agreed to take part in this research project.

References

- 1. Soar Jea: European Resuscitation Council Guidelines 2021: Adult advanced life support. *Resuscitation 161* 2021, 161:115-151.
- 2. Perkins GD, Jacobs IG, Nadkarni VM *et al*: Cardiac arrest and cardiopulmonary resuscitation outcome reports: update of the Utstein Resuscitation Registry Templates for Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: a statement for healthcare professionals from a task force of the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation (American Heart Association, European Resuscitation Council, Australian and New Zealand Council on Resuscitation, Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada, InterAmerican Heart Foundation, Resuscitation Council of Southern Africa, Resuscitation Council of Asia); and the American Heart Association Emergency Cardiovascular Care Committee and the Council on Cardiopulmonary, Critical Care, Perioperative and Resuscitation. *Circulation* 2015, 132(13):1286-1300.
- 3. Grasner JT, Wnent J, Herlitz J *et al*: Survival after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in Europe Results of the EuReCa TWO study. *Resuscitation* 2020, 148:218-226.
- 4. Kiguchi T, Okubo M, Nishiyama C *et al*: **Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest across the World: First report from the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation (ILCOR)**. *Resuscitation* 2020, **152**:39-49.
- 5. Andersen LW, Holmberg MJ, Berg KM, Donnino MW, Granfeldt A: In-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: A Review. *JAMA* 2019, **321**(12):1200-1210.
- 6. Fothergill RT WL, Chamberlain D, Virdi GK, Moore FP, Whitbread M: Increases in survival from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: a five year study. *Resuscitation* 2013, 84(8):1089-1092.
- 7. Daya MR SR, Zive DM, et al: Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survival improving over time: Results from the Resuscitation Outcomes Consortium (ROC). *Resuscitation* 2015, **91**:108-115.
- 8. www.hlr.nu SHr-Ld.
- 9. Nolan JP, Berg RA, Andersen LW *et al*: Cardiac Arrest and Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation Outcome Reports: Update of the Utstein Resuscitation Registry Template for In-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: A Consensus Report From a Task Force of the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation (American Heart Association, European Resuscitation Council, Australian and New Zealand Council on Resuscitation, Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada, InterAmerican Heart Foundation, Resuscitation Council of Southern Africa, Resuscitation Council of Asia). *Circulation* 2019, 140(18):e746-e757.

- 10. Buanes EA, Heltne JK: Comparison of in-hospital and out-of-hospital cardiac arrest outcomes in a Scandinavian community. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 2014, 58(3):316-322.
- 11. Høybye M, Stankovic N, Holmberg M, Christensen HC, Granfeldt A, Andersen LW: In-Hospital vs. Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: Patient Characteristics and Survival. *Resuscitation* 2021, **158**:157-165.
- 12. Andersson A, Arctaedius I, Cronberg T *et al*: **In-hospital versus out-of-hospital** cardiac arrest: Characteristics and outcomes in patients admitted to intensive care after return of spontaneous circulation. *Resuscitation* 2022, **176**:1-8.
- 13. Martin SS, Aday AW, Almarzooq ZI *et al*: **2024 Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics: A Report of US and Global Data From the American Heart Association**. *Circulation* 2024, **149**(8):e347-e913.
- 14. Claesson A, Djarv T, Nordberg P *et al*: Medical versus non medical etiology in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest-Changes in outcome in relation to the revised Utstein template. *Resuscitation* 2017, 110:48-55.
- 15. Yan S, Gan Y, Jiang N *et al*: The global survival rate among adult out-ofhospital cardiac arrest patients who received cardiopulmonary resuscitation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Crit Care* 2020, **24**(1):61.
- 16. Goto Y, Maeda T, Nakatsu-Goto Y: **Prognostic implications of conversion from nonshockable to shockable rhythms in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest**. *Crit Care* 2014, **18**(5):528.
- 17. Link MS, Berkow LC, Kudenchuk PJ *et al*: **Part 7: Adult Advanced Cardiovascular Life Support: 2015 American Heart Association Guidelines Update for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care.** *Circulation* 2015, **132**(18 Suppl 2):S444-464.
- 18. Atwood C, Eisenberg MS, Herlitz J, Rea TD: Incidence of EMS-treated out-ofhospital cardiac arrest in Europe. *Resuscitation* 2005, 67(1):75-80.
- Roger VL, Go AS, Lloyd-Jones DM et al: Heart disease and stroke statistics--2012 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 2012, 125(1):e2-e220.
- 20. Geocadin RG, Callaway CW, Fink EL *et al*: **Standards for Studies of Neurological Prognostication in Comatose Survivors of Cardiac Arrest: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association**. *Circulation* 2019, **140**(9):e517-e542.
- 21. Lemiale V, Dumas F, Mongardon N *et al*: Intensive care unit mortality after cardiac arrest: the relative contribution of shock and brain injury in a large cohort. *Intensive Care Med* 2013, **39**(11):1972-1980.
- 22. World Health organisation WHS.
- 23. Gavin D Perkins, Jerry P Nolan, Jasmeet Soar *et al*: **Resuscitation Guidlines UK. Epidemiology of cardiac arrest Guidelines**. May 2021.
- 24. Atwood C EM, Herlitz J, Rea TD: Incidence of EMS-treated out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in Europe. *Resuscitation* 2005 Oct, 67(1):75-80.
- 25. Grasner JT, Herlitz J, Tjelmeland IBM *et al*: European Resuscitation Council Guidelines 2021: Epidemiology of cardiac arrest in Europe. *Resuscitation* 2021, 161:61-79.

- 26. Nishiyama C, Kiguchi T, Okubo M *et al*: **Three-year trends in out-of-hospital** cardiac arrest across the world: Second report from the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation (ILCOR). *Resuscitation* 2023, 186:109757.
- 27. Daya MR, Schmicker RH, Zive DM *et al*: **Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survival improving over time: Results from the Resuscitation Outcomes Consortium (ROC)**. *Resuscitation* 2015, **91**:108-115.
- Yamaguchi Y, Woodin JA, Gibo K, Zive DM, Daya MR: Improvements in Outof-Hospital Cardiac Arrest Survival from 1998 to 2013. Prehosp Emerg Care 2017, 21(5):616-627.
- 29. Fothergill RT, Watson LR, Chamberlain D, Virdi GK, Moore FP, Whitbread M: Increases in survival from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: a five year study. *Resuscitation* 2013, **84**(8):1089-1092.
- 30. Chan PS, McNally B, Tang F, Kellermann A, Group CS: **Recent trends in** survival from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in the United States. *Circulation* 2014, **130**(21):1876-1882.
- 31. Cummins RO OJ, Thies WH, Pepe PE. : Improving survival from sudden cardiac arrest: the "chain of survival" concept. A statement for health professionals from the Advanced Cardiac Life Support Subcommittee and the Emergency Cardiac Care Committee, American Heart Association. *Circulation* 1991 May, **83**(5):1832-1847.
- 32. Nolan J, Soar J, Eikeland H: The chain of survival. *Resuscitation* 2006, **71**(3):270-271.
- 33. Deakin CD: The chain of survival: Not all links are equal. *Resuscitation* 2018, **126**:80-82.
- 34. Panchal AR, Bartos JA, Cabanas JG *et al*: **Part 3: Adult Basic and Advanced Life Support: 2020 American Heart Association Guidelines for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care**. *Circulation* 2020, **142**(16_suppl_2):S366-S468.
- 35. Andersen LW, Lind PC, Vammen L, Høybye M, Holmberg MJ, Granfeldt A: Adult post-cardiac arrest interventions: An overview of randomized clinical trials. *Resuscitation* 2020, 147:1-11.
- 36. Soar J, Böttiger BW, Carli P *et al*: European Resuscitation Council Guidelines 2021: Adult advanced life support. *Resuscitation* 2021, 161:115-151.
- 37. Eltzschig HK, Collard CD: Vascular ischaemia and reperfusion injury. *Br Med Bull* 2004, **70**:71-86.
- Kalogeris T, Baines CP, Krenz M, Korthuis RJ: Cell biology of ischemia/reperfusion injury. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol 2012, 298:229-317.
- 39. Nolan JP, Neumar RW, Adrie C *et al*: **Post-cardiac arrest syndrome**: epidemiology, pathophysiology, treatment, and prognostication. A Scientific Statement from the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation; the American Heart Association Emergency Cardiovascular Care Committee; the Council on Cardiovascular Surgery and Anesthesia; the Council on Cardiopulmonary, Perioperative, and Critical Care; the Council on Clinical Cardiology; the Council on Stroke. *Resuscitation* 2008, **79**(3):350-379.

- 40. Adrie C LI, Monchi M, Cariou A, Dhainaou JF, Spaulding C.: Postresuscitation disease after cardiac arrest: a sepsis-like syndrome? *Curr Opin Crit Care* 2004 Jun, 10(3):208-212.
- 41. Bro-Jeppesen J, Johansson PI, Kjaergaard J *et al*: Level of systemic inflammation and endothelial injury is associated with cardiovascular dysfunction and vasopressor support in post-cardiac arrest patients. *Resuscitation* 2017, **121**:179-186.
- 42. Bro-Jeppesen J, Kjaergaard J, Wanscher M *et al*: Systemic Inflammatory Response and Potential Prognostic Implications After Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: A Substudy of the Target Temperature Management Trial. *Crit Care Med* 2015, 43(6):1223-1232.
- 43. Nolan JP, Sandroni C, Bottiger BW *et al*: European Resuscitation Council and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine guidelines 2021: post-resuscitation care. *Intensive Care Med* 2021, 47(4):369-421.
- Sandroni C, Cronberg T, Sekhon M: Brain injury after cardiac arrest: pathophysiology, treatment, and prognosis. *Intensive Care Med* 2021, 47(12):1393-1414.
- 45. Nolan JP, Sandroni C, Böttiger BW *et al*: European Resuscitation Council and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine Guidelines 2021: Post-resuscitation care. *Resuscitation* 2021, 161:220-269.
- Callaway CW, Donnino MW, Fink EL *et al*: Part 8: Post-Cardiac Arrest Care: 2015 American Heart Association Guidelines Update for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care. *Circulation* 2015, 132(18 Suppl 2):S465-482.
- Hirsch KG, Abella BS, Amorim E et al: Critical Care Management of Patients After Cardiac Arrest: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association and Neurocritical Care Society. Circulation 2024, 149(2):e168e200.
- 48. Kilgannon JH, Jones AE, Parrillo JE *et al*: **Relationship between supranormal** oxygen tension and outcome after resuscitation from cardiac arrest. *Circulation* 2011, **123**(23):2717-2722.
- 49. Roberts BW, Kilgannon JH, Hunter BR *et al*: Association Between Early Hyperoxia Exposure After Resuscitation From Cardiac Arrest and Neurological Disability: Prospective Multicenter Protocol-Directed Cohort Study. *Circulation* 2018, **137**(20):2114-2124.
- 50. Okuma Y, Becker LB, Hayashida K *et al*: Effects of Post-Resuscitation Normoxic Therapy on Oxygen-Sensitive Oxidative Stress in a Rat Model of Cardiac Arrest. J Am Heart Assoc 2021, **10**(7):e018773.
- 51. Alva R, Mirza M, Baiton A *et al*: **Oxygen toxicity: cellular mechanisms in normobaric hyperoxia**. *Cell Biol Toxicol* 2023, **39**(1):111-143.
- Johnston AJ, Steiner LA, Gupta AK, Menon DK: Cerebral oxygen vasoreactivity and cerebral tissue oxygen reactivity. Br J Anaesth 2003, 90(6):774-786.
- 53. Panchal AR, Bartos JA, Cabañas JG *et al*: **Part 3**: **Adult Basic and Advanced Life Support: 2020 American Heart Association Guidelines for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care**. *Circulation* 2020, **142**(16_suppl_2):S366-s468.

- 54. Schmidt H, Kjaergaard J, Hassager C *et al*: **Oxygen Targets in Comatose Survivors of Cardiac Arrest**. *N Engl J Med* 2022, **387**(16):1467-1476.
- 55. Curley G, Laffey JG, Kavanagh BP: **Bench-to-bedside review: carbon dioxide**. *Crit Care* 2010, **14**(2):220.
- 56. Sundgreen C, Larsen FS, Herzog TM, Knudsen GM, Boesgaard S, Aldershvile J: Autoregulation of cerebral blood flow in patients resuscitated from cardiac arrest. *Stroke* 2001, **32**(1):128-132.
- 57. Eastwood G, Nichol AD, Hodgson C *et al*: **Mild Hypercapnia or Normocapnia after Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest**. *N Engl J Med* 2023, **389**(1):45-57.
- 58. Vaahersalo J, Bendel S, Reinikainen M *et al*: Arterial blood gas tensions after resuscitation from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: associations with long-term neurologic outcome. *Crit Care Med* 2014, **42**(6):1463-1470.
- 59. Schneider AG, Eastwood GM, Bellomo R *et al*: Arterial carbon dioxide tension and outcome in patients admitted to the intensive care unit after cardiac arrest. *Resuscitation* 2013, **84**(7):927-934.
- 60. Dragancea I, Rundgren M, Englund E, Friberg H, Cronberg T: **The influence of induced hypothermia and delayed prognostication on the mode of death after cardiac arrest**. *Resuscitation* 2013, **84**(3):337-342.
- 61. Oksanen T, Skrifvars M, Wilkman E, Tierala I, Pettilä V, Varpula T: **Postresuscitation hemodynamics during therapeutic hypothermia after outof-hospital cardiac arrest with ventricular fibrillation: a retrospective study**. *Resuscitation* 2014, **85**(8):1018-1024.
- 62. Uray T, Lamade A, Elmer J *et al*: **Phenotyping Cardiac Arrest: Bench and Bedside Characterization of Brain and Heart Injury Based on Etiology**. *Crit Care Med* 2018, **46**(6):e508-e515.
- 63. Patterson T, Perkins GD, Hassan Y *et al*: **Temporal Trends in Identification**, **Management, and Clinical Outcomes After Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: Insights From the Myocardial Ischaemia National Audit Project Database**. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv* 2018, **11**(6):e005346.
- 64. Perman SM, Elmer J, Maciel CB *et al*: **2023 American Heart Association Focused Update on Adult Advanced Cardiovascular Life Support: An Update to the American Heart Association Guidelines for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care**. *Circulation* 2024, **149**(5):e254-e273.
- 65. Bavry AA, Kumbhani DJ, Rassi AN, Bhatt DL, Askari AT: **Benefit of early** invasive therapy in acute coronary syndromes: a meta-analysis of contemporary randomized clinical trials. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2006, **48**(7):1319-1325.
- 66. Lemkes JS, Janssens GN, van der Hoeven NW *et al*: Coronary Angiography after Cardiac Arrest without ST-Segment Elevation. N Engl J Med 2019, 380(15):1397-1407.
- 67. Desch S, Freund A, Akin I *et al*: Angiography after Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest without ST-Segment Elevation. *N Engl J Med* 2021, 385(27):2544-2553.
- 68. McGuigan PJ, Giallongo E, Blackwood B *et al*: The effect of blood pressure on mortality following out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: a retrospective cohort study of the United Kingdom Intensive Care National Audit and Research Centre database. *Crit Care* 2023, **27**(1):4.

- 69. Young MN, Hollenbeck RD, Pollock JS *et al*: Higher achieved mean arterial pressure during therapeutic hypothermia is not associated with neurologically intact survival following cardiac arrest. *Resuscitation* 2015, **88**:158-164.
- 70. Ameloot K, Meex I, Genbrugge C *et al*: **Hemodynamic targets during therapeutic hypothermia after cardiac arrest: A prospective observational study**. *Resuscitation* 2015, **91**:56-62.
- 71. Beylin ME, Perman SM, Abella BS *et al*: **Higher mean arterial pressure with** or without vasoactive agents is associated with increased survival and better neurological outcomes in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest. *Intensive Care Med* 2013, **39**(11):1981-1988.
- 72. Bro-Jeppesen J, Annborn M, Hassager C *et al*: **Hemodynamics and vasopressor support during targeted temperature management at 33°C Versus 36°C after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: a post hoc study of the target temperature management trial***. *Crit Care Med* 2015, **43**(2):318-327.
- 73. Huang CH, Tsai MS, Ong HN *et al*: Association of hemodynamic variables with in-hospital mortality and favorable neurological outcomes in post-cardiac arrest care with targeted temperature management. *Resuscitation* 2017, **120**:146-152.
- 74. Laurikkala J, Wilkman E, Pettilä V *et al*: Mean arterial pressure and vasopressor load after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: Associations with one-year neurologic outcome. *Resuscitation* 2016, **105**:116-122.
- 75. Russo JJ, Di Santo P, Simard T *et al*: **Optimal mean arterial pressure in comatose survivors of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: An analysis of area below blood pressure thresholds**. *Resuscitation* 2018, **128**:175-180.
- 76. Trzeciak S, Jones AE, Kilgannon JH *et al*: **Significance of arterial hypotension after resuscitation from cardiac arrest**. *Crit Care Med* 2009, **37**(11):2895-2903; quiz 2904.
- 77. Niemelä V, Siddiqui F, Ameloot K *et al*: **Higher versus lower blood pressure targets after cardiac arrest: Systematic review with individual patient data meta-analysis**. *Resuscitation* 2023, **189**:109862.
- 78. Kartal A, Robba C, Helmy A, Wolf S, Aries MJH: How to Define and Meet Blood Pressure Targets After Traumatic Brain Injury: A Narrative Review. Neurocrit Care 2024, 41(2):369-385.
- 79. Ameloot K, Genbrugge C, Meex I *et al*: An observational near-infrared spectroscopy study on cerebral autoregulation in post-cardiac arrest patients: time to drop 'one-size-fits-all' hemodynamic targets? *Resuscitation* 2015, **90**:121-126.
- 80. Sekhon MS, Gooderham P, Menon DK *et al*: **The Burden of Brain Hypoxia and Optimal Mean Arterial Pressure in Patients With Hypoxic Ischemic Brain Injury After Cardiac Arrest**. *Crit Care Med* 2019, **47**(7):960-969.
- Ameloot K, De Deyne C, Eertmans W et al: Early goal-directed haemodynamic optimization of cerebral oxygenation in comatose survivors after cardiac arrest: the Neuroprotect post-cardiac arrest trial. Eur Heart J 2019, 40(22):1804-1814.

- 82. Jakkula P, Pettila V, Skrifvars MB *et al*: **Targeting low-normal or high-normal mean arterial pressure after cardiac arrest and resuscitation: a randomised pilot trial**. *Intensive Care Med* 2018, **44**(12):2091-2101.
- 83. Nolan JP, Neumar RW, Adrie C *et al*: **Post-cardiac arrest syndrome**: epidemiology, pathophysiology, treatment, and prognostication. A Scientific Statement from the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation; the American Heart Association Emergency Cardiovascular Care Committee; the Council on Cardiovascular Surgery and Anesthesia; the Council on Cardiopulmonary, Perioperative, and Critical Care; the Council on Clinical Cardiology; the Council on Stroke. *Resuscitation* 2008, **79**(3):350-379.
- 84. Witten L, Gardner R, Holmberg MJ *et al*: **Reasons for death in patients successfully resuscitated from out-of-hospital and in-hospital cardiac arrest**. *Resuscitation* 2019, **136**:93-99.
- Laver S, Farrow C, Turner D, Nolan J: Mode of death after admission to an intensive care unit following cardiac arrest. *Intensive Care Med* 2004, 30(11):2126-2128.
- 86. Buunk G, van der Hoeven JG, Meinders AE: Cerebral blood flow after cardiac arrest. *Neth J Med* 2000, **57**(3):106-112.
- 87. Neumar RW: **Molecular mechanisms of ischemic neuronal injury**. *Ann Emerg Med* 2000, **36**(5):483-506.
- 88. Dreier JP: The role of spreading depression, spreading depolarization and spreading ischemia in neurological disease. *Nat Med* 2011, **17**(4):439-447.
- Sekhon MS, Ainslie PN, Griesdale DE: Clinical pathophysiology of hypoxic ischemic brain injury after cardiac arrest: a "two-hit" model. Crit Care 2017, 21(1):90.
- 90. Pana R, Hornby L, Shemie SD, Dhanani S, Teitelbaum J: **Time to loss of brain function and activity during circulatory arrest**. *J Crit Care* 2016, **34**:77-83.
- 91. Aminoff MJ, Scheinman MM, Griffin JC, Herre JM: Electrocerebral accompaniments of syncope associated with malignant ventricular arrhythmias. *Ann Intern Med* 1988, **108**(6):791-796.
- 92. Lybeck A, Friberg H, Aneman A *et al*: **Prognostic significance of clinical** seizures after cardiac arrest and target temperature management. *Resuscitation* 2017, **114**:146-151.
- 93. Backman S, Westhall E, Dragancea I *et al*: Electroencephalographic characteristics of status epilepticus after cardiac arrest. *Clin Neurophysiol* 2017, **128**(4):681-688.
- 94. Seder DB, Sunde K, Rubertsson S *et al*: Neurologic outcomes and postresuscitation care of patients with myoclonus following cardiac arrest. *Crit Care Med* 2015, **43**(5):965-972.
- 95. van Zijl JC, Beudel M, vd Hoeven HJ, Lange F, Tijssen MA, Elting JW: Electroencephalographic Findings in Posthypoxic Myoclonus. J Intensive Care Med 2016, 31(4):270-275.
- 96. Wijdicks EF, Hijdra A, Young GB, Bassetti CL, Wiebe S: **Practice parameter:** prediction of outcome in comatose survivors after cardiopulmonary resuscitation (an evidence-based review): report of the Quality Standards Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology* 2006, 67(2):203-210.

- 97. Elmer J, Rittenberger JC, Faro J *et al*: **Clinically distinct** electroencephalographic phenotypes of early myoclonus after cardiac arrest. *Ann Neurol* 2016, **80**(2):175-184.
- 98. Lance JW, Adams RD: The syndrome of intention or action myoclonus as a sequel to hypoxic encephalopathy. *Brain* 1963, **86**:111-136.
- 99. Aicua Rapun I, Novy J, Solari D, Oddo M, Rossetti AO: Early Lance-Adams syndrome after cardiac arrest: Prevalence, time to return to awareness, and outcome in a large cohort. *Resuscitation* 2017, **115**:169-172.
- 100. Ruijter BJ, Keijzer HM, Tjepkema-Cloostermans MC *et al*: **Treating Rhythmic** and Periodic EEG Patterns in Comatose Survivors of Cardiac Arrest. *N Engl J Med* 2022, **386**(8):724-734.
- 101. Oddo M, Crippa IA, Mehta S *et al*: **Optimizing sedation in patients with acute brain injury**. *Crit Care* 2016, **20**(1):128.
- 102. Dunn LK, Naik BI, Nemergut EC, Durieux ME: **Post-Craniotomy Pain** Management: Beyond Opioids. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep* 2016, 16(10):93.
- 103. Obermeyer Z, Samra JK, Mullainathan S: Individual differences in normal body temperature: longitudinal big data analysis of patient records. *Bmj* 2017, 359:j5468.
- 104. Dai L, Zeng R: Fever. In: *Handbook of Clinical Diagnostics*. Edited by Wan X-H, Zeng R. Singapore: Springer Singapore; 2020: 3-7.
- 105. Bernard SA, Gray TW, Buist MD et al: Treatment of comatose survivors of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest with induced hypothermia. N Engl J Med 2002, 346(8):557-563.
- 106. Mild therapeutic hypothermia to improve the neurologic outcome after cardiac arrest. *N Engl J Med* 2002, **346**(8):549-556.
- 107. Nielsen N, Wetterslev J, Cronberg T et al: Targeted temperature management at 33°C versus 36°C after cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med 2013, 369(23):2197-2206.
- 108. Dankiewicz J, Cronberg T, Lilja G *et al*: Hypothermia versus Normothermia after Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest. *N Engl J Med* 2021, **384**(24):2283-2294.
- 109. Perman SM, Bartos JA, Del Rios M *et al*: **Temperature Management for Comatose Adult Survivors of Cardiac Arrest: A Science Advisory From the American Heart Association**. *Circulation* 2023, **148**(12):982-988.
- Sandroni C, Nolan JP, Andersen LW et al: ERC-ESICM guidelines on temperature control after cardiac arrest in adults. Intensive Care Med 2022, 48(3):261-269.
- 111. Behringer W, Böttiger BW, Biasucci DG *et al*: **Temperature control after** successful resuscitation from cardiac arrest in adults: a joint statement from the European Society for Emergency Medicine (EUSEM) and the European Society of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care (ESAIC). *Eur J Emerg Med* 2024, **31**(2):86-89.
- 112. Devlin JW, Skrobik Y, Gélinas C et al: Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Prevention and Management of Pain, Agitation/Sedation, Delirium, Immobility, and Sleep Disruption in Adult Patients in the ICU. Crit Care Med 2018, 46(9):e825-e873.
- 113. Sosnowski K, Lin F, Chaboyer W, Ranse K, Heffernan A, Mitchell M: The effect of the ABCDE/ABCDEF bundle on delirium, functional outcomes, and

quality of life in critically ill patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Nurs Stud* 2023, **138**:104410.

- 114. Aitken LM, Kydonaki K, Blackwood B *et al*: **Inconsistent relationship between depth of sedation and intensive care outcome: systematic review and metaanalysis**. *Thorax* 2021, **76**(11):1089-1098.
- 115. Yu A, Teitelbaum J, Scott J *et al*: **Evaluating pain, sedation, and delirium in the** neurologically critically ill-feasibility and reliability of standardized tools: a multi-institutional study. *Crit Care Med* 2013, **41**(8):2002-2007.
- 116. Robinson BR, Berube M, Barr J, Riker R, Gélinas C: Psychometric analysis of subjective sedation scales in critically ill adults. *Crit Care Med* 2013, 41(9 Suppl 1):S16-29.
- 117. Ceric A, Holgersson J, May TL *et al*: Effect of level of sedation on outcomes in critically ill adult patients: a systematic review of clinical trials with metaanalysis and trial sequential analysis. *EClinicalMedicine* 2024, **71**:102569.
- 118. Aitken LM, Bucknall T, Kent B, Mitchell M, Burmeister E, Keogh SJ: Protocoldirected sedation versus non-protocol-directed sedation to reduce duration of mechanical ventilation in mechanically ventilated intensive care patients. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2015, 1:Cd009771.
- 119. Aitken LM, Bucknall T, Kent B, Mitchell M, Burmeister E, Keogh SJ: **Protocoldirected sedation versus non-protocol-directed sedation in mechanically ventilated intensive care adults and children**. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2018, **11**(11):Cd009771.
- 120. Olsen HT, Nedergaard HK, Strøm T et al: Nonsedation or Light Sedation in Critically III, Mechanically Ventilated Patients. N Engl J Med 2020, 382(12):1103-1111.
- 121. Robba C, Graziano F, Rebora P et al: Intracranial pressure monitoring in patients with acute brain injury in the intensive care unit (SYNAPSE-ICU): an international, prospective observational cohort study. Lancet Neurol 2021, 20(7):548-558.
- 122. Le Roux P, Menon DK, Citerio G *et al*: Consensus summary statement of the International Multidisciplinary Consensus Conference on Multimodality Monitoring in Neurocritical Care: a statement for healthcare professionals from the Neurocritical Care Society and the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. *Neurocrit Care* 2014, 21 Suppl 2(Suppl 2):S1-26.
- 123. Perkins GD, Neumar R, Hsu CH *et al*: **Improving Outcomes After Post-Cardiac Arrest Brain Injury: A Scientific Statement From the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation**. *Resuscitation* 2024, **201**:110196.
- 124. Opdenakker O, Vanstraelen A, De Sloovere V, Meyfroidt G: Sedatives in neurocritical care: an update on pharmacological agents and modes of sedation. *Curr Opin Crit Care* 2019, **25**(2):97-104.
- 125. Dolmans RGF, Nahed BV, Robertson FC, Peul WC, Rosenthal ES, Broekman MLD: Practice-Pattern Variation in Sedation of Neurotrauma Patients in the Intensive Care Unit: An International Survey. J Intensive Care Med 2023, 38(12):1143-1150.
- 126. Dolmans RGF, Barber J, Foreman B *et al*: Sedation Intensity in Patients with Moderate to Severe Traumatic Brain Injury in the Intensive Care Unit: A TRACK-TBI Cohort Study. *Neurocrit Care* 2024.

- 127. Skoglund K, Enblad P, Marklund N: Monitoring and sedation differences in the management of severe head injury and subarachnoid hemorrhage among neurocritical care centers. *J Neurosci Nurs* 2013, **45**(6):360-368.
- 128. Carney N, Totten AM, O'Reilly C et al: Guidelines for the Management of Severe Traumatic Brain Injury, Fourth Edition. Neurosurgery 2017, 80(1):6-15.
- 129. Powers WJ, Rabinstein AA, Ackerson T *et al*: Guidelines for the Early Management of Patients With Acute Ischemic Stroke: 2019 Update to the 2018 Guidelines for the Early Management of Acute Ischemic Stroke: A Guideline for Healthcare Professionals From the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke* 2019, 50(12):e344-e418.
- 130. Hausburg MA, Banton KL, Roman PE *et al*: Effects of propofol on ischemiareperfusion and traumatic brain injury. *J Crit Care* 2020, **56**:281-287.
- 131. Vossler DG, Bainbridge JL, Boggs JG et al: Treatment of Refractory Convulsive Status Epilepticus: A Comprehensive Review by the American Epilepsy Society Treatments Committee. Epilepsy Curr 2020, 20(5):245-264.
- 132. Steyerberg EW, Wiegers E, Sewalt C *et al*: Case-mix, care pathways, and outcomes in patients with traumatic brain injury in CENTER-TBI: a European prospective, multicentre, longitudinal, cohort study. *Lancet Neurol* 2019, **18**(10):923-934.
- 133. Badri S, Chen J, Barber J *et al*: Mortality and long-term functional outcome associated with intracranial pressure after traumatic brain injury. *Intensive Care Medicine* 2012, **38**(11):1800-1809.
- 134. Balestreri M, Czosnyka M, Hutchinson P *et al*: **Impact of intracranial pressure** and cerebral perfusion pressure on severe disability and mortality after head injury. *Neurocrit Care* 2006, 4(1):8-13.
- Jessen NA, Munk AS, Lundgaard I, Nedergaard M: The Glymphatic System: A Beginner's Guide. *Neurochem Res* 2015, 40(12):2583-2599.
- 136. Stamatakis EA, Adapa RM, Absalom AR, Menon DK: Changes in resting neural connectivity during propofol sedation. *PLoS One* 2010, **5**(12):e14224.
- 137. Murphy M, Bruno MA, Riedner BA *et al*: **Propofol anesthesia and sleep: a** high-density EEG study. *Sleep* 2011, **34**(3):283-291a.
- Jessen NA MA, Lundgaard I, Nedergaard M.: The Glymphatic System: A Beginner's Guide. *Neurochem Res* 2015, 40(12):2583–2599.
- 139. Stamatakis EA AR, Absalom AR, Menon DK: Changes in Resting Neural Connectivity during Propofol Sedation. *PLoS ONE* 2010, 5(12):e14224.
- 140. Brophy GM, Bell R, Claassen J *et al*: **Guidelines for the evaluation and management of status epilepticus**. *Neurocrit Care* 2012, **17**(1):3-23.
- 141. Meierkord H, Boon P, Engelsen B *et al*: **EFNS guideline on the management of** status epilepticus in adults. *Eur J Neurol* 2010, **17**(3):348-355.
- 142. Perkins GD, Neumar R, Hsu CH *et al*: **Improving Outcomes After Post-Cardiac Arrest Brain Injury: A Scientific Statement From the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation**. *Resuscitation* 2024, **201**:110196.
- 143. Bro-Jeppesen J, Kjaergaard J, Stammet P *et al*: **Predictive value of interleukin-6** in post-cardiac arrest patients treated with targeted temperature management at 33 °C or 36 °C. *Resuscitation* 2016, **98**:1-8.

- 144. Hutchens MP, Memtsoudis S, Sadovnikoff N: **Propofol for sedation in neurointensive care**. *Neurocrit Care* 2006, **4**(1):54-62.
- 145. Cremer OL, Moons KG, Bouman EA, Kruijswijk JE, de Smet AM, Kalkman CJ: Long-term propofol infusion and cardiac failure in adult head-injured patients. *Lancet* 2001, 357(9250):117-118.
- 146. Otterspoor LC, Kalkman CJ, Cremer OL: Update on the propofol infusion syndrome in ICU management of patients with head injury. *Curr Opin Anaesthesiol* 2008, **21**(5):544-551.
- 147. Kienitz R, Kay L, Beuchat I *et al*: Benzodiazepines in the Management of Seizures and Status Epilepticus: A Review of Routes of Delivery, Pharmacokinetics, Efficacy, and Tolerability. *CNS Drugs* 2022, 36(9):951-975.
- 148. Garcia R, Salluh JIF, Andrade TR *et al*: A systematic review and meta-analysis of propofol versus midazolam sedation in adult intensive care (ICU) patients. *J Crit Care* 2021, **64**:91-99.
- 149. Rossetti AO, Lowenstein DH: Management of refractory status epilepticus in adults: still more questions than answers. *Lancet Neurol* 2011, **10**(10):922-930.
- 150. Bratton SL, Chestnut RM, Ghajar J *et al*: Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury. XI. Anesthetics, analgesics, and sedatives. J Neurotrauma 2007, 24 Suppl 1:S71-76.
- 151. Heybati K, Zhou F, Ali S *et al*: **Outcomes of dexmedetomidine versus propofol** sedation in critically ill adults requiring mechanical ventilation: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Br J Anaesth* 2022, **129**(4):515-526.
- 152. Lewis K, Alshamsi F, Carayannopoulos KL *et al*: **Dexmedetomidine vs other** sedatives in critically ill mechanically ventilated adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Intensive Care Med* 2022, **48**(7):811-840.
- 153. Tsaousi GG, Lamperti M, Bilotta F: Role of Dexmedetomidine for Sedation in Neurocritical Care Patients: A Qualitative Systematic Review and Metaanalysis of Current Evidence. *Clin Neuropharmacol* 2016, **39**(3):144-151.
- 154. Gatica S, Aravena C, Prado Y *et al*: **Appraisal of the Neuroprotective Effect of Dexmedetomidine: A Meta-Analysis**. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 2023, **1408**:163-181.
- 155. James ML, Olson DM, Graffagnino C: A pilot study of cerebral and haemodynamic physiological changes during sedation with dexmedetomidine or propofol in patients with acute brain injury. Anaesth Intensive Care 2012, 40(6):949-957.
- 156. Wang X, Ding X, Tong Y *et al*: Ketamine does not increase intracranial pressure compared with opioids: meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Anesth* 2014, **28**(6):821-827.
- 157. Sharif S, Munshi L, Burry L *et al*: Ketamine sedation in the intensive care unit: a survey of Canadian intensivists. *Can J Anaesth* 2024, **71**(1):118-126.
- 158. Casamento AJ, Serpa Neto A, Young M et al: A Phase II Cluster-Crossover Randomized Trial of Fentanyl versus Morphine for Analgosedation in Mechanically Ventilated Patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2021, 204(11):1286-1294.

- 159. Wiener J, McIntyre A, Janzen S, Mirkowski M, MacKenzie HM, Teasell R: Opioids and cerebral physiology in the acute management of traumatic brain injury: a systematic review. Brain Inj 2019, 33(5):559-566.
- 160. Bösel J, Purrucker JC, Nowak F et al: Volatile isoflurane sedation in cerebrovascular intensive care patients using AnaConDa(®): effects on cerebral oxygenation, circulation, and pressure. Intensive Care Med 2012, 38(12):1955-1964.
- 161. Purrucker JC, Renzland J, Uhlmann L *et al*: Volatile sedation with sevoflurane in intensive care patients with acute stroke or subarachnoid haemorrhage using AnaConDa®: an observational study. *Br J Anaesth* 2015, 114(6):934-943.
- 162. Villa F, Iacca C, Molinari AF *et al*: **Inhalation versus endovenous sedation in subarachnoid hemorrhage patients: effects on regional cerebral blood flow**. *Crit Care Med* 2012, **40**(10):2797-2804.
- 163. Todd MM, Weeks J: Comparative effects of propofol, pentobarbital, and isoflurane on cerebral blood flow and blood volume. *J Neurosurg Anesthesiol* 1996, **8**(4):296-303.
- Slupe AM, Kirsch JR: Effects of anesthesia on cerebral blood flow, metabolism, and neuroprotection. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2018, 38(12):2192-2208.
- 165. Parlow S, Lepage-Ratte MF, Jung RG *et al*: Inhaled anaesthesia compared with conventional sedation in post cardiac arrest patients undergoing temperature control: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Resuscitation* 2022, **176**:74-79.
- 166. Tse AHW, Ling L, Lee A, Joynt GM: Altered Pharmacokinetics in Prolonged Infusions of Sedatives and Analgesics Among Adult Critically III Patients: A Systematic Review. Clin Ther 2018, 40(9):1598-1615.e1592.
- 167. Šunjić KM, Webb AC, Šunjić I, Palà Creus M, Folse SL: **Pharmacokinetic and Other Considerations for Drug Therapy During Targeted Temperature Management**. *Crit Care Med* 2015, **43**(10):2228-2238.
- 168. Tortorici MA, Kochanek PM, Poloyac SM: Effects of hypothermia on drug disposition, metabolism, and response: A focus of hypothermia-mediated alterations on the cytochrome P450 enzyme system. Crit Care Med 2007, 35(9):2196-2204.
- 169. Fritz HG, Holzmayr M, Walter B, Moeritz KU, Lupp A, Bauer R: **The effect of** mild hypothermia on plasma fentanyl concentration and biotransformation in juvenile pigs. *Anesth Analg* 2005, **100**(4):996-1002.
- 170. Bjelland TW, Klepstad P, Haugen BO, Nilsen T, Dale O: Effects of hypothermia on the disposition of morphine, midazolam, fentanyl, and propofol in intensive care unit patients. *Drug Metab Dispos* 2013, **41**(1):214-223.
- 171. van den Broek MP, Groenendaal F, Egberts AC, Rademaker CM: Effects of hypothermia on pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics: a systematic review of preclinical and clinical studies. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 2010, **49**(5):277-294.
- 172. Nutma S, Tjepkema-Cloostermans MC, Ruijter BJ *et al*: Effects of targeted temperature management at 33 °C vs. 36 °C on comatose patients after cardiac arrest stratified by the severity of encephalopathy. *Resuscitation* 2022, 173:147-153.

- 173. Elmer J, Coppler PJ, May TL *et al*: Unsupervised learning of early post-arrest brain injury phenotypes. *Resuscitation* 2020, **153**:154-160.
- 174. Callaway CW, Coppler PJ, Faro J *et al*: Association of Initial Illness Severity and Outcomes After Cardiac Arrest With Targeted Temperature Management at 36 °C or 33 °C. JAMA Netw Open 2020, 3(7):e208215.
- 175. Jørgensen EO, Holm S: The natural course of neurological recovery following cardiopulmonary resuscitation. *Resuscitation* 1998, **36**(2):111-122.
- 176. Jørgensen EO, Holm S: The course of circulatory and cerebral recovery after circulatory arrest: influence of pre-arrest, arrest and post-arrest factors. *Resuscitation* 1999, **42**(3):173-182.
- 177. Lee DH, Cho YS, Lee BK *et al*: Late Awakening Is Common in Settings Without Withdrawal of Life-Sustaining Therapy in Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest Survivors Who Undergo Targeted Temperature Management. *Crit Care Med* 2022, **50**(2):235-244.
- 178. Rey A, Rossetti AO, Miroz JP, Eckert P, Oddo M: Late Awakening in Survivors of Postanoxic Coma: Early Neurophysiologic Predictors and Association With ICU and Long-Term Neurologic Recovery. Crit Care Med 2019, 47(1):85-92.
- 179. Lybeck A, Cronberg T, Aneman A et al: Time to awakening after cardiac arrest and the association with target temperature management. *Resuscitation* 2018, 126:166-171.
- 180. Paul M, Bougouin W, Geri G et al: Delayed awakening after cardiac arrest: prevalence and risk factors in the Parisian registry. Intensive Care Med 2016, 42(7):1128-1136.
- 181. Sandroni C, D'Arrigo S, Callaway CW *et al*: The rate of brain death and organ donation in patients resuscitated from cardiac arrest: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Intensive Care Med* 2016, **42**(11):1661-1671.
- 182. Sandroni C, Cavallaro F, Callaway CW *et al*: **Predictors of poor neurological** outcome in adult comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Part 1: patients not treated with therapeutic hypothermia. *Resuscitation* 2013, **84**(10):1310-1323.
- 183. Haywood K, Whitehead L, Nadkarni VM *et al*: COSCA (Core Outcome Set for Cardiac Arrest) in Adults: An Advisory Statement From the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation. *Circulation* 2018, **137**(22):e783-e801.
- 184. Wilson JT, Pettigrew LE, Teasdale GM: Structured interviews for the Glasgow Outcome Scale and the extended Glasgow Outcome Scale: guidelines for their use. J Neurotrauma 1998, 15(8):573-585.
- 185. Edgren E, Hedstrand U, Kelsey S, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Safar P: Assessment of neurological prognosis in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest. BRCT I Study Group. Lancet 1994, 343(8905):1055-1059.
- 186. Mak M, Moulaert VR, Pijls RW, Verbunt JA: Measuring outcome after cardiac arrest: construct validity of Cerebral Performance Category. *Resuscitation* 2016, 100:6-10.
- 187. Rittenberger JC, Raina K, Holm MB, Kim YJ, Callaway CW: Association between Cerebral Performance Category, Modified Rankin Scale, and discharge disposition after cardiac arrest. *Resuscitation* 2011, 82(8):1036-1040.

- 188. Sandroni C, Cavallaro F, Callaway CW *et al*: **Predictors of poor neurological outcome in adult comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Part 2: Patients treated with therapeutic hypothermia**. *Resuscitation* 2013, **84**(10):1324-1338.
- 189. Rangaraju S, Haussen D, Nogueira RG, Nahab F, Frankel M: Comparison of 3-Month Stroke Disability and Quality of Life across Modified Rankin Scale Categories. Interv Neurol 2017, 6(1-2):36-41.
- 190. Johansson A, Ahlner J, Lennborn U et al: Quantitation of seven sedative and analgesic drugs in whole blood from intensive care patients using liquid chromatography mass spectrometry. *Toxicologie Analytique et Clinique* 2021, 33(4):327-337.
- 191. da Costa BR, Juni P: Systematic reviews and meta-analyses of randomized trials: principles and pitfalls. *Eur Heart J* 2014, **35**(47):3336-3345.
- 192. Imberger G TK, Gluud C, Wetterslev J: False-positive findings in Cochrane meta-analyses with and without application of trial sequential analysis: an empirical review. *BMJ Open* 2016 Aug 12, **6**(8):e011890.
- 193. Wetterslev J, Thorlund K, Brok J, Gluud C: **Trial sequential analysis may** establish when firm evidence is reached in cumulative meta-analysis. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2008, **61**(1):64-75.
- 194. Wetterslev J, Jakobsen JC, Gluud C: **Trial Sequential Analysis in systematic** reviews with meta-analysis. *BMC Med Res Methodol* 2017, **17**(1):39.
- 195. Brok J, Thorlund K, Gluud C, Wetterslev J: **Trial sequential analysis reveals** insufficient information size and potentially false positive results in many meta-analyses. J Clin Epidemiol 2008, **61**(8):763-769.
- 196. Association WM: World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. *JAMA* 2013 Nov 27, **310**(20):2191-2194.
- 197. Paul M, Bougouin W, Dumas F *et al*: **Comparison of two sedation regimens during targeted temperature management after cardiac arrest**. *Resuscitation* 2018, **128**:204-210.
- 198. Bjelland TW, Dale O, Kaisen K *et al*: **Propofol and remifentanil versus midazolam and fentanyl for sedation during therapeutic hypothermia after cardiac arrest: a randomised trial**. *Intensive Care Med* 2012, **38**(6):959-967.
- 199. Legriel S, Bruneel F, Sediri H *et al*: **Early EEG monitoring for detecting postanoxic status epilepticus during therapeutic hypothermia: a pilot study**. *Neurocrit Care* 2009, **11**(3):338-344.
- 200. Sandroni C, D'Arrigo S, Cacciola S *et al*: **Prediction of poor neurological outcome in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: a systematic review**. *Intensive Care Med* 2020, **46**(10):1803-1851.
- 201. Lee DH, Lee BK, Cho YS *et al*: High heat generation is associated with good neurologic outcome in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survivors underwent targeted temperature management at 33 °C. *Resuscitation* 2020, 153:187-194.
- 202. Sessler DI: Defeating normal thermoregulatory defenses: induction of therapeutic hypothermia. *Stroke* 2009, **40**(11):e614-621.
- 203. Elmer J, He Z, May T *et al*: **Precision Care in Cardiac Arrest: ICECAP** (**PRECICECAP**) **Study Protocol and Informatics Approach**. *Neurocrit Care* 2022, **37**(Suppl 2):237-247.

- 204. Lim SL, Myint MZ, Woo KL *et al*: **Multi-Modal Assessment of Cerebral Hemodynamics in Resuscitated Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest Patients: A Case-Series**. *Life (Basel)* 2024, **14**(9).
- 205. Bjelland TW, Klepstad P, Haugen BO, Nilsen T, Salvesen O, Dale O: Concentrations of remifentanil, propofol, fentanyl, and midazolam during rewarming from therapeutic hypothermia. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2014, 58(6):709-715.
- 206. Jakobsen JC, Wetterslev J, Winkel P, Lange T, Gluud C: **Thresholds for** statistical and clinical significance in systematic reviews with meta-analytic methods. *BMC Medical Research Methodology* 2014, **14**(1):120.

ORIGINAL WORK

Cardiac Arrest Treatment Center Differences in Sedation and Analgesia Dosing During Targeted Temperature Management



© 2022 The Author(s)

Abstract

Background: Sedation and analgesia are recommended during targeted temperature management (TTM) after cardiac arrest, but there are few data to provide guidance on dosing to bedside clinicians. We evaluated differences in patient-level sedation and analgesia dosing in an international multicenter TTM trial to better characterize current practice and clinically important outcomes.

Methods: A total 950 patients in the international TTM trial were randomly assigned to a TTM of 33 °C or 36 °C after resuscitation from cardiac arrest in 36 intensive care units. We recorded cumulative doses of sedative and analgesic drugs at 12, 24, and 48 h and normalized to midazolam and fentanyl equivalents. We compared number of medications used, dosing, and titration among centers by using multivariable models, including common severity of illness factors. We also compared dosing with time to awakening, incidence of clinical seizures, and survival.

Results: A total of 614 patients at 18 centers were analyzed. Propofol (70%) and fentanyl (51%) were most frequently used. The average dosages of midazolam and fentanyl equivalents were 0.13 (0.07, 0.22) mg/kg/h and 1.16 (0.49, 1.81) μ g/kg/h, respectively. There were significant differences in number of medications (p < 0.001), average dosages (p < 0.001), and titration at all time points between centers (p < 0.001), and the outcomes of patients in these centers were associated with all parameters described in the multivariate analysis, except for a difference in the titration of sedatives between 12 and 24 h (p = 0.40). There were associations between higher dosing at 48 h (p = 0.003, odds ratio [OR] 1.75) and increased titration of analgesics between 24 and 48 h with awakening after 5 days (p < 0.001, OR > 100), and increased titration of sedatives between 24 and 48 h with a higher incidence of clinical seizures in the multivariate analysis (p = 0.04, OR 240). There were also significant associations between decreased titration of analgesics and survival at 6 months in the multivariate analysis (p = 0.048).

Conclusions: There is significant variation in choice of drug, dosing, and titration when providing sedation and analgesics between centers. Sedation and analgesia dosing and titration were associated with delayed awakening, incidence of clinical seizures, and survival, but the causal relation of these findings cannot be proven.

Keywords: Cardiac arrest, Target temperature management, Analgosedation, Sedation, Analgesia, Seizures

*Correspondence: ameldina.ceric@med.lu.se

¹ Division of Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Department

of Clinical Sciences Lund, Helsingborg Hospital, Lund University,

Svartbrödragränden 3, 251 87 Helsingborg, Sweden

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



Introduction

Cardiac arrest survivors undergo targeted temperature management (TTM) after resuscitation to reduce brain injury and improve the likelihood of a good functional


outcome. This period of critical care involves dozens of clinical decisions including ventilatory strategy, hemodynamic targets, vasopressor support, organ support, and the provision of sedation and analgesia [1, 2]. Sedation and analgesia, which are almost universally provided to patients on life support and are required when patients are receiving neuromuscular blockade (NMB), have effects on patient comfort but also on hemodynamics, blood flow to the brain, and duration of mechanical ventilation, and they may reduce the occurrence of seizures and shivering during TTM [3–6]. Furthermore, it is also known that TTM alters pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of most drugs including sedatives and analgesics [7-12]. Accumulation of these drugs delays awakening and confounds neurological prognostication [13]. Despite these important clinical effects, the optimal approach to analgosedation after cardiac arrest is not known.

Published guidelines give explicit recommendations on providing analgesia and sedation in the general medical and surgical intensive care unit (ICU) [14, 15], which includes frequent assessment of the level of arousal and the use of validated sedation scales. However, the postcardiac arrest pathophysiology makes applying those recommendations to this population problematic due to the effects of global brain injury, use of TTM, unstable hemodynamics, and interference with commonly used neuoprognositcation tools [16–20].

Determining best practices in sedation and analgesia after cardiac arrest begins with the knowledge of current standards of care. General protocols and practices to provide sedation and prevent shivering have been reported [21-26], but the specific medications, doses, and titration the individual patients receive in routine clinical practice are unknown. The main purpose of this study was to evaluate the average sedation and analgesia dosing adminstered to the individual patient cumulatively at 0-12, 12-24, and 24-48 h and titration between time points at 12-24 and 24-48 h between and within centers in a large international multicenter trial of temperature targets after cardiac arrest to characterize current practices. Secondly, we aimed to investigate clinically important outcomes that might be associated with that specific analgosedation pratices. We hypothesized there would be a significant variation in the specific analgosedation practices between and within centers and that this might be associated with the time to awakening, incidence of clinical seizures, or long-term survival.

Material and Methods

Patients

The TTM trial was an international, randomized, parallel group, assessor-blinded trial designed to evaluate outcome after TTM at either 33 °C (TTM33) or 36 °C (TTM36). The inclusion criteria of the TTM trial were patients 18 years of age or older who were unconscious (a score of < 8 on the Glasgow Coma Scale) on admission to the hospital after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest of presumed cardiac cause [27]. A center was defined as a study site in the TTM trial, i.e., an ICU, and it needed to be a high-volume center with percutaneous coronary intervention availability and the ability to provide TTM. Nine hundred fifty adult patients were enrolled from November 2010 to January 2013 within 4 h of return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC) at 36 ICUs in Europe and Australia. The 36 h of intervention consisted of achievement of target temperature, maintenance of target temperature, and rewarming to 37 °C. All patients were deeply sedated, endotracheally intubated, and mechanically ventilated. Survival at 6 months and good Cerebral Performance Category (CPC), defined as CPC 1 and 2, at 6 months were used in the analysis of this study. This study had ethical approval by the Regional Ethical Review Board Lund, Protocol 2009/6 Dnr 2009/324 (TTM Trial).

Sedation and Analgesia

Approaches to sedation and analgesia were not defined in the study protocol. Centers were instructed to follow standard local practices and provide similar treatment to both intervention groups. The protocol specified that sedation should be stopped after 36 h of therapy to allow for assessment of awakening, unless required for medical reasons. Cumulative doses of sedative and analgesic drugs administered to each individual patient were collected by the treating center after primary data collection was complete [28]. This included doses of propofol, fentanyl, midazolam, morphine, remifentanil, alfentanil, sufentanil, and dexmedetomidine administered between 0 and 12 h, 12 and 24 h, and 24 and 48 h and were reported as cumulative doses of each drug type at 12, 24, and 48 h. The sedation depth may be monitored using clinical sedation assessment. The Richmond Agitation and Sedation Scale and the Critical Care Pain Observation Tool are two well-established, validated, and reliable sedation scales [29-31]. The Richmond Agitation and Sedation Scale functions by observing the patient and testing responsiveness to auditory and physical stimuli and the scale ranges from -5 (unarousable), to 0 (alert and calm), to +4 (combative) [29, 30]. The Critical Care Pain Observation Tool evaluates facial expression, muscle tension, movement, and compliance with ventilated breath/vocalized pain, with a total score ranging from 0 to 8 [31].

Midazolam and Fentanyl Equivalents

Sedation and analgesia were separately normalized to midazolam and fentanyl equivalents. These conversions

were based on the best available clinical and laboratory studies (see Supplement Table 1) [32–38]. Propofol was changed to midazolam equivalents and averaged over each time course and weight (in kilograms). Morphine, remifentanil, sufentanil, and alfentanil were converted to fentanyl equivalents and averaged over each time course and weight (in kilograms). Dexmedetomidine was not included, as it was only used by one site for one patient, and because there is no standard approach to conversion to midazolam equivalents.

Awakening and Clinical Seizures

Awakening was defined as the first time the patient achieved a Glasgow Coma Scale motor subscore of 6. Level of consciousness was evaluated daily by using the Glasgow Coma Scale at all sites. Inclusion day was registered as day one, and late awakening was defined as a patient being awake after day five. Neuroprognostication according to study protocol was scheduled at 72 h after rewarming (108 h after ROSC) in patients who remained unconscious with strict criteria for withdrawal of life-sustaining therapy (WLST) [39]. We analyzed the number of patients who were awake within the first 48 h. Clinical seizure is defined as myoclonic or tonic–clonic seizures at any time point during the ICU stay.

Missing Data

Only patients with sedation and analgesia data available were used in the primary analyses. To ensure the center practices are represented in the analysis for the aim of this study, we excluded centers with data for less than ten patients. We described the difference between patients with and without recorded sedation and analgesia data available by using the Wilcoxon rank-sum test, χ^2 test, and Fisher's exact test.

Analysis

Cumulative dose of each medication was calculated for all patients and summarized across all centers at each time point. Propofol was converted to midazolam equivalents in mg/kg/h and analgesics were converted to fentanyl equivalents in μ g/kg/h, to be able to compare the dosing of all patients in the cohort. Continuous data are expressed as medians and interquartile ranges unless otherwise indicated.

We evaluated the number of sedative and analgesic medications using analysis of variance (ANOVA) to test for global differences between centers. To analyze the association between the use of two or more sedatives and treatment center with adjustment for baseline severity of illness, we created a multivariate model using the clinically important and design variables of the TTM trial (age, sex, witnessed arrest, shockable rhythm, time to ROSC, and shock on admission).

To adjust for baseline severity of illness, clinical factors potentially affecting the delivered dose equivalents of sedatives and analgesics were tested with a linear regression model including clinically important design variables and the target temperature of 36 °C at 12, 24, and 48 h. The center was then added to this model and the two models were compared using R^2 values and likelihood ratio testing.

Titration of sedation and analgesia was evaluated by using differences in patients' average hourly dosages between 12–24 h and 24–48 h. This was again evaluated with adjustment for baseline severity of illness using the clinically important, design variables, and the target temperature of 36 °C. The center was then added to this model and the two models were compared using likelihood ratio testing. Survival at 6 months was then added to the multivariate model to test the association of sedative and analgesia titration.

The association of sedation and analgesia dosing at 12, 24, and 48 h, on a "center" level, with late awakening and clinical seizures were evaluated using a hierarchical logistic regression model. To adjust for baseline severity of illness, clinically important and design variables of the TTM trial were added to the analyses.

The association of sedation and analgesia titration between 12–24 h and 24–48 h, on a "center" level, with late awakening and clinical seizures were evaluated using a hierarchical logistic regression model. To adjust for baseline severity of illness, clinically important, design variables of the TTM trial, and target temperature of 36 °C were added to the analyses.

Results

Among 36 centers, 21 participated in collecting sedation and analgesia data. Three centers enrolled less than ten patients and were excluded; therefore, nine patients were excluded. This left 18 centers with 614 patients to include in this study (see flowchart in Supplement Fig. 1). The proportion of patients enrolled in this study at each center ranged from 2 to 7% for 17 centers, and one center enrolled 26% of all patients. Fifteen centers out of 18 were university hospitals, and the other 3 centers were regional hospitals. One center and 163 (26%) patients were treated at a cardiac ICU and the others were treated at mixed ICUs. Most of the centers and patients (15 centers and 533 [87%] patients) used the Richmond Agitation-Sedation Scale. One center including 29 (4%) patients used Critical Care Pain Observation Tool. One center including 27 (4%) patients reported that no scale was used. One center including 29 (4%) patients did not report whether a sedation scale was used. Patient characteristics and the frequency of sedation and analgesic used are shown in Tables 1 and 2, respectively.

A total of 325 patients from 18 centers in the TTM trial did not have sedation data or had less than ten patients at each center recorded and were not part of the cohort. These patients were less likely to have a good CPC at 180 days (Supplement Table 2).

Number of Sedatives and Analgesia Medications Used

A total of 605 (99%), 607 (99%), and 607 (99%) patients had received a sedative at 12, 24, and 48 h, respectively, whereas 519 (85%), 527 (86%), and 508 (83%) patients had received an analgesic medication at 12, 24, and 48 h, respectively. No patient received more than two sedatives or analgesic medications. We found significant differences between centers in the number of sedatives and analgesics administered for all time points (p < 0.01 for all using grouped testing ANOVA). This remained consistent after the model was adjusted for age, sex, time to ROSC, bystander CPR, shockable rhythm, and shock on admission (p < 0.001 for grouped testing using ANOVA).

Table 1 Patient characteristics

Patient characteristics	N=614 ^a
Age	65 (56, 72)
Female sex	113 (18%)
Arrest at home	328 (53%)
Bystander witnessed	546 (89%)
Bystander CPR	444 (72%)
Bystander defibrillation	55 (9.0%)
Shockable rhythm	498 (81%)
Number of defibrillations	2 (1, 4)
Prehospital intubation	426 (70%)
Time to ROSC (min)	25 (16, 39
Good CPC at 6 months	303 (49%)

^a Statistics presented: median (IQR); n (%)

Sedative and Analgesic Dosage

After normalizing the sedative dosages to midazolam equivalents, the median (interquartile range) dosages were 0.13 (0.08, 0.23), 0.14 (0.09, 0.24), and 0.13 (0.07, 0.22) mg/kg/h at 12, 24, and 48 h, respectively. The median (interquartile range) dosages of fentanyl equivalents were 1.21 (0.50, 2.04), 1.31 (0.52, 2.01), and 1.16 (0.49, 1.81) µg/kg/h at 12, 24, and 48 h, respectively. The dosages of fentanyl and midazolam equivalents, by center, at 12, 24, and 48 h are shown in Fig. 1. Linear models for associations with average sedative and analgesic dosages, adjusted for severity of illness and target temperature, with and without the center added to the model are shown in Table 3. Comparison of these models with likelihood ratio testing showed the center significantly improved model performance in both sedation and analgesia and at every time point (p < 0.001, for all models). The center effect significantly improved the R^2 values for analgesics and sedation at all time points compared with models without the center effect (see Table 3). Target temperature was not significantly associated with average dosage of sedation or analgesia at any time point in multivariate model (see Table 3).

Titration of Sedatives and Analgesics

The median difference in midazolam dosing between 12 and 24 h was 0.009 (-0.002 to 0.027) mg/kg/h and -0.015 (-0.042 to 0.001) mg/kg/h between 24 and 48 h. For fentanyl equivalents, the difference was 0.06 (-0.01 to 0.22) mg/kg/h and -0.14 (-0.40 to 0.00) mg/kg/h between 12–24 and 24–48 h, respectively. Linear models for associations with differences in sedative and analgesic dosages, adjusted for severity of illness and target temperature, with and without the center added to the model are shown in Table 4. Comparison of these models with likelihood ratio testing showed the center significantly improved the models for sedation differences in fentanyl dosage between 12 and 24 h (p=0.04) and 24–48 h (p<0.001). The center did not significantly

Table 2 Type of sedative and analgesic drugs given within the first 12, 24, and 48 h

Medication	Proportion: 12 h <i>n</i> (%)	Dose: median (IQR)	Proportion: 24 h <i>n</i> (%)	Dose: median (IQR)	Proportion: 48 h <i>n</i> (%)	Dose: median (IQR)
Propofol (mg/kg/h)	421 (69)	2.3 (1.2, 3.8)	431 (70)	2.4 (1.4, 4.3)	432 (70)	2.2 (1.1, 3.7)
Midazolam (mg/kg/h)	244 (40)	0.07 (0.04, 0.13)	259 (42)	0.09 (0.05, 0.10)	258 (42)	0.06 (0.03, 0.10)
Fentanyl (mcg/kg/h)	304 (50)	1.7 (1.2, 2.3)	310 (50)	1.9 (1.3, 2.4)	311 (51)	1.6 (1.1, 2.1)
Morphine (mg/kg/h)	96 (16)	0.04 (0.02, 0.05)	101 (16)	0.04 (0.02, 0.05)	101 (16)	0.3 (0.01, 0.04)
Remifentanil (mcg/kg/h)	84 (14)	3.3 (2.0, 6.1)	87 (14)	3.5 (2.3, 6.4)	84 (14)	3.7 (2.7, 6.0)
Alfentanil (mcg/kg/min)	32 (5)	29.3 (22.5, 37.4)	31(5)	33.3 (28.3, 37.0)	15 (2)	27.8 (23.7, 33.2)
Sufentanil (mcg/kg/h)	16 (3)	0.2 (0.1, 0.3)	16 (3)	0.2 (0.2, 0.3)	18 (3)	0.2 (0.1, 0.2)



affect the model for differences in midazolam equivalents between 12 and 24 h (p=0.40). When survival was added to the model, survival at 6 months was associated with decreasing dosage between 24 and 48 h for fentanyl equivalents (p=0.048) but not for midazolam equivalents (p=0.75). Decreased titration between 12 and 24 h of midazolam and fentanyl equivalents were not associated with survival at 6 months (p=0.06 and p=0.38, respectively). Target temperature was significantly associated with increased dosage of fentanyl equivalents between 12 and 24 h (p=0.08 and p=0.02, without and with center effect, respectively), but there was no significant different between 24 and 48 h (see Table 4). Target temperature was not significantly associated with titration of midazolam equivalents at any time point.

To evaluate the effect of centers by country, the centers were clustered as follows: Switzerland (two centers), Denmark (one center), Italy (three centers), Luxemburg (one center), Netherlands (two centers), Norway (one center), Sweden (three centers), and United Kingdom (five centers). We evaluated the dosing characteristics (type of medication, number of medications, average dosage) at 24 h as well as dosing differences at 12 and 24 h were largely nonsignificant, and those that were significant did not differ substantially from the cohort.

Awakening and Clinical Seizures

A total of 364 patients were alive at the end of the study period, of whom 342 had a registered day of awakening. Four patients (0.7%) the first day and 20 patients (3.3%) the second day of therapy were awake during the initial 48 h of therapy. We found a significant association of a higher average dosage of fentanyl received at 48 h with late awakening in multivariate analysis (p = 0.002 and p = 0.003 with and without center effect, respectively), whereas average dosage at 12 and 24 h were not significantly associated (see Supplement Table 3). Increase in titration dosing of fentanyl equivalents between 24 and 48 h was significantly associated with late awakening in multivariate analysis (p = 0.04 and p = 0.005 without and with center effect, respectively), shown in Supplement Table 4. Total dose of midazolam equivalents was not significantly associated with late awakening at any time point. Increased titration of midazolam equivalents between 24 and 48 h was significantly associated with late awakening in multivariate analysis (p < 0.001 for both with and without center effect), whereas titration between 12 and 24 were not (see Supplement Table 4).

Total average dosage of midazolam equivalents at any time point was not significantly associated with clinical seizures (see Supplement Table 5). An increase in

Patient characteristics and <i>R</i> -square values	Sedation and analgesia	12 h	12 h with center	24 h	24 h with center	48 h	48 h with center
Age ^a	Fentanyl equiva- lents	-0.05 (<i>p</i> = 0.009)	-0.04 (p=0.009)	-0.07 ($p = 0.003$)	-0.04 (<i>p</i> = 0.006)	-0.04 (p = 0.04)	-0.03 (p=0.03)
	Midazolam equivalents	-0.01 (p=0.001)	-0.01 (p<0.001)	-0.01 (p<0.001)	-0.01 (p<0.001)	-0.01 (p<0.001)	-0.01 (p<0.001)
Female sex	Fentanyl equiva- lents	-0.04 (p = 0.74)	-0.12 (p=0.22)	-0.03 (p=0.86)	-0.08 (p = 0.44)	0.02 (p=0.84)	-0.08 (p=0.39)
	Midazolam equivalents	-0.1 (p<0.01)	0.00 (p=0.80)	-0.02 (p=0.14)	0.00 (p=0.83)	-0.01 (p = 0.25)	0.00 (p=0.73)
Witnessed arrest	Fentanyl equiva- lents	-0.06(p=0.71)	0.01 (p=0.99)	-0.01 (p = 0.97)	-0.03 (p=0.81)	0.06 (p=0.73)	0.05 (p=0.69)
	Midazolam equivalents	0.00 (p=0.87)	0.00 (p=0.97)	0.01 (p=0.51)	0.00 (p=0.73)	0.01 (p=0.28)	0.01 (p=0.41)
Shockable rhythm	Fentanyl equiva- lents	0.39 (p = 0.003)	0.16 (p=0.11)	0.49 (p<0.001)	0.25 (p=0.02)	0.44 (p<0.001)	0.24 (<i>p</i> = 0.009)
	Midazolam equivalents	0.02 (p=0.05)	0.01 (p=0.34)	0.03 (p=0.01)	0.02 (p = 0.08)	0.03 (p=0.007)	0.02 (p=0.02)
Time to ROSC ^b	Fentanyl equiva- lents	-0.2 (p = 0.03)	-0.01 (p = 0.27)	-0.03 (p=0.01)	-0.01 (p = 0.21)	-0.02 ($p = 0.046$)	-0.01 (p=0.34)
	Midazolam equivalents	0.00 (<i>p</i> < 0.001)	0.00 (<i>p</i> < 0.001)	0.00 (<i>p</i> < 0.001)	0.00 (<i>p</i> < 0.001)	0.00 (<i>p</i> < 0.001)	0.00 (p=0.004)
Shock onadmis- sion	Fentanyl equiva- lents	0.70 (<i>p</i> < 0.001)	0.35 (<i>p</i> = 0.006)	0.57 (p = 0.002)	0.23 (p=0.10)	0.58 (p<0.001)	0.27 (p=0.03)
	Midazolam equivalents	-0.02 (p=0.22)	-0.02 (p = 0.08)	-0.01 (p = 0.65)	-0.01 (p = 0.46)	-0.02 (p=0.22)	-0.03 (p=0.02)
Target tempera- ture 36 °C	Fentanyl equiva- lents	0.03 (p = 0.78)	-0.08 (p = 0.26)	0.08 (p = 0.45)	0.00 (<i>p</i> > 0.99)	0.09 (p=0.33)	-0.05 (p=0.46)
	Midazolam equivalents	-0.01 (p = 0.31)	0.01 (p=0.17)	-0.01 (p = 0.59)	-0.01 (p = 0.43)	0.00 (p=0.88)	0.00 (p=0.84)
Center effect ^c	Fentanyl equiva- lents		<i>p</i> < 0.001		<i>p</i> < 0.001		<i>p</i> <0.001
	Midazolam equivalents		<i>p</i> <0.001		<i>p</i> < 0.001		<i>p</i> < 0.001
R-square values for the model	Fentanyl equiva- lents	0.07	0.51	0.08	0.53	0.07	0.52
	Midazolam equivalents	0.09	0.55	0.08	0.49	0.10	0.55

Table 3 Association of clinical factors, target temperature and center with average doses of fentanyl and midazolam equivalents in regression model with and without center, at 12, 24, and 48 h

significant p-value with the significance level of 0.05 are in bold.

^a Age estimate is per 5 year intervals

^b Time to ROSC estimate is per 5 min intervals

^c Center effect of global *p* value using ANOVA testing

titration of midazolam equivalent dosing between 24 and 48 h was significantly associated with clinical seizures (p=0.04), whereas titration between 12 and 24 h was not associated (see Supplement Table 6). This finding remained consistent after adjustment for clinically relevant variables, target temperature, and the center effect. Neither average dose nor titration of fentanyl equivalents during the initial 48 h of therapy were associated with clinical seizures.

Discussion

In a large randomized clinical trial population of patients receiving TTM after cardiac arrest, we found significant differences in the approach to providing sedation and analgesia. The level of target temperature was not significantly associated with total dose or titration of sedation and analgesics during the initial 48 h of therapy, except for increased titration of analgesics between 12 and 24 h with a target level of 36 °C. The treatment center was

Patient characteristics	Sedation and analgesia	12–24 h difference	12–24 h differ- ence with center	24–48 h difference	24–48 h differ- ence with center
Age ^a	Fentanyl equivalents	0.00 (p=0.82)	0.00 (p=0.72)	0.01 (p=0.38)	0.00 (p=0.56)
	Midazolam equivalents	0.00 (p = 0.20)	0.00 (p = 0.13)	- 3.01 (p < 0.01)	-1.83 (p=0.01)
Female sex	Fentanyl equivalents	0.07 (p = 0.10)	0.06 (p=0.99)	-0.01 (p = 0.88)	-0.04 (p = 0.49)
	Midazolam equivalents	-0.01 (p = 0.38)	0.00 (p = 0.49)	-0.61 (p = 0.91)	2.09 (p=0.65)
Witnessed arrest	Fentanyl equivalents	0.10 (p=0.08)	0.10 (p = 0.09)	0.04 (p=0.56)	0.05 (p=0.47)
	Midazolam equivalents	0.01 (p=0.30)	0.00 (p = 0.57)	0.03 (p>0.99)	6.92 (p=0.27)
Shockable rhythm	Fentanyl equivalents	0.13 (p=0.005)	0.11(p=0.01)	-0.07 (p = 0.21)	-0.03 (p=0.61)
	Midazolam equivalents	$0.01 \ (p = 0.08)$	0.01 (p=0.13)	13.0 (p=0.02)	8.23 (p=0.08)
Time to ROSC ^b	Fentanyl equivalents	0.00 (p = 0.38)	0.00 (p = 0.28)	0.01 (p=0.30)	0.00 (p = 0.66)
	Midazolam equivalents	0.00 (p = 0.48)	0.00(p=0.61)	-0.30 (p<0.01)	0.002 (p = 0.44)
Shock on admission	Fentanyl equivalents	-0.02 (p = 0.73)	-0.05 (p=0.38)	-0.07 (p = 0.33)	-0.01 (p = 0.89)
	Midazolam equivalents	0.01 (p = 0.18)	0.01 (p=0.26)	-7.77 (p = 0.25)	-11.4 (p = 0.049)
Target temperature at 36 °C	Fentanyl equivalents	0.09(p=0.01)	0.08 (p = 0.02)	-0.03 (p = 0.52)	-0.04 (p=0.36)
	Midazolam equivalents	0.01 (p=0.27)	0.00 (p = 0.36)	1.41 (p=0.73)	2.97 (p=0.39)
Centereffect ^c	Fentanyl equivalents		p = 0.048		<i>p</i> < 0.001
	Midazolam equivalents		p=0.44		<i>p</i> < 0.01

 Table 4 Association of clinical factors, center, and target temperature with difference in fentanyl and midazolam equivalent doses between 12–24 and 24–48 h with and without center

significant p-value with the significance level of 0.05 are in bold.

^a Age estimate is per 5 year intervals

^b Time to ROSC estimate is per 5 min intervals

^c Center effect of global *p* value using ANOVA testing

independently and strongly associated with the number of medications given, dosing, and titration of sedatives and analgesics, during and immediately following temperature management. Treatment center remained independently associated for most of the described parameters after adjustment for target temperature and clinically relevant variables, including markers of severity of illness like initial heart rhythm and total ischemic time. This suggests that local protocols influence sedation and analgesic dosing more than patient factors. We also found the total dose and titration of sedatives and analgesics to be associated with late awakening, clinical seizures, and survival, demonstrating the association of sedation and analgesia practices and clinically important outcomes. This study highlights the variability of sedation and analgesia practices between centers, implicating a gap of knowledge in optimal dosing and titration regimens and how this may affect the time to awakening and the incidence of clinical seizures and survival. To better determine whether the association of sedation and analgesia dosing or drug titration with clinically important outcomes is a causal one, further research in a prospective manner is needed.

We found that higher dosing at 48 h and increased dosing of analgesics between 24 and 48 h were associated with late awakening. Opioid analgesics may blunt the response to painful stimuli in the Glasgow Coma Scale and impair the pupillary light reflex, potentially affecting neurological prognostication. However, we did not find an association between average dosage of sedatives and time to awakening, which may be because most patients received a short-acting sedative (propofol 70%). These findings are in concordance with current guidelines, which advise the use of short-acting drugs (propofol, sufentanil, remifentanil) to shorten time to awakening and facilitate neurological prognostication [1]. The use of short-acting agents compared with long-acting agents (midazolam and fentanyl) has been associated with shorter duration of mechanical ventilation and earlier awakening, although no conclusion can be stated about impact on survival or neurological outcome [40-42]. Longer time to awakening makes patients susceptible to a perception of poor neurological prognosis and a premature withdrawal of life-sustaining therapies that can affect the ultimate outcome [43]. Further investigations of the effects of sedation and analgesics on neurological prognostication and outcome are warranted.

The need to control shivering in patients receiving TTM is important, regardless of the target temperature, and either escalation of sedation dosing or the use of NMB with a basal sedation dose is typically used to achieve this. It is required that adequate sedation is provided to all patients receiving NMB, as it is paramount for patient comfort. The incidence of shivering, and therefore NMB need, is related to the severity of brain injury, and escalating sedation dosing may be a reflection of attempts to control shivering. There were a small number of patients in our cohort who received no sedation. It is unclear whether these patients had severe brain injury and therefore did not require NMB or if they inappropriately received NMB without sedation. Although this information was not available in our data, the incidence, severity, and response to shivering should be closely evaluated to understand the effects of sedation dosing and titration.

Sedatives are antiepileptic and frequently used as treatment for clinical seizures during TTM; we speculate this may explain the association found in this study between increased sedative dosing between 24 and 48 h and clinical seizures [44-48]. We also found decreased dosing of analgesics to be associated with improved survival. Sedation and analgesia were mandatory during TTM for 36 h, and thus the dosing collected at 48 h reflect the dosing in patients with prolonged sedation. Prolonged sedation and analgesia may relate to increased shivering, which is associated with good outcome after cardiac arrest, but also pose a risk of secondary brain injury if not properly treated [49]. However, prolonged sedation and analgesia may also be due to patients having frequent myoclonus, indicating more severe brain injury and the need for continued sedation and analgesia [45]. Another common reason for prolonged sedation is the need for continued mechanical ventilation. These are possible reasons for the association found between dosing and titration with late awakening, the prevalence of clinical seizures and survival. Although sedatives may affect cerebral oxygen consumption, cerebral blood flow, and can suppress seizures, it remains unclear if sedation provides additional neuroprotective effects during TTM [3, 4, 17]. We speculate that the optimal dosage of sedatives needed during the post cardiac arrest care might depend on the severity of brain injury. Thus, sedation dosing should be individualized to the patient's severity of brain injury, presence of myoclonus and shivering, and the intensity of shivering. These methods could be refined as future studies provide more information regarding phenotyping or better accounting for heterogeneity in this population.

The "center effect" is highlighted most prominently in analyzing the dosage of analgesia and sedatives. Here, the model without centers performed relatively poorly, with clinical factors accounting for only 7–10% of the variability of dosing differences (reflected in the *R*-squared). When "center" was added, the model was able to account for roughly half of the variability. Clearly, the dosing for these patients is complicated and there is still much

work to be done to determine how bedside sedation decisions are being made. However, evaluation of single-center influence of sedation dosing, without the use of other physiologic end points, is of little use. It should be acknowledged that participating centers were highvolume cardiac arrest centers treating patients in the setting of a randomized trial. It is unknown if there would be similar findings in a "real world" setting across lowervolume institutions and outside of clinical trials. This variability should be further studied in larger cohorts that are powered to risk adjust for patient severity of illness to determine whether there is an individual effect on outcome for sedation and analgesia dosing on individual patients. Understanding this effect would inform trials to determine a synchronized approach to individualizing sedation and analgesia dosing.

A limitation of this study is that the primary objective of the TTM trial was not to investigate sedation and analgesia management, and thus dosing data were collected retrospectively. As such, not all centers participated, and data were collected up to 48 h although the trial intervention ended at 36 h. There were 623 out of 939 patients from the main trial with complete sedation and analgesia data, which may have introduced responder bias. We found a significantly lower rate of good CPC outcome, 42% compared with 49%, in patients without sedation data. This finding is a possible site effect because not all centers from the main TTM trial participated in this study. This study reports data collected more than 10 years ago from the TTM trial, another potential limitation of this study. However, this study is the first of our knowledge reporting individual patient sedation and analgesia data across several centers and these medications are still used in current practices. Postcardiac arrest organ dysfunction, specifically liver and kidney, may impact clearance of sedative and analgesic drugs and we not adjusted for, representing a limitation of this study. Although this is the largest study to evaluate the effects of sedation on outcomes after cardiac arrest, several limitation warrant discussions. As discussed above, the use of NMB and presence of shivering were not collected for this study. Given that sedation is required for patients receiving NMB, variation in the use of NMB and presence of shivering may have impacted the dosing and titration of sedatives and the relation to outcome. However, this may not only vary between centers but also between patients within centers depending on the severity of brain injury. Thus, the reasons for dosing and titration decisions were not available and should be further studied in a prospective manner to better understand the nuance of these differences. We also cannot determine causation in a retrospective study, so the associations we noted between sedation and analgesia dosing and titration with delayed awakening and clinical seizures at various time points should be considered as hypothesis-generated rather than definitive. The occurrence of subclinical seizures that may impact the sedation and analgesia dosing were not captured in this study, which is a limitation.

Conclusions

We identified significant differences between centers in the choice of sedative and analgesic drugs, specific drug dosing, and titration during and immediately following TTM after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Higher dosages and upward titration of analgesics and sedatives during the initial 48 h of therapy were associated with delayed awakening and a higher incidence of clinical seizures. We also found that a downward titration of analgesics was significantly associated with survival at 6 months. The present study cannot assess the causal relation of the associations reported, and thus the findings are to be interpreted with caution. Clinical prospective trials comparing different regimens of sedations are needed to further elucidate these findings.

Supplementary Information

The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1007/s12028-022-01564-6.

Author details

¹ Division of Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Helsingborg Hospital, Lund University, Svartbrödragränden 3, 251 87 Helsingborg, Sweden. ² Department of Critical Care, Maine Medical Center, Portland, ME, USA. ³ Division of Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Skane University Hospital, Lund University, Lund, Sweden. ⁴ Division of Neurology, Department of Clinical Sciences, Skane University Hospital, Lund University, Lund, Sweden. ⁵ Department of Cardiology, Rigshospitalet, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark. ⁶ Division of Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Skane University Hospital, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden. ⁷ Division of Cardiology, Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Skane University Hospital, Lund University, Lund, Sweden.

Author Contributions

Drs AC, TLM, AL, TC, and NN contributed to study concept and design. AL, JD, CH, and JK contributed to data acquisition. AC and TLM contributed to analyses and interpretation of data. AC, TLM, AL, TC, DBS, RRR, CH, JK, ZH, HF, JD, and NN contributed to drafting the article. The authors have read and approved of the final manuscript.

Source of Support

Open access funding provided by Lund University. The targeted temperature management trial and the present study were funded by independent research grants from the following nonprofit or governmental agencies: Swedish Heart Lung Foundation (Grant No. 20090275); AFA-Insurance Foundation (Grant No. 100001); the Swedish Research Council (Grant Nos. 134281, 296161, 286321); Regional research support, Region Skane; Governmental funding of clinical research within the Swedish National Health Services (Grant Nos. M2010/1837, M2010/1641, 353301); Skane University Hospital, Sweden; and Tryg Foundation, Denmark. In addition, this study was funded by generous grants from Hans-Gabriel and Alice Trolle-Wachtmeister Foundation for Medical Research, Thelma Zoegas Foundation, and Krapperup Foundation.

Conflicts of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Ethical Approval/Informed Consent

This study had ethical approval by Regional Ethical Review Board Lund, Protocol 2009/6 Dnr 2009/324 (targeted temperature management trial).

Open Access

This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Received: 8 September 2021 Accepted: 20 June 2022 Published: 28 July 2022

References

- Callaway CW, Donnino MW, Fink EL, et al. Part 8: post-cardiac arrest care: 2015 American Heart Association Guidelines Update for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care. Circulation. 2015;132(18 Suppl 2):S465–82.
- Nolan JP, Sandroni C, Bottiger BW, et al. European Resuscitation Council and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine guidelines 2021: postresuscitation care. Intensive Care Med. 2021;47(4):369–421.
- Helbok R, Kurtz P, Schmidt MJ, et al. Effects of the neurological wake-up test on clinical examination, intracranial pressure, brain metabolism and brain tissue oxygenation in severely brain-injured patients. Crit Care. 2012;16(6):R226.
- Weant KAMJ, Humphries RL, Cook AM. Pharmacologic options for reducing the shivering response to therapeutic hypothermia. Pharmacotherapy. 2010;30:830–41.
- Kilgannon JH, Roberts BW, Jones AE, et al. Arterial blood pressure and neurologic outcome after resuscitation from cardiac arrest*. Crit Care Med. 2014;42(9):2083–91.
- Trzeciak S, Jones AE, Kilgannon JH, et al. Significance of arterial hypotension after resuscitation from cardiac arrest. Crit Care Med. 2009;37(11):2895–903 (quiz 904).
- Tortorici MA, Kochanek PM, Poloyac SM. Effects of hypothermia on drug disposition, metabolism, and response: a focus of hypothermia-mediated alterations on the cytochrome P450 enzyme system. Crit Care Med. 2007;35(9):2196–204.
- Varghese JM, Roberts JA, Lipman J. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in critically ill patients. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2010;23:472–8.
- van den Broek MP, Groenendaal F, Egberts AC, Rademaker CM. Effects of hypothermia on pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics: a systematic review of preclinical and clinical studies. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2010;49(5):277–94.
- Fukuoka N, Aibiki M, Tsukamoto T, Seki K, Morita S. Biphasic concentration change during continuous midazolam administration in brain-injured patients undergoing therapeutic moderate hypothermia. Resuscitation. 2004;60(2):225–30.
- Fritz HG, Holzmayr M, Walter B, Moeritz KU, Lupp A, Bauer R. The effect of mild hypothermia on plasma fentanyl concentration and biotransformation in juvenile pigs. Anesth Analg. 2005;100(4):996–1002.
- Bjelland TW, Klepstad P, Haugen BO, Nilsen T, Dale O. Effects of hypothermia on the disposition of morphine, midazolam, fentanyl, and propofol in intensive care unit patients. Drug Metab Dispos. 2013;41(1):214–23.
- Samaniego EA, Mlynash M, Caulfield AF, Eyngorn I, Wijman CA. Sedation confounds outcome prediction in cardiac arrest survivors treated with hypothermia. Neurocrit Care. 2011;15(1):113–9.

- 14. Jacobi J, Fraser GL, Coursin DB, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the sustained use of sedatives and analgesics in the critically ill adult. Crit Care Med. 2002;30:119–41.
- Barr J, Fraser GL, Puntillo K, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of pain, agitation, and delirium in adult patients in the intensive care unit. Crit Care Med. 2013;41(1):263–306.
- Roberts BW, Kilgannon JH, Hunter BR, et al. Association between elevated mean arterial blood pressure and neurologic outcome after resuscitation from cardiac arrest: results from a multicenter prospective cohort study. Crit Care Med. 2019;47(1):93–100.
- 17. Sundgreen C, Larsen FS, Herzog TM, Knudsen GM, Boesgaard S, Aldershvile J. Autoregulation of cerebral blood flow in patients resuscitated from cardiac arrest. Stroke. 2001;32:128–32.
- Polderman KH, Herold I. Therapeutic hypothermia and controlled normothermia in the intensive care unit: practical considerations, side effects, and cooling methods. Crit Care Med. 2009;37(3):1101–20.
- Donnino MW, Andersen LW, Berg KM, et al. Temperature management after cardiac arrest. Circulation. 2015;132(25):2448–56.
- Laurent I, Monchi M, Chiche J-D, et al. Reversible myocardial dysfunction in survivors of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2002;40(12):2110–6.
- Chamorro C, Borrallo JM, Romera MA, Silva JA, Balandin B. Anesthesia and analgesia protocol during therapeutic hypothermia after cardiac arrest: a systematic review. Anesth Analg. 2010;110(5):1328–35.
- May TL, Riker RR, Fraser GL, et al. Variation in sedation and neuromuscular blockade regimens on outcome after cardiac arrest. Crit Care Med. 2018;46(10):e975–80.
- Orban JC, Cattet F, Lefrant JY, et al. The practice of therapeutic hypothermia after cardiac arrest in France: a national survey. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(9):e45284.
- Mehta S, Burry L, Fischer S, et al. Canadian survey of the use of sedatives, analgesics, and neuromuscular blocking agents in critically ill patients. Crit Care Med. 2006;34(2):374–80.
- May TL, Seder DB, Fraser GL, Stone P, McCrum B, Riker RR. Moderate-dose sedation and analgesia during targeted temperature management after cardiac arrest. Neurocrit Care. 2015;22(1):105–11.
- 26. Poignant S, Vigue B, Balram P, et al. A One-day prospective national observational study on sedation-analgesia of patients with brain injury in French intensive care units: the SEDA-BIP-ICU (Sedation-Analgesia in Brain Injury Patient in ICU) Study. Neurocrit Care 2021.
- Nielsen N, Wetterslev J, Cronberg T, et al. Targeted temperature management at 33 degrees C versus 36 degrees C after cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(23):2197–206.
- Lybeck A, Cronberg T, Aneman A, et al. Time to awakening after cardiac arrest and the association with target temperature management. Resuscitation. 2018;126:166–71.
- Sessler CN, Gosnell MS, Grap MJ, et al. The Richmond Agitation-Sedation Scale: validity and reliability in adult intensive care unit patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2002;166(10):1338–44.
- Riker RR, Picard JT, Fraser GL. Prospective evaluation of the Sedation-Agitation Scale for adult critically ill patients. Crit Care Med. 1999;27(7):1325–9.
- Gélinas C, Fillion L, Puntillo KA, Viens C, Fortier M. Validation of the critical-care pain observation tool in adult patients. Am J Crit Care. 2006;15(4):420–7.
- Barrientos-Vega R, Mar Sánchez-Soria M, Morales-García C, Robas-Gómez A, Cuena-Boy R, Ayensa-Rincon A. Prolonged sedation of critically ill

patients with midazolam or propofol: Impact on weaning and costs. Crit Care Med. 1997;25(1):33–40.

- Carrasco G, Cabré L, Sobrepere G, et al. Synergistic sedation with propofol and midazolam in intensive care patients after coronary artery bypass grafting. Crit Care Med. 1998;26(5):844–51.
- Nigoghossian CD, Dzierba AL, Etheridge J, et al. Effect of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation use on sedative requirements in patients with severe acute respiratory distress syndrome. Pharmacotherapy. 2016;36(6):607–16.
- MacLaren R, Sullivan P. Pharmacoeconomic Modeling of Lorazepam, Midazolam, and Propofol for Continuous Sedation in Critically III Patients. Pharmacotherapy. 2005;25(10):1319–28.
- McPherson ML, Bethesda MD. Demystifying opioid conversion calculations: a guide for effective dosing. American Society of Health-System Pharmacists 2009.
- Mehta S, Burry L, Cook D, et al. Daily sedation interruption in mechanically ventilated critically ill patients cared for with a sedation protocol: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2012;308(19):1985–92.
- Patanwala AE, Duby J, Waters D, Erstad BL. Opioid conversions in acute care. Ann Pharmacother. 2007;41(2):255–66.
- Nielsen NWJ, Al-Subaie NAB, Bro-Jeppesen J, et al. Target Temperature Management after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest—a randomized, parallelgroup, assessor-blinded clinical trial–rationale and design. Am Heart J. 2012;163(4):541–8.
- Paul M, Bougouin W, Dumas F, et al. Comparison of two sedation regimens during targeted temperature management after cardiac arrest. Resuscitation. 2018;128:204–10.
- Bjelland TW, Dale O, Kaisen K, et al. Propofol and remifentanil versus midazolam and fentanyl for sedation during therapeutic hypothermia after cardiac arrest: a randomised trial. Intensive Care Med. 2012;38(6):959–67.
- Rey A, Rossetti AO, Miroz JP, Eckert P, Oddo M. Late awakening in survivors of postanoxic coma: early neurophysiologic predictors and association with ICU and long-term neurologic recovery. Crit Care Med. 2019;47(1):85–92.
- Gold B, Puertas L, Davis SP, et al. Awakening after cardiac arrest and post resuscitation hypothermia: are we pulling the plug too early? Resuscitation. 2014;85(2):211–4.
- Nielsen N, Hovdenes J, Nilsson F, et al. Outcome, timing and adverse events in therapeutic hypothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2009;53(7):926–34.
- Seder DB, Sunde K, Rubertsson S, et al. Neurologic outcomes and postresuscitation care of patients with myoclonus following cardiac arrest. Crit Care Med. 2015;43(5):965–72.
- Elmer J, Rittenberger JC, Faro J, et al. Clinically distinct electroencephalographic phenotypes of early myoclonus after cardiac arrest. Ann Neurol. 2016;80(2):175–84.
- Zandbergen EG, Hijdra A, Koelman JH, et al. Prediction of poor outcome within the first 3 days of postanoxic coma. Neurology. 2006;10(66):62–8.
- Lybeck A, Friberg H, Aneman A, et al. Prognostic significance of clinical seizures after cardiac arrest and target temperature management. Resuscitation. 2017;114:146–51.
- Nair SU, Lundbye JB. The occurrence of shivering in cardiac arrest survivors undergoing therapeutic hypothermia is associated with a good neurologic outcome. Resuscitation. 2013;84(5):626–9.



Available online at ScienceDirect

Resuscitation



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/resuscitation

Clinical paper

Hypothermia versus normothermia after out-ofhospital cardiac arrest; the effect on postintervention serum concentrations of sedatives and analgesics and time to awakening



Martin Annborn^a, Ameldina Ceric^{b,}, Ola Borgquist^c, Joachim During^b, Marion Moseby-Knappe^d, Anna Lybeck^c*

Abstract

Background: This study investigated the association of two levels of targeted temperature management (TTM) after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) with administered doses of sedative and analgesic drugs, serum concentrations, and the effect on time to awakening.

Methods: This substudy of the TTM2-trial was conducted at three centers in Sweden, with patients randomized to either hypothermia or normothermia. Deep sedation was mandatory during the 40-hour intervention. Blood samples were collected at the end of TTM and end of protocolized fever prevention (72 hours). Samples were analysed for concentrations of propofol, midazolam, clonidine, dexmedetomidine, morphine, oxycodone, ketamine and esketamine. Cumulative doses of administered sedative and analgesic drugs were recorded.

Results: Seventy-one patients were alive at 40 hours and had received the TTM-intervention according to protocol. 33 patients were treated at hypothermia and 38 at normothermia. There were no differences between cumulative doses and concentration and of sedatives/analgesics between the intervention groups at any timepoint. Time until awakening was 53 hours in the hypothermia group compared to 46 hours in the normothermia group (p = 0.09).

Conclusion: This study of OHCA patients treated at normothermia versus hypothermia found no significant differences in dosing or concentration of sedatives or analgesic drugs in blood samples drawn at the end of the TTM intervention, or at end of protocolized fever prevention, nor the time to awakening.

Keywords: Cardiac arrest, Targeted temperature management, Sedation, Awakening, Serum concentration, Propofol, Midazolam

Background

Many patients remain comatose and require mechanical ventilation in the intensive care unit (ICU) after resuscitation from cardiac arrest. Targeted temperature management (TTM) at 32–34 °C for 24–48 hours was established as a neuroprotective strategy in unconscious survivors of cardiac arrest in 2002.^{1,2} Deep sedation was introduced as an essential part of the TTM regimen to counteract undesirable physiological effects and discomfort from induced hypothermia, and to facilitate the cooling process. Current European guidelines recommend TTM at <37.8 °C (targeted normothermia) for 72 hours in comatose patients but make no comments on use of sedation, or duration apart from suggesting short acting sedatives.^{3,4}

In a post-hoc analysis of the TTM-trial we found that time until awakening was longer in patients managed at 33 °C compared to

Abbreviations: AED, Antiepileptic drug, BSAS, Bedside shivering and assessment scale, BMI, Body Mass Index, EDTA, Ethylenediamine tetra acetic acid, ICU, Intensive care unit, FOUR score, Full outline of unresponsiveness score, NSE, Neuron-specific enolase, GFR, Glomerular filtration rate, TTM, Targeted temperature management, RASS, Richmond Agitation Sedation Scale

^{*} Corresponding author at: Lund University, Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Skane University Hospital, Carl Bertil Laurels gata 9, 214 28 Malmo, Sweden.

E-mail address: ameldina.ceric@med.lu.se (A. Ceric).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resuscitation.2023.109831

Received 9 March 2023; Received in Revised form 19 April 2023; Accepted 7 May 2023

^{0300-9572/© 2023} The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/ by/4.0/).

36 °C despite administration of similar doses of sedative and analgesic drugs, and with the same degree of neurological injury in both groups.⁵ Drug metabolism is slower and more variable in the critically ill as compared to healthy volunteers and hypothermia decreases drug elimination with an increased risk of lingering effects of sedation.^{6–9} Effects of sedative and analgesic drugs may confound both clinical neurological examination and neurophysiological investigations employed in neurological prognostication with consequences on decisions on withdrawal of life support (WLST).³ Serum concentrations of sedatives during post cardiac arrest care have previously only been studied in a 14-patient cohort managed at hypothermia compared with eight matched critically ill normothermic, noncardiac arrest patients.^{10,11}

The aim of this study was to investigate the association of two levels of targeted temperature management after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) with 1) Administered cumulative doses of sedative and analgesic drugs; 2) Serum concentrations of these drugs; 3) The effect on time to awakening. Our hypothesis was that higher serum concentrations of sedative and analgesic drugs could explain delayed awakening in patient managed at 33 °C.

Methods

Study-population

This study was performed at three hospitals in southern Sweden 2018–2020 as a substudy of the TTM2-trial, ClinicalTrials.gov number, NCT02908308, registered September 20, 201.^{12,13} The TTM2-trial randomised 1900 unconscious survivors of OHCA of presumed cardiac cause to targeted hypothermia at 33 °C or targeted normothermia at <37.8 °C with mandatory deep sedation for 40 hours. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for the TTM2-trial have been described previously.¹² Additional exclusion criteria for this substudy were patients with discontinued TTM or death during the intervention.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

This study was approved by Regional Ethical Review Board in Lund, Sweden (Nr 2015/228 and 2017/36) and was carried out in accordance with the World Medical Association's Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consent was waived, deferred, or obtained from a legal surrogate, depending on the circumstances, and was obtained from each patient who regained mental capacity.

Patient management

Apart from the temperature intervention, patient management was the same in both treatment groups. The three study sites employed a common local study-protocol based on the trial protocol.¹⁴ Hypothermia was maintained for 28 hours, followed by rewarming to 37 °C for 12 hours (1/3°C/hour), leading to a total duration of the intervention phase of 40 hours. Deep sedation. Richmond Agitation and Sedation Scale (RASS) -4/-5 was mandatory in both patients' groups throughout the intervention phase. Short-acting drugs, i.e. propofol and remifentanil, were recommended.¹⁵ After the intervention period, sedation was discontinued or tapered according to clinical state. Extubation was attempted at earliest time possible, based on standard protocols for discontinuation of mechanical ventilation. After the 40-hour intervention phase, a target temperature management below 37.8 °C was maintained until 72 hours in patients who remained unconscious. Consciousness was defined as Full Outline of Responsiveness Score (FOURScore) motor component of four (obeying commands). Multimodal neurological prognostication was performed at no earlier than 96 hours with strict criteria for WLST according to the TTM2-trial study protocol.¹²

Shivering was assessed using the bedside shivering assessment scale (BSAS) which ranges from zero (no shivering) to three (severe shivering). The goal was to maintain BSAS 0–1.¹⁶ All patients received prophylactic acetaminophen/paracetamol. Shivering was treated according to local protocol, which advised increased sedation, magnesium clonidine and neuromuscular blocking drugs at the discretion of the treating physician.

Local protocol stated that all epileptic seizures, whether clinical and/or electrographic, mandated treatment with an antiepileptic drug (AED). Hence, the time (day and hour) of initiated treatment with antiepileptic medication was registered and used as marker of epileptic seizure activity in this study. First choice of drug was valproic acid or levetiracetam while second line drugs included phenytoin, fosphenytoin, diazepam, clonazepam, lorazepam, topiramate, phenobarbital, or lacosamide at the discretion of the treating physician.

Poor long-term functional outcome was defined as modified Rankin-scale (mRS) score 4–6 (moderately severe disability, severe disability, and death) at six months after cardiac arrest.¹⁷

Sedative and analgesic drugs

Cumulative dosing of each sedative and analgesic drug administered 0–40 (end of intervention) and 40–72 (end of targeted normothermia) hours after randomization were recorded. The types of drugs collected were midazolam (mg), propofol (mg), dexmedetomidine (mcg), clonidine (mcg), esketamine (mg), ketamine (mg), fentanyl (mcg), morphine (mg), remifentanil (mcg) and oxycodone (mg). The time of discontinuation of sedation (day, hour, and minutes) and time of awakening (day, hour, and minutes) were registered.

Blood samples

Blood samples were drawn in vials with ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA). Samples were collected at 40 (end of intervention) and 72 hours (end of targeted normothermia) after randomization and sent to hospital laboratory services, centrifugated, and frozen to -20 °C. Analyses were performed at the Department of Forensic Chemistry, The National Board of Forensic Medicine, University of Linköping, Sweden. To ensure stability of substances, samples were sent for analysis every fourth months. The liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) method, a validated and applied to critically ill patients, was used for quantification of clonidine, dexmedetomidine, fentanyl, ketamine, ketobemidone, midazolam, morphine and oxycodone in blood samples, while oxycodone was analyzed using chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS).¹⁸ Limits of quantifications were 0.005 mcg/ml and 0.05 mcg/ ml, for oxycodone and propofol, respectively. Remifentanil was not included in the analysis due to rapid metabolism in plasma.

Statistical analyses

Continuous data are presented as median and interquartile range (IQR) and significance test using Wilcoxon rank sum test or Wilcoxon rank rum exact test. Categorical variable reported using percentages and significance was tested using Pearson's Chi-square test. The probability of awakening from the time of discontinued sedation until 180 days after randomization was analyzed using Kaplan-Meier estimates and log rank test was performed, sensitivity analyses was performed in subgroups of patients treated with midazolam and without midazolam, to analyze the effect of long-acting sedative drugs compared to short-acting. The association of the concentration of propofol at 40 and 72 hours respectively, with the level of targeted temperature management were evaluated in a linear regression model. Age, sex, body mass index (BMI), peak neuron specific enolase, peak bilirubin, and dose of propofol at 40 and 72 hours respectively, were added to the models to adjust for severity of illness. The association of shivering and seizures with dose of propofol at 40 and 72 hours respectively, was assessed by linear regression. Differences in doses of midazolam at 40 and 72 hours between patients with and without seizures were analyzed using Wilcoxon rank sum test.

Results

Eighty-six patients were eligible for inclusion in this study. Fifteen patients were excluded due to death within 40 hours after randomization or discontinued TTM, leaving 71 patients to be included in this study (Supplemental Fig. 1). 33/71 patients (46%) were randomized to hypothermia treatment. Patients and background characteristics are shown in Table 1. The groups were similar regarding BMI, peak bilirubin, lowest reported glomerular filtration rate (GFR) on day 1–4 or peak neuron specific enolase (NSE) at 24–72 hours, time to awakening, time to extubation, length of ICU-stay and poor functional outcome at 6 months (Table 2).

Administered doses and serum concentrations of sedative and analgesic drugs

Cumulative median doses of sedatives and analgesic drugs in the two levels of TTM are shown in Table 3.

Propofol was administered in 62 (87%) patients at 0–40 hours and in 55 (77%) at 40–72 hours and remifentanil was administered in 62 (87%) patients at 0–40 hours and 53 (75%) at 40–72 hours. The median serum concentration of propofol in the hypothermia group was 1.80 (IQR 1.30, 2.30) and 0.96 (IQR 0.40, 1.63) mcg/ml at 40 and 72 hours, respectively, and in the normothermia group 1.60 (IQR 0.95, 2.30) and 0.51 (IQR 0.21, 1.23) mcg/ml at 40 and 72 hours, respectively (Table 4, Fig. 1). Median concentrations of sedatives and analgesics at 40 and 72 hours for the two levels of TTM are shown in Table 4. There were no statistically significant differences in median concentration of propofol at 40 hours, p = 0.2, or 72 hours, p = 0.10 (Table 4).

Time until awakening

In the hypothermia group, 19/33 (58 %) patients regained consciousness compared to 25/38 (66 %) patients in the normothermia group. Median time to awakening was 53 hours (IQR 45, 108) and 46 hours (IQR 41, 52) for hypothermia and normothermia respectively (p = 0.09). The time from when sedation was stopped to awakening was similar in the two groups, p = 0.1 (Fig. 2). Separate analyses were performed for patients who received midazolam and those who did not receive midazolam (Supplementary Figs. 2 and 3). No difference was detected between TTM groups in time from sedation was discontinued to awakening, in patients who did not receive midazolam (p = 0.6). Among the small number of patients who received midazolam and awoke, the time until awakening was statistically significantly longer in those managed at hypothermia (n = 3, median 7.0 hours IQR -2.5-11.4) compared to those managed at normothermia (n = 5, median 1 hours IQR 0.6-1.0, p = 0.03).

Seizures and shivering

Shivering was more common in the hypothermia group, (p = 0.003). Presence of shivering was associated with the cumulative propofol dose at 40 (p = 0.006) but not at 40–72 hours (Supplemental Table 1). Antiepileptic drugs were more commonly administered in the hypothermia group, (p = 0.015), but time to first AED administration was similar in both intervention groups (Table 2). Administration of AED, as a marker of seizures, was not associated with doses of propofol at 0–40 or 40–72 hours (Supplemental Table 1). Doses of midazolam in patients with or without seizures and shivering are shown in Supplemental Table 2.

Predictors of serum concentrations of propofol

The level of TTM was not significantly associated with concentration of propofol at 40 hours in univariable analyses (p = 0.74) or at 72

Table 1 - Patient and background characteristics.		
Characteristic	Hypothermia, N = 33	Normothermia, N = 38
Age, Median (IQR)	66 (57, 74)	66 (60, 74)
Female, No. (%)	8 (24%)	10 (26%)
Frailty score, Median (IQR)	3 (2, 3)	3 (2, 4)
BMI, Median (IQR)	25.3 (23.3, 28.4)	26.2 (23.9, 28.3)
Previous renal disease, No. (%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
Previous liver disease, No. (%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
Witnessed arrest, No. (%)	29 (88%)	37 (97%)
Bystandard CPR, No. (%)	24 (73%)	30 (79%)
Initial shockable rythm, No. (%)	21 (64%)	29 (76%)
Circulatory shock on admission, No. (%)	8 (24%)	12 (32%)
Time to ROSC (min), Median (IQR)	32 (20, 40)	24 (16, 36)
FOUR motor score on admission, Median (IQR)	0 (0, 1)	0 (0, 2)
Bilateral corneal reflexes present on admission, No. (%)	8 (53%)	14 (64%)
Bilateral pupillary reflexes present on admission, No. (%)	17 (59%)	24 (69%)

BMI = Body mass index; CPR = Cardiopulmonary resuscitation; ROSC = Return of spontaneous circulation; FOUR = Full outline of unresponsivness. Shock at admission was defined as a systolic blood pressure of less than 90 mm Hg for more than 30 minutes or end-organ hypoperfusion (cool arms and legs, urine output <30 ml per hour, and heart rate <60 beats per minute).

Table 2 – ICU	variables and	l outcomes.
---------------	---------------	-------------

Characteristic	Hypothermia, N = 33	Normothermia, N = 38	p-value ¹
Shivering, No. (%)	23 (70%)	13 (34%)	0.003
Antiepileptic drug, No. (%)	16 (48%)	8 (21%)	0.015
Time to AED start, Median (IQR)	38 (20, 45)	34 (20, 50)	0.9
Highest NSE, Median (IQR)	42 (29, 94)	28 (21, 76)	0.068
Highest bilirubin day 1–4, Median (IQR)	14 (9, 22)	12 (8, 16)	0.4
Lowest GFR day 1-4 (ml/min/1,73 m^2), Median (IQR)	58 (49, 68)	58 (35, 72)	0.6
Time to extubation (days), Median (IQR)	3.5 (2.0, 4.7)	2.9 (1.9, 4.5)	0.3
Time to awakening (hours), Median (IQR)	53 (45, 106)	46 (41, 52)	0.090
ICU length of stay (days) in patients alive at discharge, Median (IQR)	3.2 (2.6, 6.9)	3.2 (2.7, 5.9)	>0.9
Good neurological outcome at 6 months (mRS 1-3), No. (%)	16 (48%)	19 (50%)	0.9

AED = Antiepileptic drug; NSE = Neuron specific enolase; GFR = Glomerular filtration rate; ICU = Intensive care unit; mRS = Modified Rankin scale. ¹ Pearson's Chi-squared test; Wilcoxon rank sum exact test; Wilcoxon rank sum test.

Table 3 - Total cumulative doses of sedatives and analgesics at 40 and 72 hours.

Drug	Hypothermia, N = 33 ¹	Ν	Normothermia, $N = 38^1$	Ν	p-value ²
Propofol at 0-40 hrs (mg)	8,020 (6,600, 9,706)	29	7,700 (5,384, 10,000)	33	0.7
Midazolam at 0-40 hrs (mg)	18 (10, 33)	8	55 (22, 106)	5	
Clonidine at 0-40 hrs (mcg)	90 (90, 90)	1	1,050 (1,020, 1,080)	2	
Esketamine at 0-40 hrs (mg)	NA	0	905 (905, 905)	1	
Remifentanil at 0-40 hrs (mcg)	18,100 (12,750, 23,505)	29	19,345 (12,700, 31,800)	33	0.5
Fentanyl at 0–40 hrs (mcg)	100 (100, 1,782)	3	225 (150, 250)	4	
Oxicodone at 0–40 hrs (mg)	12 (4, 19)	4	25 (22, 58)	3	
Propofol at 40-72 hrs (mg)	3,339 (1,745, 5,790)	26	2,140 (854, 5,516)	29	0.3
Midazolam at 40–72 hrs (mg)	6 (2, 16)	5	11 (10, 68)	3	
Clonidine at 40-72 hrs (mcg)	NA (NA, NA)	0	150 (94, 267)	3	
Esketamine at 40–72 hrs (mg)	25 (25, 25)	1	NA (NA, NA)	0	
Dexmetomidon at 40-72 hrs (mcg)	2,216 (2,216, 2,216)	1	160 (120, 308)	3	
Remifentanil at 40-72 hrs (mcg)	8,650 (3,275, 14,775)	24	6,765 (2,765, 13,400)	29	0.6
Fentanyl at 40–72 hrs (mcg)	300 (300, 300)	1	100 (50, 150)	2	
Oxicodone at 40-72 hrs (mg)	9 (6, 23)	7	10 (4, 25)	10	
Morphine at 40-72 hrs (mg)	NA	0	10 (8, 13)	2	

No patients received ketamine at any timepoint. No patients received dexmetomidon or morphine at 0-40 hrs.

P-values were not analyzed for variables with few patients.

¹ Data presented as median (IQR) for all variables.

² Wilcoxon rank sum exact test; Wilcoxon rank sum test.

Table 4 - Serum concentration of sedatives and analgesics.

Drugs	Hypothermia, N = 34 ¹	Ν	Normothermia, $N = 37^1$	Ν	p-value ²
Propofol at 40 hrs (mcg/g)	1.80 (1.30, 2.30)	33	1.60 (0.95, 2.30)	31	0.2
Midazolam at 40 hrs (mcg/g)	0.07 (0.03, 0.27)	7	0.12 (0.05, 0.33)	5	
Clonidine at 40 hrs (mcg/g)	NA (NA, NA)	0	0.0030 (0.0014, 0.0048)	4	
Ketamine at 40 hrs (mcg/g)	NA (NA, NA)	0	0.3800 (0.3800, 0.3800)	1	
Fentanyl at 40 hrs (ng/g)	0.07 (0.06, 0.09)	8	0.08 (0.06, 0.11)	5	
Oxicodone at 40 hrs (mcg/g)	NA (NA, NA)	0	0.1400 (0.1400, 0.1400)	1	
Propofol at 72 hrs (mcg/g)	0.96 (0.40, 1.63)	24	0.51 (0.21, 1.23)	30	0.10
Midazolam at 72 hrs (mcg/g)	0.03 (0.02, 0.04)	5	0.07 (0.04, 0.16)	6	
Clonidine at 72 hrs (mcg/g)	0.0022 (0.0014, 0.0024)	3	0.0023 (0.0020, 0.0026)	4	
Fentanyl at 72 hrs (ng/g)	0.13 (0.10, 0.27)	4	0.07 (0.06, 0.08)	2	
Oxicodone at 72 hrs (mcg/g)	0.015 (0.010, 0.025)	8	0.013 (0.011, 0.020)	11	
Morphine at 72 hrs mcg/g)	NA (NA, NA)	0	0.12 (0.09, 0.16)	2	

No reported concentration of ketobemidon at any timepoint. No reported concentration of dexmedetodomidin or morphine at 40. No reported concentration of dexmedetomidin or ketamine at 72 hrs.

¹ Data presented as median (IQR) for all variables.

² Wilcoxon rank sum test; Wilcoxon rank sum exact test.



Fig. 1 – Boxplots of serum concentrations of propofol at 40 and 72 hours. Legend: Median serum concentrations of propofol at 40 hours were 1.80 (1.30, 2.30) in hypothermia patients compared to 1.60 (0.95, 2.30) normothermia patients, p = 0.2. Median serum concentrations of propofol at 72 hours were 0.96 (0.40, 1.63) in hypothermia patients compared to 0.51 (0.21, 1.23) in normothermia patients, p = 0.10. Two outliers not shown in the figure with concentration of 6,9 mcg/g (hypothermia) and 24,0 mcg/g (normothermia) at 40 hours.



Fig. 2 – Time from sedation stopped to awakening in patients receiving propofol and midazolam. Legend: The time from sedation discontinued to awakening was analyzed using log rank test and showed no significant difference in time to awakening between normothermia and hypothermia groups, p = 0.1.

hours (p = 0.49) (Supplemental Table 3). In multivariable linear regression analysis of potential predictors of serum concentrations of propofol (age, sex, BMI, peak NSE, highest bilirubin and doses of propofol) at 40 and 72 hours, TTM was not significantly associated at either 40 (p > 0.9) or 72 hours (p = 0.12) (Supplemental Table 4). BMI was the only variable associated with serum concentrations of propofol at 40 hours, p = 0.023. Age, p = 0.05, and administered dose of propofol at 40–72 hours, p = 0.008, was associated with propofol concentrations at 72 hours (Supplemental Table 5).

Discussion

This multicenter trial is, to our knowledge, the largest study on serum concentrations of sedative drugs during post cardiac arrest care. The majority of patients received short acting drugs. We found no statistically significant differences in administered doses or serum concentration of sedatives or analgesics at any of the investigated timepoints between patients managed at hypothermia or normothermia. In a multivariate analysis correcting for other confounders, temperature was not a predictor of serum concentrations of propofol. However, the median administered doses of propofol were more than 50% higher between 40-72 hours and median serum concentrations for propofol were nearly twice as high 72 hours in the hypothermia group compared to the normothermia group. There was no statistically significant differences in time to awakening after discontinuation of sedative drugs between normothermia and hypothermia. The small subgroup of patients sedated with midazolam had statistically significantly longer time to awakening if managed at hypothermia but the number of patients was very small.

Critical illness and lower body temperature slow the metabolism and clearance of sedative drugs, an effect mediated by lowered hepatic blood flow and effects on the cytochrome P450 system.^{6,7,10,19–}²² There was a tendency towards higher doses and serum concentrations of propofol was observed in patients managed at hypothermia but the level of TTM was not significantly associated with serum concentration when corrected for confounders. In a smaller study on pharmacokinetics of sedative and opioid analgesic drugs during TTM for postcardiac arrest care, Bjelland et al found lower clearance of propofol, fentanyl and morphine but not midazolam compared to a control group of normothermic general ICU patients.¹⁰ Another study on post cardiac arrest patients undergoing hypothermia, serum concentrations of remifentanil, propofol, and midazolam decreased with rewarming (when adjusting for infusion rates) whereas fentanyl concentrations did not.¹¹ Results on pharmacokinetics of sedatives during post cardiac arrest care and TTM are based on small patient cohorts and firm conclusions cannot be drawn. Regardless of level of TTM, lingering effects of sedation must be considered when interpreting clinical examination and neurophysiological tests used for neuroprognostication and decisions on WLST.

Previous studies have reported longer times until awakening in patients managed at hypothermia.^{5,23,24} In this study, a trend towards longer times from cardiac arrest until to awakening was observed in patients managed at hypothermia. In the small subset of patients receiving midazolam, the time until awakening was significantly longer in the hypothermia group. Elimination of propofol is faster than midazolam and it is possible that the delayed awakening was due to lingering effects of midazolam. Renal function was similar in the two patient groups but effects of individual patient factors such as degree of brain injury and rates of drug metabolism cannot be excluded. However, as the number of patients who received midazolam was small conclusions are limited.

The TTM2-trial reported cumulative drug doses at 0–72 hours.¹² Reported doses of propofol, midazolam, and remifentanil were similar to those reported in the present substudy of the TTM2-trial, suggesting generalizability of our results.¹² Reported propofol doses in this study are also similar to those reported at 0–48 hours in a substudy of the TTM-trial.⁵ Remifentanil was used in higher doses in the TTM2-trial than the TTM-trial, also suggesting a change in clinical practice towards shorter-acting drugs. A single-center study on delirium after postcardiac arrest care with TTM reported higher doses of sedatives in patients managed at TTM33°C than TTM36°C, but doses differed from those in our study.²⁵ The effect of sedative drugs will depend on the concentration at the effector site (brain) as well as patient factors including neurological state.

Dosing of sedative agents may be affected by several clinical variables, including dosing of analgesics, shivering and seizures. In our cohort there were no differences in doses or serum concentrations of analgesics between treatment groups, suggesting this was not an important confounder in the present study.²⁶⁻²⁸ Shivering is common during TTM and is treated due to the associated increased metabolic rate and oxygen consumption that may exacerbate secondary brain injury.^{16,29} We found a significantly higher prevalence of shivering in the hypothermia group compared to the normothermia group (p = 0.003), consistent with previously published data from the TTM2-trial.¹² The presence of shivering was associated with administered dose of propofol at 0-40 hours (i.e., during the TTM intervention - which is in accordance with the local protocol for treatment of shivering) but not at 40-72 hours. Thus, shivering may be a potential reason for increased dosing of sedatives in our study. Seizures are associated with poor neurological outcome after cardiac arrest and may be treated with sedatives and antiepileptic agents.³⁰ This study used treatment with an antiepileptic drug as a marker for any type of seizure (clinical or electrographic). Using this marker, we found a higher incidence of seizures in the hypothermia group compared to the normothermia group (p = 0.015). Seizures were not associated with doses of propofol or midazolam which suggests adequate treatment effect of antiepileptic drugs without need for increased sedation. The higher incidence of seizures in the hypothermia group may reflect a more severe brain injury in this treatment group, as NSE levels were somewhat higher, p = 0.068. Despite the possible difference in neurological injury, there were no differences in doses or serum concentrations of sedatives or time until awakening (excluding patients who received midazolam) between patients managed at hypothermia or at normothermia. This suggests that seizures were not a significant confounder in this study. An alternative explanation is that the lower doses of sedatives required to reach a state of deep sedation in more severe brain injury may have cancelled increased dosing due to seizures.

Limitations

The study is strengthened by use of data from multiple study-sites in the setting of a randomized trial, and patients managed according to a protocol with similar management between sites, apart from the TTM-intervention. However, this study has several limitations. Most patients received short acting drugs, limiting conclusions on other drug. Blood sampling was limited to two timepoints. Infusion-rates of drugs were not collected, and pharmacokinetic modelling was not used. Although the study protocol warranted deep sedation (RASS -4 to -5) data on level of sedation was not collected. Serum concentrations of neuromuscular blocking drugs were not collected. Data on clinical seizures and electroencephalography was not available. The lack of significant differences found could be due to lack of power and needs to be further investigated in large study.

Conclusions

No significant differences in sedative or analgesic drug dosing or concentrations were found between normothermia and hypothermia groups in a multicenter trial with mandatory deep sedation after 40 hours of temperature intervention or at 72 hours after cardiac arrest. These results suggests that hypothermia may not affect the concentration of sedatives and analgesic drugs after cardiac arrest. Overall, time to awakening from sedative discontinuation was also not significantly different between hypothermia and normothermia, indicating no difference in lingering sedative effects. These results need to be confirmed in a larger study.

Funding

Supported by the independent research grants from nonprofit or governmental agencies (the Swedish Research Council [Vetenskapsrådet], Swedish Heart-Lung Foundation, Stig och Ragna Gorthon Foundation, Knutsson Foundation, Laerdal Foundation, Hans-Gabriel and Alice Trolle-Wachtmeister Foundation for Medical Research, and Regional Research Support in Region Skåne) and by governmental founding of clinical research within the Swedish National Health Service.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Martin Annborn: Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal analysis, Investigation, Resources, Writing – review & editing, Supervision, Funding acquisition. Ameldina Ceric: Methodology, Formal analysis, Investigation, Resources, Data curation, Writing – original draft, Visualization, Project administration. Ola Borgquist: Investigation, Resources, Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing. Joachim During: Investigation, Resources, Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing. Marion Moseby-Knappe: Investigation, Resources, Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing. Anna Lybeck: Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal analysis, Investigation, Resources, Writing – review & editing, Supervision, Funding acquisition.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Susann Ullén for expert statistical advice.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.resuscitation.2023.109831.

Author details

^aAnesthesia & Intensive Care, Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Lund University, Helsingborg Hospital, Helsingborg, Sweden^bAnesthesia & Intensive Care, Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Skane University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden ^cAnesthesia & Intensive Care, Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Lund University, Skane University Hospital, Lund, Sweden ^dNeurology, Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Lund University, Skane University, Lund, Sweden

REFERENCES

- Bernard SA, Gray TW, Buist MD, Jones BM, Silvester WGG, Smith K. Treatment of comatose survivors of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest with induced hypothermia. N Engl J Med 2002;346:557–63.
- Hypothermia after Cardiac Arrest Study Group. Mild therapeutic hypothermia to improve the neurologic outcome after cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med 2002;346:549–56.
- Nolan JP, Sandroni C, Bottiger BW, et al. European Resuscitation Council and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine guidelines 2021: post-resuscitation care. Intensive Care Med 2021;47:369–421.
- Sandroni C, Nolan JP, Andersen LW, et al. ERC-ESICM guidelines on temperature control after cardiac arrest in adults. Intensive Care Med 2022;48:261–329.
- Lybeck A, Cronberg T, Aneman A, et al. Time to awakening after cardiac arrest and the association with target temperature management. Resuscitation 2018;126:166–71.
- van den Broek MPGF, Egberts AC, Rademaker CM. Effects of hypothermia on pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics: a systematic review of preclinical and clinical studies. Clin Pharmacokinet 2010;49:277–94.
- Leslie KSD, Bjorksten AR, Moayeri A. Mild hypothermia alters propofol pharmacokinetics and increases the duration of action of atracurium. Anesth Analg 1995;80:1007–14.
- Tortorici MA, Kochanek PM, Poloyac SM. Effects of hypothermia on drug disposition, metabolism, and response: A focus of hypothermiamediated alterations on the cytochrome P450 enzyme system. Crit Care Med 2007;35:2196–204.
- Varghese JM, Roberts JA, Lipman J. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in critically ill patients. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 2010;23:472–8.

- Bjelland TW, Klepstad P, Haugen BO, Nilsen T, Dale O. Effects of hypothermia on the disposition of morphine, midazolam, fentanyl, and propofol in intensive care unit patients. Drug Metab Dispos 2013;41:214–23.
- Bjelland TW, Klepstad P, Haugen BO, Nilsen T, Salvesen O, Dale O. Concentrations of remifentanil, propofol, fentanyl, and midazolam during rewarming from therapeutic hypothermia. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2014;58:709–15.
- Dankiewicz J, Cronberg T, Lilja G, et al. Hypothermia versus Normothermia after Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest. N Engl J Med 2021;384:2283–94.
- Targeted Hypothermia Versus Targeted Normothermia After Out-ofhospital Cardiac Arrest (TTM-2). ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02908308. Updated February 18, 2021. Accessed February 13, 2023. https://ClinicalTrials.gov/show/NCT02908308.
- Dankiewicz J, Cronberg T, Lilja G, et al. Targeted hypothermia versus targeted Normothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (TTM2): A randomized clinical trial-Rationale and design. Am Heart J 2019;217:23–31.
- Ely EWTB, Shintani A, Thomason JW, et al. Monitoring sedation status over time in ICU patients: reliability and validity of the Richmond Agitation-Sedation Scale (RASS). JAMA 2003;289:2983–91.
- Badjatia N, Strongilis E, Gordon E, et al. Metabolic impact of shivering during therapeutic temperature modulation: the Bedside Shivering Assessment Scale. Stroke 2008;39:3242–7.
- Haywood K, Whitehead L, Nadkarni VM, et al. COSCA (Core Outcome Set for Cardiac Arrest) in Adults: An Advisory Statement From the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation. Circulation 2018;137:e783–801.
- 18. Johansson A, Ahlner J, Lennborn U, et al. Quantitation of seven sedative and analgesic drugs in whole blood from intensive care patients using liquid chromatography mass spectrometry. Toxicologie Analytique et Clinique 2021;33:327–37.
- Hostler D, Zhou J, Tortorici MA, et al. Mild hypothermia alters midazolam pharmacokinetics in normal healthy volunteers. Drug Metab Dispos 2010;38:781–8.
- 20. Anderson KB, Poloyac SM, Kochanek PM, Empey PE. Effect of Hypothermia and Targeted Temperature Management on Drug Disposition and Response Following Cardiac Arrest: A Comprehensive Review of Preclinical and Clinical Investigations. Ther Hypothermia Temp Manag 2016;6:169–79.
- Michelsen LGHN, Lu W, Hoke JF, Hug CC, Bailey JM. The pharmacokinetics of remifentanil in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting with cardiopulmonary bypass. Anesth Analg 2001;93:1100–5.
- Russell D, Royston D, Rees PH, Gupta SK, Kenny GN. Effect of temperature and cardiopulmonary bypass on the pharmacokinetics of remifentanil. Br J Anaesth 1997;79:456–9.
- Grossestreuer AV, Abella BS, Leary M, et al. Time to awakening and neurologic outcome in therapeutic hypothermia-treated cardiac arrest patients. Resuscitation 2013;84:1741–6.
- Ponz I, Lopez-de-Sa E, Armada E, et al. Influence of the temperature on the moment of awakening in patients treated with therapeutic hypothermia after cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2016;103:32–6.
- 25. Foudraine NA, Algargoush A, van Osch FH, Bos AT. A multimodal sevoflurane-based sedation regimen in combination with targeted temperature management in post-cardiac arrest patients reduces the incidence of delirium: An observational propensity score-matched study. Resuscitation 2021;159:158–64.
- May TL, Riker RR, Fraser GL, et al. Variation in Sedation and Neuromuscular Blockade Regimens on Outcome After Cardiac Arrest. Crit Care Med 2018;46:e975–80.
- Nair SU, Lundbye JB. The occurrence of shivering in cardiac arrest survivors undergoing therapeutic hypothermia is associated with a good neurologic outcome. Resuscitation 2013;84:626–9.

- May TSD, McCrum B, et al. Association of shivering intensity with severity of brain injury during therapeutic hypothermia after cardiac arrest. Neurocrit Care 2010;13:S45.
- 29. Sandroni C, Cronberg T, Sekhon M. Brain injury after cardiac arrest: pathophysiology, treatment, and prognosis. Intensive Care Med 2021;47:1393–414.
- Backman S, Westhall E, Dragancea I, et al. Electroencephalographic characteristics of status epilepticus after cardiac arrest. Clin Neurophysiol 2017;128:681–768.

Articles

Effect of level of sedation on outcomes in critically ill adult patients: a systematic review of clinical trials with meta-analysis and trial sequential analysis

Ameldina Ceric,^{a,*} Johan Holgersson,^b Teresa L. May,^c Markus B. Skrifvars,^d Johanna Hästbacka,^e Manoj Saxena,^{f,g} Anders Aneman,^h Anthony Delaney,ⁱ Michael C. Reade,^j Candice Delcourt,^{k,n} Janus Christian Jakobsen,^{l,m} and Niklas Nielsen^b

^aAnesthesia & Intensive Care, Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Skane University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden ^bLund University, Helsingborg Hospital, Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Anesthesia & Intensive Care, Lund, Sweden ^cMaine Medical Center, Department of Critical Care, Portland, Maine, USA

^dDepartment of Emergency Care and Services, Helsinki University Hospital and University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland ^eDepartment of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care, Tampere University Hospital and Tampere University, Tampere, Finland ^fDivision of Critical Care, George Institute for Global Health, Australia

^gSt. George Hospital, South Eastern Sydney Local Health District, Sydney, Australia

^hIntensive Care Unit, Liverpool Hospital, South Western Sydney Local Health District, South Western Sydney Clinical School, University of New South Wales, Faculty of Medicine, Health and Human Sciences, Macquarie University, Sydney, Australia

The George Institute for Global Health, Sydney, NSW, Australia

^jMedical School, University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD, Australia

^kThe George Institute for Global Health, Faculty of Medicine, University of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW, Australia

^ICopenhagen Trial Unit – Centre for Clinical Intervention Research, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark

^mDepartment of Regional Health Research, The Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Southern Denmark, Denmark

ⁿDepartment of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Health and Human Sciences, Macquarie University, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Summary

Background Sedation is routinely administered to critically ill patients to alleviate anxiety, discomfort, and patientventilator asynchrony. However, it must be balanced against risks such as delirium and prolonged intensive care stays. This study aimed to investigate the effects of different levels of sedation in critically ill adults.

Methods Systematic review with meta-analysis and trial sequential analysis (TSA) of randomised clinical trials including critically ill adults admitted to the intensive care unit. CENTRAL, MEDLINE, Embase, LILACS, and Web of Science were searched from their inception to 13 June 2023. Risks of bias were assessed using the Cochrane risk of bias tool. Primary outcome was all-cause mortality. Aggregate data were synthesised with meta-analyses and TSA, and the certainty of the evidence was assessed using the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) approach. This study is registered with PROSPERO: CRD42023386960.

Findings Fifteen trials randomising 4352 patients were included, of which 13 were assessed high risk of bias. Metaanalyses comparing lighter to deeper sedation showed no evidence of a difference in all-cause mortality (risk ratio (RR) 0.94, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.83–1.06; p = 0.28; 15 trials; moderate certainty evidence), serious adverse events (RR 0.99, CI 0.92–1.06; p = 0.80; 15 trials; moderate certainty evidence), or delirium (RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.94–1.09; p = 0.78; 11 trials; moderate certainty evidence). TSA showed that when assessing mortality, a relative risk reduction of 16% or more between the compared interventions could be rejected.

Interpretation The level of sedation has not been shown to affect the risks of death, delirium, and other serious adverse events in critically ill adult patients. While TSA suggests that additional trials are unlikely to significantly change the conclusion of the meta-analyses, the certainty of evidence was moderate. This suggests a need for future high-quality studies with higher methodological rigor.





eClinicalMedicine 2024;71: 102569

Published Online 28 March 2024 https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.eclinm.2024. 102569

^{*}Corresponding author. Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Lund University, Skane University Hospital, Carl Bertil Laurels gata 9, 214 28, Malmo, Sweden.

E-mail addresses: ameldina.ceric@med.lu.se (A. Ceric), johan.holgersson@med.lu.se (J. Holgersson), Teresa.May@mainehealth.org (T.L. May), Markus.Skrifvars@hus.fi (M.B. Skrifvars), johanna.hastbacka@tuni.fi (J. Hästbacka), Manoj.Saxena@health.nsw.gov.au (M. Saxena), Anders.Aneman@health.nsw.gov.au (A. Aneman), anthony.delaney@sydney.edu.au (A. Delaney), m.reade@uq.edu.au (M.C. Reade), cdelcourt@georgeinstitute. org.au (C. Delcourt), jcj_ctu@icloud.com (J.C. Jakobsen), niklas.nielsen@med.lu.se (N. Nielsen).

Funding None.

Copyright © 2024 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Keywords: Systematic review; Meta-analysis; Critically ill; Intensive care; Sedation; Mortality

Research in context

Evidence before this study

In a preliminary search of PubMed, Web of Science, Embase, and Cochrane Library databases, spanning from inception to March 5th, 2024, for each database, we reviewed the existing evidence on the effect of sedation on critically ill adult patients. We used specific search terms "sedation OR hypnotics" AND "critically ill OR critical care OR intensive care" AND "adult" AND "meta-analyses". A systematic review and meta-analyses published in 2020 investigated the effect of light sedation compared to deep sedation in critically ill adults and found that the deeper sedation group had a significantly increased risk for death. In contrast, a meta-analysis published in 2021 showed in meta-analysis of the included randomised trials showed no evidence of a difference in intensive care mortality. Furthermore, a meta-analysis published in 2018 showed lower mortality rate in patients treated with lighter sedation compared with deeper sedation.

Introduction

Patients with acute serious illnesses who require intensive care admission, also require effective treatment of associated discomfort, anxiety, agitation, and pain that occurs during the process of resuscitation, diagnostics, and subsequent management. The patient's ability to communicate discomfort and pain is often compromised by the several factors including severity of illness, altered mental status, medications, and the need for organ support.¹ Clinical status changes frequently, so clinicians need to continuously assess patient symptoms to assure appropriate titration of sedatives and analgesics.^{2,3}

In the short-term, sedatives are primarily used to combat anxiety, agitation, and to prevent patient-ventilator asynchrony. They also decrease the level of consciousness and reduce the capacity of the patient to respond to stimuli and interact with the environment. Sedatives blunt the sympathetic response and may cause cardiovascular dysfunction. In the medium-to long-term, deep sedation is associated with prolonged length of intensive care unit (ICU) stay and associated complications such as delirium.^{4,5} Post-traumatic stress disorder is common after acute serious illness and may be related to sedative use or choice of sedative agent.⁶⁻⁸ By tailoring sedation to the patients' needs and circumstances, health care providers can determine appropriate level of sedation and manage adverse events. This can

Added value of this study

Thus, the previously conducted meta-analyses are inconclusive and this study addresses the limitations of prior meta-analyses by considering the risks of both systematic errors and random errors including Trial Sequential Analysis (TSA), that may enhance the robustness of our analysis and provide a more comprehensive evaluation of the available evidence.

Implications of all the available evidence

This meta-analysis suggests that the level of sedation does not seem to affect the risks of death, serious adverse events, or delirium in critically ill adult patients. While the TSA indicates that additional trials are unlikely to significantly change these findings, the moderate certainty of evidence and the high risk of bias in the included studies highlights the importance for future high-quality trials with increased methodological rigour to ensure more reliable conclusions.

be achieved by considering patient-related factors such as age, gender, past medical history, the trajectory of the illness, and the pharmacological properties of the agents used.^{1,5}

In addition to these considerations, there has been a long-standing discussion about the potential risks and benefits of minimising the depth of sedation, particuthe general, non-brain-injured ICU larly in population.^{1,5,9,10} In patients with brain injury, there is an additional need to manage increased intracranial pressure and seizures and closely monitor the patient's response to stimuli. In practice clinicians often use sedation scales to assess the effect of sedatives on anxiety, agitation, and level of consciousness, to alter the dose of sedatives and target a level of sedation.5,10 Observational trials have shown a correlation between deeper sedation and adverse outcomes, including mortality and duration of mechanical ventilation.11,12 However, these studies possess inherent limitations, notably incomplete adjustment for illness severity. For instance, participants who are eligible for lighter sedation are those who are least likely to have poor outcomes. Adjusting for this confounding factor using observed indices of illness severity presents challenges. Randomised clinical trials are the most effective approach to address this confounding. Despite several randomised clinical trials addressing the question, the balance of risk and benefit associated with light sedation is neither

clear nor universally accepted in clinical practice. The previously conducted meta-analyses have some important limitations.^{9,13,14} This study addresses the limitations of prior meta-analyses by considering the risks of both systematic errors and random errors including Trial Sequential Analysis (TSA).¹⁵ TSA, a methodology not utilized in previous studies, may enhance the robustness of our analysis, and provide a more comprehensive evaluation of the available evidence. Accordingly, the primary aim of this study was to investigate the association of level of sedation with all-cause mortality by undertaking a quantitative assessment of all relevant published clinical trials. Secondary aims were to identify associations between level of sedation, neurological outcome, and serious adverse events. Our hypothesis was that lighter sedation compared with deeper sedation reduces the risk of death by 25% in critically ill adult patients admitted to the ICU.

Methods

Search strategy and selection criteria

This systematic review, incorporating meta-analyses and trial sequential analysis (TSA) of randomised clinical trials, was conducted in accordance with the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) guideline. The PRISMA checklist was used to guide the reporting process and ensure the inclusion of essential items for a high-quality systematic review. The review protocol was registered prospectively on the international prospective registry of systematic reviews (CRD42023386960), and a pre-specified protocol was published.¹⁶ We searched all relevant databases (Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CEN-TRAL) in the Cochrane Library, MEDLINE, Embase, LI-LACS, Web of Science Core Collection) from their inception to 13 June 2023 and included randomised clinical trials including critically ill adults admitted to ICU. Trial inclusion required comparison of sedation with no sedation or lighter sedation (however defined by the included study) with deeper sedation. Studies comparing any intervention with one group targeting lighter sedation than the other group, were eligible for inclusion, irrespectively of methods (for example sedations scales, sedation protocol, or type of sedative drug) used to achieve this separation. Studies were not eligible if no separation of targeted sedation depth could be identified.

Data analyses

The primary outcomes were all cause mortality at longest follow-up. Secondary outcomes were serious adverse events at any timepoint, poor neurological outcome (defined by trialists) at longest follow-up, and delirium at any time-point in the ICU admission. Exploratory outcomes were PTSD and duration of mechanical ventilation. In accordance with the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions, two authors independently reviewed each trial for risk of bias, using the second version of the Cochrane risk of bias tool for randomised trials (RoB2).17 We calculated risk ratios with 95% confidence intervals (CI) by using meta-analyses for dichotomous outcomes. We performed meta-analyses by following the Cochrane Handbook of Systematic Reviews of Interventions, Keus and colleagues, and Jakobsen and colleagues.18 We used RStudio version 2022.02.3+492 to analyse the data. We combined a visual inspection of forest plots and statistical analyses to identify potential heterogeneity. We performed subgroup analyses (based on type of intervention, follow up time, and risk of bias) for the outcomes all-cause-mortality, serious adverse events and delirium to further investigate heterogeneity and to inspire hypotheses for future studies. Aiming to reduce the risk of type I and II errors, we used a multiplicity adjusted p-value and trial sequential analysis, by dividing the prespecified p value threshold with the value halfway between 1 (no adjustment) and the number of primary and secondary outcome comparisons (Bonferroni adjustment).¹⁵ Cumulative meta-analyses are at risk of random errors due to sparse data and multiple testing of accumulating data. Therefore, TSA can be applied to control these risks (http://www.ctu.dk/tsa/). Similar to a sample size calculation in a randomised clinical trial, TSA estimates the diversity-adjusted required information size (DARIS) (ie, the number of participants needed in a meta-analysis to detect or reject a certain intervention effect) in order to minimise random errors. Using TSA analyses, we pragmatically anticipated an intervention effect equal to a risk ratio reduction (RRR) of 25%, as recommended by the GRADE guidelines when previous evidence do not provide other preliminary estimations.¹⁸ Additionally, we used trial sequential analysis to define the lowest intervention-effects-threshold we can confirm or reject. We used the approach proposed by the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) Working Group for rating the certainty of the evidence.19 A comprehensive description of the methods is provided in the Supplementary Materials and published protocol.16

Ethics approval and consent to participate

No formal approval or review of ethics is required for this systematic review as individual patient data will not be included.

Role of funding source

There was no funding source for this study. All authors had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

Results

The search strategy defined in the protocol found 17,621 publications that were evaluated to identify trials matching our inclusion criteria. We included a total of

15 trials randomising 4352 participants (Fig. 1).²⁰⁻³³ Funnel plot of included trials showed a symmetrical distribution around the effect estimate (risk ratio) suggesting minimal risk of publication bias (see Supplement Figure S1). Linear regression of the funnel plot (Egger's statistics) was not significant (intercept -0.1953, standard error = 0.56, p-value = 0.73) and this supported the visual inspection of the funnel plot that there are no clear signs of publication bias. Four trials with 2084 participants compared no sedation with sedation. Eleven trials involving 2268 participants were included to compare different sedation levels. Among these trials, four focused on comparing daily interruption of sedatives to continuous sedation, one trial compared intermittent sedation to daily interruption of sedatives, and two trials compared lighter sedation (defined as Motor activity assessment scale (MAAS) 3-4 or Modified Ramsey sedation scale level 1-2) to deeper sedation (defined as MAAS 1-2 or Modified Ramsey sedation scale level 3-4). Additionally, only four trials specified the type of sedative used, comparing dexmedetomidine to other sedatives. The characteristics of included studies and definition of the separation of sedation levels are presented in Supplement Table S1. Most participants (1843 in 12 trials) were hemodynamically unstable, and 1550 participants (10 trials) had respiratory failure. A minority of participants (150 participants in 7 trials) were trauma participants, 7 participants (1 trial) were neurologically injured participants, and no trials reported cardiac arrest participants. We assessed 13 trials as being of high risk of bias and 2 trials of being low risk of bias (Fig. 2). The most common reason for high risk of bias was the lack of successful blinding to treating clinicians which introduces potential bias through deviations from the intended intervention. The 15 included trials (Fig. 1) were included in meta-analyses. Missing data on the primary outcome constituted <5% of the overall data, and we



Fig. 1: PRISMA flow diagram outlining study inclusion.

		Girard	Metha	Nasser	Olsen	Pandheripande	PRODEX	MIDEX	Samuelson	Shebabi	SRLF	Strom	Treggiari	Abdelghany	Weisbrodt	Anifantaki
		2008	2012	2014	2020	2007	2012	2012	2008	2013	2018	2010	2005	2020	2011	2009
1	D1	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	?	+	+	+	+	+	+
1	D2	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	?	-
]	D3	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	-		
1	D4ª	+ ^b	+ ^b	+ ^{b,c}	+b	+	+ ^{d,e}	+ ^{d,e}	+ ^{b,c}	+ ^b	+ ^b	+ ^b	+ ^{c, d}	_b	_ ^d	-
1	D5	+	+	+	+	?	+	+	?	?	+	?	+	-	?	?
01	erall	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	+

Fig. 2: Risk of bias summary. Risk of bias summary for randomised controlled trials included in evidence. Synthesis. Risk of bias assessment used Cochrane risk of bias tool 2 (RoB2). D1, bias arising from randomisation process; D2, bias due to deviations from intended intervention; D3, bias due to missing outcome data; D4, bias in measurement of outcome; D5, bias in selection of reported result. +, low risk; ?, some concerns; -, high risk? ^a This is regarding all-cause mortality and serious adverse event as outcome. ^b High risk for outcomes delirium and duration of mechanical ventilation. ^c High risk for the outcome PTSD. ^d High risk of bias for the duration of mechanical ventilation outcome. ^e High risk for outcome delirium.

deemed the impact of missing data to be low; therefore, we did not perform sensitivity analyses.

Primary outcome

All-cause mortality

Fifteen trials with a total of 4352 participants reported all-cause mortality. A total of 739 (33.9%) of 2177 in the lighter sedation group died compared to 748 (34.3%) of 2175 in the deeper sedation group. The timing of outcome assessment varied between trials, ranging from 28 days to 356 days after randomisation. Metaanalysis showed no evidence of a difference in allcause mortality (risk ratio 0.94, 95% CI 0.83-1.06; $I^2 = 20\%$; p = 0.28; 15 trials; moderate certainty evidence) (Fig. 3; Table 1). Visual inspection of the forest plot and quantitative measures of heterogeneity $(I^2 = 20.0\%)$ did not show clear signs of heterogeneity (Fig. 3). TSA showed that a relative risk reduction of 16% or more between the compared interventions could be rejected (Figs. 4 and 5). We assessed this outcome result as high risk of bias and the certainty of the evidence as moderate (Table 1).

Secondary outcomes

Serious adverse events

Fifteen with a total of 4352 participants reported on serious adverse events. The most commonly reported serious adverse events (SAEs) included death (68.1% of all reported SAE) and secondary delirium (31.9% of all reported SAE). The assessment time points varied between trials, ranging from 28 days to hospital discharge,

to 365 days after randomisation. A total of 883 (40.6%) of 2177 trial participants had a serious adverse event in the lighter sedation group compared with 893 (41.1%) of 2175 in the deeper sedation group. Meta-analysis showed no evidence of a difference (risk ratio 0.99, 0.92–1.06; $I^2 = 0\%$; p = 0.80; 15 trials; moderate certainty evidence) (Supplement Figure S2; Table 1). Quantitative assessment of heterogeneity ($I^2 = 0\%$) combined with visual inspection of the forest plot did not show signs of significant heterogeneity (Supplement Figure S2). TSA showed that a relative risk reduction of 9% or more between the compared interventions could be rejected (Supplement Figure S3 and S3a).

Neurological outcome

No trials reported on neurological outcome.

Delirium

Eleven trials with a total of 3368 participants reported on delirium. Eight trials used Confusion Assessment Method for the Intensive Care Unit (CAM-ICU), one used Diagnostic and Statistical Manual fourth edition (DSM-IV), and one used intensive care screening delirium checklist.³⁴⁻³⁶ The assessment time points varied between trials, ranging from 48 h, to ICU, to hospital discharge, to 28 days after randomisation. A total of 570 (33.9%) of 1681 trial participants had delirium in the lighter sedation group compared with 561 (33.2%) of 1687 in the deeper sedation group. Meta-analysis showed no evidence of a difference (risk ratio 1.01, 95% CI 0.94–1.09; p = 0.78; 11 trials; moderate certainty

Study	year	sample	Risk Ratio	RR	95%-CI	Weight (common)	Weight (random)
Jakob (MIDEX)	2012	500	-	1.30	[0.93; 1.80]	6.3%	8.8%
Jakob (PRODEX)	2012	498		0.83	[0.55; 1.23]	5.7%	6.6%
Metha	2012	423	+	0.98	[0.73; 1.31]	8.2%	10.2%
Nasser	2014	60	.	0.69	[0.35; 1.37]	1.7%	2.7%
Olsen	2020	700	1	1.14	[0.95; 1.38]	16.6%	16.5%
Shehabi	2013	37		1.90	[0.42; 8.58]	0.3%	0.6%
SRLF trial group	2018	1174	+	0.91	[0.81; 1.03]	37.7%	21.4%
Strom	2010	113		0.78	[0.50; 1.22]	3.4%	5.6%
Treggiari	2005	129		0.98	[0.48; 2.03]	1.5%	2.4%
Girard	2008	335	-	0.77	[0.62; 0.95]	12.4%	14.5%
Pandharipande	2007	103		0.63	[0.30; 1.33]	1.8%	2.3%
Samuelson	2008	36		3.00	[0.13; 68.97]	0.1%	0.1%
Abdelghany	2020	97		0.43	[0.09; 2.09]	0.6%	0.5%
Weisbrodt	2011	50		1.09	[0.61; 1.95]	1.5%	3.6%
Anifantaki	2009	97		0.87	[0.51; 1.50]	2.3%	4.0%
Common effect mode	el		¢	0.95	[0.88; 1.02]	100.0%	
Random effects mode Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 20\%$	el , τ ² = 0.01	33, <i>p</i> = 0.23		0.94	[0.83; 1.06]		100.0%
			0.1 0.51 2 10				
Anifantaki Common effect mode Random effects mod Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 20\%$,	2009 el el , $\tau^2 = 0.01$	97 33, <i>p</i> = 0.23	0.1 0.51 2 10	0.87 0.95 0.94	[0.51; 1.50] [0.88; 1.02] [0.83; 1.06]	2.3% 100.0%	4.0%

Lighter sedation Deeper sedation

Outcome: All-cause mortality

Fig. 3: Random effects meta-analysis comparing lighter sedation versus deeper sedation for all-cause mortality. Random effects metaanalysis comparing lighter sedation versus deeper sedation for all-cause mortality (risk ratio 0.94, 95% confidence interval 0.83–1.06; p-val = 0.23; $l^2 = 20\%$; 15 trials). The risk ratios show a favor of lighter sedation to the left and deeper sedation to the right.

evidence) (Supplement Figure S4; Table 1). Quantitative measures of heterogeneity ($I^2 = 20\%$) combined with visual inspection of the forest plot did not show signs of significant heterogeneity (Supplement Figure S4). TSA showed that a relative risk reduction of 12% or more between the compared interventions could be rejected (Supplement Figure S5 and 5a).

Exploratory outcomes

Duration of mechanical ventilation

Five trials including 1024 participants reported on the duration of mechanical ventilation. Meta-analyses showed no evidence of a difference (mean difference –0.91 (CI –2.01 to 0.18), p = 0.10; $I^2 = 0\%$; 5 trials) (Supplement Figure S6). Quantitative measures of heterogeneity ($I^2 = 0\%$) combined with visual inspection of the forest plot did not show signs of significant heterogeneity (Supplement Figure S6).

Posttraumatic stress disorder

One study (60 participants) reported higher median scores in the lighter sedation group using Impact of Event Scale, indicating higher psychological distress at 6 months follow up.³⁷ Two studies (138 participants) used Impact of Event Scale Revised to report on post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) 2 months and 4 weeks follow up.³⁸ Six (8.6%) out of 70 participants had PTSD in the lighter sedation group and 6 (8.8%) out of 68 participants had PTSD in the deeper sedation group. Meta-analysis showed no evidence of a difference (risk

ratio 0.97, 95% CI 0.33–2.85; p = 0.95) (Supplement Figure S7). Quantitative measures of heterogeneity ($I^2 = 0\%$) combined with visual inspection of the forest plot did not show signs of significant heterogeneity (Supplement Figure S7).

Other exploratory outcomes

No studies reported data on quality of life, mean arterial blood pressure, body core temperature, or intracranial pressure.

Subgroup analyses

None of the prespecified subgroup analyses showed evidence of a difference (Supplement Figures S8–S16).

Discussion

In this systematic review with meta-analyses and trial sequential analysis of data from 15 randomised clinical trials and 4352 participants with moderate-level evidence, we showed that level of sedation did not seem to affect the risk of death in critically ill adults, based on studies conducted to 13 June 2023. We found almost no signs of statistical heterogeneity, and none of the predefined subgroup analyses showed evidence of a difference in all-cause mortality, which supports the validity of our meta-analysis results. We found no evidence that the level of sedation affected delirium or other serious adverse events. Further, we found no evidence that the level of sedation affected duration of

Patients or population: Critically ill adult patient admitted to intensive care unit. Setting: Admitted to intensive care unit. Intervention: Lighter sedation. Control: Deeper sedation.									
Outcome	Anticipated absolu (95% CI) ^c	ite effect size	Relative effect size (95% CI)	No of participants (studies)	Certainty of evidence (GRADE)	Comments			
	Risk with control	Risk with intervention							
All-cause mortality (follow up range: 28 days-365 days)	343 per 1000	339 per 1000	RR: 0.94 (0.83, 1.06)	4352 (15 RCT)	Moderate ^a	Risk of bias: Serious Inconsistency: No Indirectness: No Imprecision: No Publication bias: No			
Serious adverse events (follow up range: 28 days-365 days)	411 per 1000	406 per 1000	RR: 0.99 (0.92, 1.06)	4352 (15 RCT)	Moderate ^a	Risk of bias: Serious Inconsistency: No Indirectness: No Imprecision: No Publication bias: No			
Delirium (follow up range: 7 days-45 days)	332 per 1000	339 per 1000	RR: 1.01 (0.94, 1.09)	3368 (11 RCT)	Moderate ^ª	Risk of bias: Serious Inconsistency: No Indirectness: No Imprecision: No Publication bias: No			
PTSD (follow up range: 4 weeks-2 months)	88 per 1000	85 per 1000	RR: 0.97 (0.33, 2,85)	138 (2 RCT)	Low ^{a,b}	Risk of bias: Serious Inconsistency: No Indirectness: No Imprecision: yes Publication bias: No			

confidence in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect. Explanations: ^aDowngraded one for risk of bias. ^bDowngraded one for imprecision due to small sample size and wide confidence intervals. ^cThe risk in the intervention group (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the relative effect of the intervention (and its 95% CI).

Table 1: Summary of findings table for lighter sedation versus deeper sedation.

mechanical ventilation or post-traumatic stress disorder. Finally, we found insufficient evidence to confirm or reject the hypothesis that the level of sedation affected neurological outcome. Among the fifteen included studies, thirteen were deemed to have a high risk of bias, primarily due to deviations from the intended intervention. The lack of blinding in the study designs extended to treating clinicians and outcome assessors, who were aware of trial participants' targeted sedation levels. This could have influenced medical decisions, potentially leading to adjustments in sedative dosages and other treatment approaches. Consequently, unintended deviations from the planned intervention might have affected patient outcomes, impacting factors such as recovery trajectories and clinical assessments. This could impact the validity and reliability of the study results, thus the overall level of evidence of these studies is moderate. The high risk of bias in these studies suggests a need for future studies with higher methodological rigor to address this limitation and provide more reliable results. It is difficult to blind the immediate treatment providers and patients to the allocated sedation level, however, other health care providers, outcome assessors, statisticians, and authors may be blinded to reduce the impact of not being able to blind the immediate treatment providers and patients.

The effects of different levels of sedation in critically ill patients remain uncertain, and consequently, the optimal assessment time point of mortality for such patients are not established. It is crucial to ensure that the duration of observation is sufficiently extended to allow physiological processes the necessary time to result in observable clinical events. However, the observation period must not extend too long, this might introduce events unrelated events to the intervention to occur, which might compromise the statistical power. Hence, for our primary analyses, we pragmatically selected the time to longest follow up a prior, adhering to this decision irrespectively of the study design or results, in accordance with the protocol.¹⁶

Our study included randomised clinical trials where it was possible to separate between different levels of sedation, regardless of the methodological approach used to define the targeted sedation level. The SPICE-III trial, comparing dexmedetomidine with usual sedation, aimed for "light sedation" using the RASS scale in both

Articles



Fig. 4: Trial sequential analysis (TSA) of lighter sedation versus deeper sedation for all-cause mortality. Two-sided TSA graph of lighter sedation versus deeper sedation for all-cause mortality in 15 trials. Diversity-adjusted required information size (DARIS) was calculated on basis of all-cause mortality proportion in control group of 36.4%, relative risk reduction of 16% in experimental group, type I error (α) of 2%, and type II error (β) of 10% (90% power). Required information size was calculated to be 7085 participants. Cumulative z curve (red lines above and under) did not cross trial sequential monitoring boundaries for either benefit or harm. Cumulative z curve did cross inner wedge futility line (red outward sloping lines).

groups.³⁹ As a result, there was no separation of targeted sedation levels, making it ineligible for inclusion in this review. Notably, despite a slightly higher proportion of patients with lighter RASS scores in the dexmedetomidine group (56.6% vs. 51.8%), no significant difference in outcomes was observed among the 4000 randomized patients. We included studies that used a protocolised approach to sedation, where one protocol aimed to achieve a lighter sedation level than the other group. The method used to achieve the targeted sedation level was not a criterion for study inclusion. Two studies used sedation scales (MAAS and modified Ramsey sedation scale) to differentiate between levels of sedation, but they used different types of sedation scales, and the approach was not consistent. It should be noted that using sedation scales to define levels of sedation is not inherently better or worse than other methods, and similarly, the protocolised sedation approach employed in three other studies (using daily interruption of sedatives or intermittent sedation as the lighter sedation group and continues as the deeper sedation group) is not necessarily superior. However, the difference in how the sedation scales were used in the two studies and the variation in the protocolised sedation approach used in these studies prevent direct comparisons of these results. Additionally, it should be noted that in some studies, the lighter sedation group may correspond to the deeper sedation group in other studies, making direct comparisons across studies classifying the groups into deeper versus lighter sedation even more challenging. For instance, two study used no sedation versus sedation with daily interruption, while three studies compared daily interruption with continuous sedation. The variation in sedation approaches, study design, and methods used to define sedation levels can make it challenging to interpret the results of these meta-analyses. The fact that different studies used different sedation protocols, sedation scales, or no sedation at all, means that the sedation levels achieved in the studies may not be directly comparable. Although our study did not find significant evidence of heterogeneity, it is essential to note that our results primarily demonstrate the effect of lighter sedation compared to deeper sedation aiming to achieve similar outcomes, regardless of the specific method used to achieve the targeted sedation level.

While the included studies used various methodologies to achieve the targeted sedation level, including

Articles



Fig. 5: Trial sequential analysis (TSA) of lighter sedation versus deeper sedation for all-cause mortality. Two-sided TSA graph of lighter sedation versus deeper sedation for all-cause mortality in 15 trials. Diversity-adjusted required information size (DARIS) was calculated on basis of all-cause mortality proportion in control group of 36.4%, relative risk reduction of 25% in experimental group, type I error (α) of 2%, and type II error (β) of 10% (90% power). Required information size was calculated to be 2824 participants. Cumulative z curve (red lines above and under) did not cross trial sequential monitoring boundaries for either benefit or harm. Cumulative z curve did cross inner wedge futility line (red outward sloping lines).

sedation scales, protocolised sedation, interruption of sedatives, and no sedation; the results showed consistent effects of lighter sedation compared to deeper sedation. Although this variation in methodology may limit the reliability of the results, the fact that subgroups of these different methodologies also showed the same results increases the confidence in the overall findings. Nevertheless, the results should be interpreted cautiously, and further investigation and consideration of the various methodologies addressed in future studies. The lack of consensus on the definition of light, moderate, and deep sedation makes it challenging to evaluate the effect of the level of sedation on critically ill patients. Confounding factors, such as the severity of illness and underlying condition also affect the assessment of sedation depth. Therefore, investigating the effect of sedation is complex and warrants further highquality studies to optimise care in critically ill adult patients.

TSA crossed the line of futility which adds to the robustness of our findings. Even though this suggests that additional trials are unlikely to change the conclusion of the meta-analyses significantly, it is essential to consider the moderate quality evidence included in the TSA, as this can impact the reliability and strength of the conclusion. Dealing with low-moderate quality evidence and high risk of bias can result in over- or underestimation of the true effect size. Therefore, when interpreting the TSA which are based on the effect estimate, it is important to consider the potential for bias and imprecision in the included trials. Thus, further research with similar methodologies used are unlikely to result in new findings, this study shows that future research must include refined methods and patient selection to determine if the level of sedation effects mortality. Specifically, future studies should aim to address the limitations of current evidence by using standardised methodology to assess the sedation depth and blinding of study participants and outcome assessors to reduce the risk of bias.

Our review has several strengths. Our method was predefined in detail, and the protocol was published before we performed our literature search. We searched all relevant databases, used an eight-step assessment suggested by Jakobsen and colleagues to assess our results' clinical significance, and we used TSA to reduce the risks of type I and type II errors.¹⁵ Furthermore, we did meta-analyses with both fixed effects and random effects meta-analysis, we investigated subgroup differences, and we assessed the certainty of the evidence through GRADE.

The main limitation of our review is the lowmoderate methodological quality of the included trials, with most of the included trials were at high risk of bias. The inclusion of active comparator trials is a potentially complicating factor regarding interpretation of the results. The limitation of including active comparator trials (lighter versus deeper sedation, dexmedetomidine versus propofol, midazolam, and lorazepam, daily interruption versus continuous sedation) compared to intervention versus control (no sedation versus sedation) can complicate the interpretation of the results, as the results of active comparator trials can be influenced not only by the level of sedation but also by choice of sedatives and factors such as patient characteristics or clinical setting. Similarly, in trial comparing dexmedetomidine versus propofol, differences in pharmacological properties of the two drugs may impact the results, in addition to differences in the level of sedation. However, in the absence of heterogeneity between trials, as in our study, this should not be considered limiting to our results. Aiming to be inclusive, we accepted various patients and interventions. Furthermore, it is important to consider that the randomised clinical trials may have a potential weakness in this context, as they may not have included the sickest adult critically ill patients due lack of equipoise regarding lighter or deeper sedation. As a result, the trials may not have provided a comprehensive representation of the entire critically ill population. The inclusion of the most severely ill patients in the trials might have limited the ability to detect a mortality benefit associated with either lighter or deeper sedation strategies, leaving the question unanswered. Another limitation is in the secondary outcome delirium, where the assessment quality varies among studies, potentially impacting results. For instance, assessment frequency differs, ranging from one timepoint to daily assessments, and some studies lack detailed descriptions of the assessment methodology.

Guidelines suggest targeting lighter sedation or using daily awakening test to improve short-term outcomes, with low quality evidence.^{1,40} This study shows that lighter sedation compared to deeper sedation does not seem to affect mortality and other selected outcomes. However, it remains unknown whether this applies regardless the methods used to achieve the targeted sedation such as choice of sedative drug, choice of sedation scale used, or protocolised sedation. Our results suggest little to no difference in effect of the level of sedation, and we could reject a relative risk reduction of at least 16%. We acknowledge that a relative risk reduction of less than 16% may still be clinically relevant. Level of sedation may be investigated in further adequately powered high quality randomised trials, including a health economics perspective, to define implications for patients and society. Moreover, there is a notable paucity of studies specifically investigating the optimal level of sedation in patient populations such as brain injured patients and cardiac arrest patients, who pose unique challenges in sedation management. These critical patient groups, which often require intensive care management, are frequently excluded from randomised clinical trials assessing sedation strategies in critically ill patients. In particular, altered consciousness and neurological deficits in brain injured patients contribute to the complexity of accurately assessing and monitoring sedation levels, making using sedation scales difficult. Consequently, the generalisability of our findings to these relevant populations remains to be determined.

In summary, the level of sedation did not seem to affect the risks of death, serious adverse events, or delirium in critically ill adult patients. While the TSA suggests that additional trials are unlikely to significantly change the conclusion of the meta-analyses, the certainty of the evidence was only moderate. This suggests a need for future high-quality trials with increased methodological rigour to address this limitation and provide more reliable results.

Contributors

AC, JCJ, and NN have substantially contributed with the concept and design of the work. AC has drafted the work and analysed the data. AC and JH accessed and verified the underlying data. All authors (AC, JHo, TLM, MBS, JHä, MS, AA, AD, MCR, CD, JCJ, and NN) had full access to the data, and have substantially contributed with interpreting the data and revised the work. All authors had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

Data sharing statement

All data generated or analysed during this study are included in this published article and its supplementary information files. Extracted data are available on request to the corresponding author.

Declaration of interests

All authors have completed the ICMJE uniform disclosure form at www. icmje.org/coi_disclosure.pdf and declare: TLM declares that her institution received grants (ICECAP (UG3HL134269)) for her role as site principal investigator for SIREN funded RCT for cardiac arrest patients and are on clinical standardization committee. TLM's institution has secured funding for her involvement as a co-investigator in an ancillary study related to ICECAP, with a 5% Full-Time Equivalent support allocation (PRECICECAP (R01NS119825)). Additionally, TLM is principial investigator for a grant, reducing rural disparities in cardiac arrest outcomes by standardization of care (P20GM139745)), with 50% FTE support with funds to the institution. MSk received speakers fee 2021 and 2022 for BARD Medical (Ireland). JHä declares that she received grants from Paulo Foundation, Tor och Kirsti Johanssons Hjärt och Cancerstiftelse, Finska Läkaresällskapet, NordForsk, and Government funding for University Level research (2021, 2022, and 2023). JHä also declared that her institution (Tampere University Hospital research services) received a consultation fee from Paion and that JHä participated on Data Safety Monitoring Board or Adversary Board in Paion. JHä also received payment for lectures for Finnish Medical association, Laboratory Medicine, and Duodecim (a Finnish society of physicians). Additionally, JHä has a role in Educational Committee of Scandinavian Society of Anaesthesiology, board member of Advanced Educational Committee of Intensive Care Medicine in Scandinavian Society of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine, and European Society of

Intensive Care Medicine: National representative and faculty in CoBa-TriCe Finnish Sepsis Society and have minor share of Orion B stock. MCR declare that his institution (University of Queensland) received grant support from National Health and Medical Research Council, Australia, Medical Research Future Fund, and Intensive Care Foundation, Australian Defence Force, and Royal Brisbane and Women's Hospital Foundation the past 36 months. MCR also received payment for expert testimony (in cases not related to the subject matter of this paper) from government of the Northern Territory High Court of New Zealand, received payment for being a member of DSMB for clod stored platelet trial, and his wife had stock investment in ETF that includes biomedical shares, which were sold 12 months ago. NN declared that his institution received support for the present study from Swedish Research Council and governmental funds within the Swedish Health Care (ALF). All other authors declared no conflicts of interests.

Acknowledgements

The authors have not declared a specific grant or funding source for this research.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data related to this article can be found at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2024.102569.

References

- Devlin JW, Skrobik Y, Gelinas C, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of pain, agitation/sedation, delirium, immobility, and sleep disruption in adult patients in the ICU. Crit Care Med. 2018;46(9):e825–e873.
- 2 Vincent JL, Shehabi Y, Walsh TS, et al. Comfort and patient-centred care without excessive sedation: the eCASH concept. *Intensive Care Med.* 2016;42(6):962–971.
- 3 Chanques G, Pohlman A, Kress JP, et al. Psychometric comparison of three behavioural scales for the assessment of pain in critically ill patients unable to self-report. *Crit Care*. 2014;18(5):R160.
- 4 Celis-Rodríguez E, Díaz Cortés JC, Cárdenas Bolívar YR, et al. Evidence-based clinical practice guidelines for the management of sedoanalgesia and delirium in critically ill adult patients. *Med Intensiva*. 2020;44(3):171–184.
- 5 DAS-Taskforce 2015, Baron R, Binder A, et al. Evidence and consensus based guideline for the management of delirium, analgesia, and sedation in intensive care medicine. Revision 2015 (DAS-Guideline 2015) - short version. *Ger Med Sci.* 2015;13(Coc19).
- **6** Girard TD, Shintani AK, Jackson JC, et al. Risk factors for posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms following critical illness requiring mechanical ventilation: a prospective cohort study. *Crit Care.* 2007;11(1):R28.
- 7 Nassar Junior A, Zampieri F, Ranzani O, Park M. Protocolized sedation effect on post-ICU posttraumatic stress disorder prevalence: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. J Crit Care. 2015;30(6):1278–1282.
- 8 Kress JP, Gehlbach B, Lacy M, Pliskin N, Pohlman AS, Hall JB. The long-term psychological effects of daily sedative interruption on critically ill patients. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2003;168(12):1457– 1461.
- 9 Stephens RJ, Dettmer MR, Roberts BW, et al. Practice patterns and outcomes associated with early sedation depth in mechanically ventilated patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Crit Care Med.* 2018;46(3):471–479.
- 10 Marra A, Ely EW, Pandharipande PP, Patel MB. The ABCDEF bundle in critical care. *Crit Care Clin.* 2017;33(2):225–243.
- 11 Shehabi Y, Chan L, Kadiman S, et al. Sedation depth and long-term mortality in mechanically ventilated critically ill adults: a prospective longitudinal multicentre cohort study. *Intensive Care Med.* 2013;39(5):910–918.
- 12 Balzer F, Weiß B, Kumpf O, et al. Early deep sedation is associated with decreased in-hospital and two-year follow-up survival. *Crit Care*. 2015;19(1).
- 13 Long LRS, Gong Y, Zhao H, et al. Different depths of sedation versus risk of delirium in adult mechanically ventilated patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One.* 2020;15(7): e0236014.

- 14 Aitken LM, Kydonaki K, Blackwood B, et al. Inconsistent relationship between depth of sedation and intensive care outcome: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Thorax*. 2021;76(11):1089– 1098.
- 15 Jakobsen JC, Wetterslev J, Winkel P, Lange T, Gluud C. Thresholds for statistical and clinical significance in systematic reviews with meta-analytic methods. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 2014;14(120).
- 16 Ceric A, Holgersson J, May T, et al. Level of sedation in critically ill adult patients: a protocol for a systematic review with meta-analysis and trial sequential analysis. *BMJ Open.* 2022;12:e061806.
- 17 Higgins JPT, Savović J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Sterne JAC. Chapter 8: assessing risk of bias in a randomized trial. In: Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, et al., eds. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions version 6.3 (updated February 2022). Cochrane; 2022.
- 18 Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, et al. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions version 6.3 (updated February 2022). Cochrane; 2022. Available from: www.training.cochrane.org/ handbook.
- 19 Schünemann HJ, Higgins JPT, Vist GE, et al. Chapter 14: Completing 'Summary of findings' tables and grading the certainty of the evidence. In: Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, et al., eds. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions version 6.3 (updated February 2022). Cochrane; 2022. Available from: www. training.cochrane.org/handbook.
- 20 Treggiari MM, Romand JA, Yanez ND, et al. Randomized trial of light versus deep sedation on mental health after critical illness. *Crit Care Med.* 2009;37(9):2527–2534.
- 21 Pandharipande PP, Pun BT, Herr DL, et al. Effect of sedation with dexmedetomidine vs lorazepam on acute brain dysfunction in mechanically ventilated patients: the MENDS randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2007;298(22):2644–2653.
- 22 Girard TD, Kress JP, Fuchs BD, et al. Efficacy and safety of a paired sedation and ventilator weaning protocol for mechanically ventilated patients in intensive care (Awakening and Breathing Controlled trial): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet.* 2008;371(9607):126–134.
- 23 Samuelson KA, Lundberg D, Fridlund B. Light vs. heavy sedation during mechanical ventilation after oesophagectomy-a pilot experimental study focusing on memory. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand.* 2008;52(8):1116–1123.
- 24 Strøm T, Martinussen T, Toft P. A protocol of no sedation for critically ill patients receiving mechanical ventilation: a randomised trial. *Lancet.* 2010;375(9713):475–480.
- 25 Jakob SM, Ruokonen E, Grounds RM, et al. Dexmedetomidine vs midazolam or propofol for sedation during prolonged mechanical ventilation: two randomized controlled trials. JAMA. 2012;307(11):1151–1160.
- 26 Mehta S, Burry L, Cook D, et al. Daily sedation interruption in mechanically ventilated critically ill patients cared for with a sedation protocol: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2012;308(19):1985–1992.
- 27 Shehabi Y, Bellomo R, Reade MC, et al. Early goal-directed sedation versus standard sedation in mechanically ventilated critically ill patients: a pilot study*. Crit Care Med. 2013;41(8):1983–1991.
- 28 Nassar Junior AP, Park M. Daily sedative interruption versus intermittent sedation in mechanically ventilated critically ill patients: a randomized trial. Ann Intensive Care. 2014;4:14.
- 29 SRLF Trial Group. Impact of oversedation prevention in ventilated critically ill patients: a randomized trial-the AWARE study. Ann Intensive Care. 2018;8(1):93.
- 30 Olsen HT, Nedergaard HK, Strom T, et al. Nonsedation or light sedation in critically ill, mechanically ventilated patients. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(12):1103–1111.
- 31 Weisbrodt L, McKinley S, Marshall AP, Cole L, Seppelt IM, Delaney A. Daily interruption of sedation in patients receiving mechanical ventilation. Am J Crit Care. 2011;20(4):e90–e98.
- mechanical ventilation. Am J Crit Care. 2011;20(4):e90–e98.
 Abdelghany MF, Alkarn AF, Khalaf MG, Gadalla WA, Kamel EZ. No-sedation in mechanically ventilated chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients; a randomized controlled trial. Minia J Med Res. 2020;31(1):12–21.
- 33 Anifantaki S, Prinianakis G, Vitsaksaki E, et al. Daily interruption of sedative infusions in an adult medical-surgical intensive care unit: randomized controlled trial. J Adv Nurs. 2009;65(5):1054– 1060.
- 34 Ely EW, Margolin R, Francis J, et al. Evaluation of delirium in critically ill patients: validation of the confusion assessment method

for the intensive care unit (CAM-ICU). Crit Care Med. 2001;29(7):1370–1379.

- 35 Association AP. Diagnostic and statistics manual of mental disorders, 4th Edition, Text Revision. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association 1994; 2000:124–127.
- 36 Bergeron N, Dubois MJ, Dumont M, Dial S, Skrobik Y. Intensive care screening checklist: evaluation of a new screening tool. *Intensive Care Med.* 2001;27:859–864.
- 37 Horowitz MM, Wilner NB, Alvarez WM. Impact of event scale: a measure of subjective stress. Psychosom Med. 1979;41(3):209–218.
- 38 Wilson P. TK. Assessing psychological trauma and post traumatic stress disorder: a handbook for practitioners. New York: Guilford Press; 1997:399–411.
- 39 Shehabi Y, Howe BD, Bellomo R, et al. Early sedation with dexmedetomidine in critically ill patients. N Engl J Med. 2019;380(26):2506-2517.
- **40** Graham ND, Graham ID, Vanderspank-Wright B, et al. A systematic review and critical appraisal of guidelines and their recommendations for sedation interruptions in adult mechanically ventilated patients. *Aust Crit Care.* 2022;36:889.

Received: 21 February 2025

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Continuous deep sedation versus minimal sedation after cardiac arrest and resuscitation (SED-CARE): A protocol for a randomized clinical trial

A. Ceric ¹ J. Dankiewicz ² J. Hästbacka ³ P. Young ^{4,5,6,7} V. H. Niemelä ⁸ F. Bass ^{9,10} M. B. Skrifvars ⁸ N. Hammond ^{11,12} M. Saxena ¹³ H. Levin ^{14,15} G. Lilja ^{16,17} M. Moseby-Knappe ^{14,18} M. Tiainen ¹⁹ M. Reinikainen ^{20,21} J. Holgersson ^{22,23} C. B. Kamp ^{24,25} M. P. Wise ²⁶ P. J. McGuigan ^{27,28} J. White ²⁶ K. Sweet ²⁹ T. R. Keeble ^{30,31} G. Glover ³² P. Hopkins ^{33,34} C. Remmington ^{35,36} J. M. Cole ³⁷ N. Gorgoraptis ³⁸ D. G. Pogson ³⁹ P. Jackson ⁴⁰ J. Düring ⁴¹ A. Lybeck ⁴² J. Johnsson ⁴³ J. Unden ^{44,45} A. Lundin ⁴⁶ J. Kåhlin ^{47,48} J. Grip ^{49,50} E. M. Lotman ⁵¹ L. Romundstad ^{52,53} P. Seidel ⁵⁴ P. Stammet ^{55,56} T. Graf ^{57,58} A. Mengel ⁵⁹ C. Leithner ⁶⁰ J. Nee ⁶¹ P. Druwé ⁶² K. Ameloot ⁶³ A. Nichol ^{64,65,66} M. Haenggi ⁶⁷ M. P. Hilty ⁶⁸ M. Iten ⁶⁹ C. Schrag ⁷⁰ M. Nafi ⁷¹ M. Joannidis ⁷² C. Robba ⁷³ T. Pellis ⁷⁴ J. Belohlavek ^{75,76} D. Rob ⁷⁷ Y. M. Arabi ⁷⁸ S. Buabbas ⁷⁹ C. Yew Woon ^{80,81,82} A. Aneman ^{83,84,85} A. Stewart ⁸⁶ M. Reade ⁸⁷ C. Delcourt ^{88,89} A. Delaney ⁹⁰ M. Ramanan ^{91,92,93} B. Venkatesh ⁹ L. Navarra ⁵ B. Crichton ⁵ A. Williams ⁹⁴ D. Knight ⁹⁵ J. Tirkkonen ⁹⁶ T. Oksanen ⁹⁷ T. Kaakinen ^{98,99} S. Bendel ^{20,21} H. Friberg ^{100,101}	
V. H. Niemelä ⁸ F. Bass ^{9,10} M. B. Skrifvars ⁸ N. Hammond ^{11,12} M. Saxena ¹³ H. Levin ^{14,15} G. Lilja ^{16,17} M. Moseby-Knappe ^{14,18} M. Tiainen ¹⁹ M. Reinikainen ^{20,21} J. Holgersson ^{22,23} C. B. Kamp ^{24,25} M. P. Wise ²⁶ P. J. McGuigan ^{27,28} J. White ²⁶ K. Sweet ²⁹ T. R. Keeble ^{30,31} G. Glover ³² P. Hopkins ^{33,34} C. Remmington ^{35,36} J. M. Cole ³⁷ N. Gorgoraptis ³⁸ D. G. Pogson ³⁹ P. Jackson ⁴⁰ J. Düring ⁴¹ A. Lybeck ⁴² J. Johnsson ⁴³ J. Unden ^{44,45} A. Lundin ⁴⁶ J. Kåhlin ^{47,48} J. Grip ^{49,50} E. M. Lotman ⁵¹ L. Romundstad ^{52,53} P. Seidel ⁵⁴ P. Stammet ^{55,56} T. Graf ^{57,58} A. Mengel ⁵⁹ C. Leithner ⁶⁰ J. Nee ⁶¹ P. Druwé ⁶² K. Ameloot ⁶³ A. Nichol ^{64,65,66} M. Haenggi ⁶⁷ M. P. Hilty ⁶⁸ M. Iten ⁶⁹ C. Schrag ⁷⁰ M. Nafi ⁷¹ M. Joannidis ⁷² C. Robba ⁷³ T. Pellis ⁷⁴ J. Belohlavek ^{75,76} D. Rob ⁷⁷ Y. M. Arabi ⁷⁸ S. Buabbas ⁷⁹ C. Yew Woon ^{80,81,82} A. Aneman ^{83,84,85} A. Stewart ⁸⁶ M. Reade ⁸⁷ C. Delcourt ^{88,89} A. Delaney ⁹⁰ M. Ramanan ^{91,92,93} B. Venkatesh ⁹ L. Navarra ⁵ B. Crichton ⁵ A. Williams ⁹⁴ D. Knight ⁹⁵ J. Tirkkonen ⁹⁶ T. Oksanen ⁹⁷ T. Kaakinen ^{98,99} S. Bendel ^{20,21} H. Friberg ^{100,101}	A. Ceric ¹ J. Dankiewicz ² J. Hästbacka ³ P. Young ^{4,5,6,7}
$\begin{array}{l c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	V. H. Niemelä ⁸ 💿 F. Bass ^{9,10} M. B. Skrifvars ⁸ 💿 N. Hammond ^{11,12}
M. Tiainen ¹⁹ M. Reinikainen ^{20,21} J. Holgersson ^{22,23} C. B. Kamp ^{24,25} M. P. Wise ²⁶ P. J. McGuigan ^{27,28} J. White ²⁶ K. Sweet ²⁹ T. R. Keeble ^{30,31} G. Glover ³² P. Hopkins ^{33,34} C. Remmington ^{35,36} J. M. Cole ³⁷ N. Gorgoraptis ³⁸ D. G. Pogson ³⁹ P. Jackson ⁴⁰ J. Düring ⁴¹ A. Lybeck ⁴² J. Johnsson ⁴³ J. Unden ^{44,45} A. Lundin ⁴⁶ J. Kåhlin ^{47,48} J. Grip ^{49,50} E. M. Lotman ⁵¹ L. Romundstad ^{52,53} P. Seidel ⁵⁴ P. Stammet ^{55,56} T. Graf ^{57,58} A. Mengel ⁵⁹ C. Leithner ⁶⁰ J. Nee ⁶¹ P. Druwé ⁶² K. Ameloot ⁶³ A. Nichol ^{64,65,66} M. Haenggi ⁶⁷ M. P. Hilty ⁶⁸ M. Iten ⁶⁹ C. Schrag ⁷⁰ M. Nafi ⁷¹ M. Joannidis ⁷² C. Robba ⁷³ T. Pellis ⁷⁴ J. Belohlavek ^{75,76} D. Rob ⁷⁷ Y. M. Arabi ⁷⁸ S. Buabbas ⁷⁹ C. Delcourt ^{88,89} A. Delaney ⁹⁰ M. Ramanan ^{91,92,93} B. Venkatesh ⁹ L. Navarra ⁵ B. Crichton ⁵ A. Williams ⁹⁴ D. Knight ⁹⁵ J. Tirkkonen ⁹⁶ T. Oksanen ⁹⁷ T. Kaakinen ^{98,99} S. Bendel ^{20,21} H. Friberg ^{100,101}	M. Saxena ¹³ H. Levin ^{14,15} G. Lilja ^{16,17} M. Moseby-Knappe ^{14,18}
M. P. Wise ²⁶ P. J. McGuigan ^{27,28} J. White ²⁶ K. Sweet ²⁹ T. R. Keeble ^{30,31} G. Glover ³² P. Hopkins ^{33,34} C. Remmington ^{35,36} J. M. Cole ³⁷ N. Gorgoraptis ³⁸ D. G. Pogson ³⁹ P. Jackson ⁴⁰ J. Düring ⁴¹ A. Lybeck ⁴² J. Johnsson ⁴³ J. Unden ^{44,45} A. Lundin ⁴⁶ J. Kåhlin ^{47,48} J. Grip ^{49,50} E. M. Lotman ⁵¹ L. Romundstad ^{52,53} P. Seidel ⁵⁴ P. Stammet ^{55,56} T. Graf ^{57,58} A. Mengel ⁵⁹ C. Leithner ⁶⁰ J. Nee ⁶¹ P. Druwé ⁶² K. Ameloot ⁶³ A. Nichol ^{64,65,66} M. Haenggi ⁶⁷ M. P. Hilty ⁶⁸ M. Iten ⁶⁹ C. Schrag ⁷⁰ M. Nafi ⁷¹ M. Joannidis ⁷² C. Robba ⁷³ T. Pellis ⁷⁴ J. Belohlavek ^{75,76} D. Rob ⁷⁷ Y. M. Arabi ⁷⁸ S. Buabbas ⁷⁹ C. Yew Woon ^{80,81,82} A. Aneman ^{83,84,85} A. Stewart ⁸⁶ M. Reade ⁸⁷ C. Delcourt ^{88,89} A. Delaney ⁹⁰ M. Ramanan ^{91,92,93} B. Venkatesh ⁹ L. Navarra ⁵ B. Crichton ⁵ A. Williams ⁹⁴ D. Knight ⁹⁵ J. Tirkkonen ⁹⁶ T. Oksanen ⁹⁷ T. Kaakinen ^{98,99} S. Bendel ^{20,21} H. Friberg ^{100,101} T. Cronberg ^{16,17} L. C. Jakobsen ^{102,103} N. Nielsen ^{22,23}	M. Tiainen ¹⁹ M. Reinikainen ^{20,21} J. Holgersson ^{22,23} C. B. Kamp ^{24,25}
T. R. Keeble 30,31 G. Glover 32 P. Hopkins 33,34 C. Remmington 35,36 J. M. Cole 37 N. Gorgoraptis 38 D. G. Pogson 39 P. Jackson 40 J. Düring 41 A. Lybeck 42 • J. Johnsson 43 J. Unden 44,45 A. Lundin 46 • J. Kåhlin 47,48 J. Grip 49,50 E. M. Lotman 51 L. Romundstad 52,53 P. Seidel 54 P. Stammet 55,56 T. Graf 57,58 A. Mengel 59 C. Leithner 60 J. Nee 61 P. Druwé 62 • K. Ameloot 63 A. Nichol 64,65,66 M. Haenggi 67 M. P. Hilty 68 M. Iten 69 • C. Schrag 70 M. Nafi 71 • M. Joannidis 72 • C. Robba 73 T. Pellis 74 J. Belohlavek 75,76 D. Rob 77 Y. M. Arabi 78 • S. Buabbas 79 C. Yew Woon 80,81,82 A. Aneman 83,84,85 • A. Stewart 86 M. Reade 87 C. Delcourt 88,89 A. Delaney 90 M. Ramanan 91,92,93 B. Venkatesh 9 L. Navarra 5 B. Crichton 5 A. Williams 94 D. Knight 95 J. Tirkkonen 96 T. Oksanen 97 T. Kaakinen 98,99 S. Bendel 20,21 H. Friberg 100,101	M. P. Wise ²⁶ P. J. McGuigan ^{27,28} J. White ²⁶ K. Sweet ²⁹
J. M. Cole ³⁷ N. Gorgoraptis ³⁸ D. G. Pogson ³⁹ P. Jackson ⁴⁰ J. Düring ⁴¹ A. Lybeck ⁴² • J. Johnsson ⁴³ J. Unden ^{44,45} A. Lundin ⁴⁶ J. Kåhlin ^{47,48} J. Grip ^{49,50} E. M. Lotman ⁵¹ L. Romundstad ^{52,53} P. Seidel ⁵⁴ P. Stammet ^{55,56} T. Graf ^{57,58} A. Mengel ⁵⁹ C. Leithner ⁶⁰ J. Nee ⁶¹ P. Druwé ⁶² K. Ameloot ⁶³ A. Nichol ^{64,65,66} M. Haenggi ⁶⁷ M. P. Hilty ⁶⁸ M. Iten ⁶⁹ C. Schrag ⁷⁰ M. Nafi ⁷¹ M. Joannidis ⁷² C. Robba ⁷³ T. Pellis ⁷⁴ J. Belohlavek ^{75,76} D. Rob ⁷⁷ Y. M. Arabi ⁷⁸ S. Buabbas ⁷⁹ C. Yew Woon ^{80,81,82} A. Aneman ^{83,84,85} A. Stewart ⁸⁶ M. Reade ⁸⁷ C. Delcourt ^{88,89} A. Delaney ⁹⁰ M. Ramanan ^{91,92,93} B. Venkatesh ⁹ L. Navarra ⁵ B. Crichton ⁵ A. Williams ⁹⁴ D. Knight ⁹⁵ J. Tirkkonen ⁹⁶ T. Oksanen ⁹⁷ T. Kaakinen ^{98,99} S. Bendel ^{20,21} H. Friberg ^{100,101}	T. R. Keeble ^{30,31} G. Glover ³² P. Hopkins ^{33,34} C. Remmington ^{35,36}
A. Lybeck 42 J. Johnsson 43 J. Unden 44,45 A. Lundin 46 J. Kåhlin 47,48 J. Grip 49,50 E. M. Lotman 51 L. Romundstad 52,53 P. Seidel 54 P. Stammet 55,56 T. Graf 57,58 A. Mengel 59 C. Leithner 60 J. Nee 61 P. Druwé 62 K. Ameloot 63 A. Nichol 64,65,66 M. Haenggi 67 M. P. Hilty 68 M. Iten 69 C. Schrag 70 M. Nafi 71 M. Joannidis 72 C. Robba 73 T. Pellis 74 J. Belohlavek 75,76 D. Rob 77 Y. M. Arabi 78 S. Buabbas 79 C. Yew Woon 80,81,82 A. Aneman 83,84,85 A. Stewart 86 M. Reade 87 C. Delcourt 88,89 A. Delaney 90 M. Ramanan 91,92,93 B. Venkatesh 9 L. Navarra 5 B. Crichton 5 A. Williams 94 D. Knight 95 J. Tirkkonen 96 T. Oksanen 97 T. Kaakinen 98,99 S. Bendel 20,21 H. Friberg 100,101	J. M. Cole ³⁷ N. Gorgoraptis ³⁸ D. G. Pogson ³⁹ P. Jackson ⁴⁰ J. Düring ⁴¹
J. Grip ^{49,50} E. M. Lotman ⁵¹ L. Romundstad ^{52,53} P. Seidel ⁵⁴ P. Stammet ^{55,56} T. Graf ^{57,58} A. Mengel ⁵⁹ C. Leithner ⁶⁰ J. Nee ⁶¹ P. Druwé ⁶² K. Ameloot ⁶³ A. Nichol ^{64,65,66} M. Haenggi ⁶⁷ M. P. Hilty ⁶⁸ M. Iten ⁶⁹ C. Schrag ⁷⁰ M. Nafi ⁷¹ M. Joannidis ⁷² C. Robba ⁷³ T. Pellis ⁷⁴ J. Belohlavek ^{75,76} D. Rob ⁷⁷ Y. M. Arabi ⁷⁸ S. Buabbas ⁷⁹ C. Yew Woon ^{80,81,82} A. Aneman ^{83,84,85} A. Stewart ⁸⁶ M. Reade ⁸⁷ C. Delcourt ^{88,89} A. Delaney ⁹⁰ M. Ramanan ^{91,92,93} B. Venkatesh ⁹ L. Navarra ⁵ B. Crichton ⁵ A. Williams ⁹⁴ D. Knight ⁹⁵ J. Tirkkonen ⁹⁶ T. Oksanen ⁹⁷ T. Kaakinen ^{98,99} S. Bendel ^{20,21} H. Friberg ^{100,101} T. Cronberg ^{16,17} L. C. Jakobsen ^{102,103} N. Nielsen ^{22,23}	A. Lybeck ⁴² ⁽¹⁾ J. Johnsson ⁴³ J. Unden ^{44,45} A. Lundin ⁴⁶ ⁽¹⁾ J. Kåhlin ^{47,48}
P. Stammet 55,56 T. Graf 57,58 A. Mengel 59 C. Leithner 60 J. Nee 61 P. Druwé 62 K. Ameloot 63 A. Nichol 64,65,66 M. Haenggi 67 M. P. Hilty 68 M. Iten 69 C. Schrag 70 M. Nafi 71 M. Joannidis 72 C. Robba 73 T. Pellis 74 J. Belohlavek 75,76 D. Rob 77 Y. M. Arabi 78 S. Buabbas 79 C. Yew Woon 80,81,82 A. Aneman 83,84,85 A. Stewart 86 M. Reade 87 C. Delcourt 88,89 A. Delaney 90 M. Ramanan 91,92,93 B. Venkatesh 9 L. Navarra 5 B. Crichton 5 A. Williams 94 D. Knight 95 J. Tirkkonen 96 T. Oksanen 97 T. Kaakinen 98,99 S. Bendel 20,21 H. Friberg 100,101	J. Grip ^{49,50} E. M. Lotman ⁵¹ L. Romundstad ^{52,53} P. Seidel ⁵⁴
P. Druwé ⁶² K. Ameloot ⁶³ A. Nichol ^{64,65,66} M. Haenggi ⁶⁷ M. P. Hilty ⁶⁸ M. Iten ⁶⁹ C. Schrag ⁷⁰ M. Nafi ⁷¹ A. Nofi ⁷¹ A. Joannidis ⁷² A. Robba ⁷³ C. Robba ⁷³ A. Pellis ⁷⁴ J. Belohlavek ^{75,76} D. Rob ⁷⁷ Y. M. Arabi ⁷⁸ S. Buabbas ⁷⁹ C. Yew Woon ^{80,81,82} A. Aneman ^{83,84,85} A. Stewart ⁸⁶ M. Reade ⁸⁷ C. Delcourt ^{88,89} A. Delaney ⁹⁰ M. Ramanan ^{91,92,93} B. Venkatesh ⁹ L. Navarra ⁵ B. Crichton ⁵ A. Williams ⁹⁴ D. Knight ⁹⁵ J. Tirkkonen ⁹⁶ T. Oksanen ⁹⁷ T. Kaakinen ^{98,99} S. Bendel ^{20,21} H. Friberg ^{100,101} T. Cronberg ^{16,17} L. C. Jakobsen ^{102,103} L. N. Nielsen ^{22,23}	P. Stammet ^{55,56} T. Graf ^{57,58} A. Mengel ⁵⁹ C. Leithner ⁶⁰ J. Nee ⁶¹
M. Iten ⁶⁹ (C. Schrag ⁷⁰ M. Nafi ⁷¹ (M. Joannidis ⁷² (C. Robba ⁷³ T. Pellis ⁷⁴ J. Belohlavek ^{75,76} D. Rob ⁷⁷ Y. M. Arabi ⁷⁸ (C. Robba ⁷⁹ C. Yew Woon ^{80,81,82} A. Aneman ^{83,84,85} (C. Delcourt ^{88,89} A. Aneman ^{91,92,93} A. Stewart ⁸⁶ M. Reade ⁸⁷ C. Delcourt ^{88,89} A. Delaney ⁹⁰ M. Ramanan ^{91,92,93} B. Venkatesh ⁹ L. Navarra ⁵ B. Crichton ⁵ A. Williams ⁹⁴ D. Knight ⁹⁵ J. Tirkkonen ⁹⁶ T. Oksanen ⁹⁷ T. Kaakinen ^{98,99} S. Bendel ^{20,21} H. Friberg ^{100,101} T. Cronberg ^{16,17} J. C. Jakobsen ^{102,103} N. Nielsen ^{22,23}	P. Druwé ⁶² K. Ameloot ⁶³ A. Nichol ^{64,65,66} M. Haenggi ⁶⁷ M. P. Hilty ⁶⁸
T. Pellis ⁷⁴ J. Belohlavek ^{75,76} D. Rob ⁷⁷ Y. M. Arabi ⁷⁸ S. Buabbas ⁷⁹ C. Yew Woon ^{80,81,82} A. Aneman ^{83,84,85} A. Stewart ⁸⁶ M. Reade ⁸⁷ C. Delcourt ^{88,89} A. Delaney ⁹⁰ M. Ramanan ^{91,92,93} B. Venkatesh ⁹ L. Navarra ⁵ B. Crichton ⁵ A. Williams ⁹⁴ D. Knight ⁹⁵ J. Tirkkonen ⁹⁶ T. Oksanen ⁹⁷ T. Kaakinen ^{98,99} S. Bendel ^{20,21} H. Friberg ^{100,101} T. Cronberg ^{16,17} J. C. Jakobsen ^{102,103} N. Nielsen ^{22,23}	M. Iten ⁶⁹ 💿 C. Schrag ⁷⁰ M. Nafi ⁷¹ 💿 M. Joannidis ⁷² 💿 C. Robba ⁷³
C. Yew Woon ^{80,81,82} A. Aneman ^{83,84,85} A. Stewart ⁸⁶ M. Reade ⁸⁷ C. Delcourt ^{88,89} A. Delaney ⁹⁰ M. Ramanan ^{91,92,93} B. Venkatesh ⁹ L. Navarra ⁵ B. Crichton ⁵ A. Williams ⁹⁴ D. Knight ⁹⁵ J. Tirkkonen ⁹⁶ T. Oksanen ⁹⁷ T. Kaakinen ^{98,99} S. Bendel ^{20,21} H. Friberg ^{100,101} T. Cronberg ^{16,17} J. C. Jakobsen ^{102,103} N. Nielsen ^{22,23}	T. Pellis ⁷⁴ J. Belohlavek ^{75,76} D. Rob ⁷⁷ Y. M. Arabi ⁷⁸ S. Buabbas ⁷⁹
C. Delcourt ^{88,89} A. Delaney ⁹⁰ M. Ramanan ^{91,92,93} B. Venkatesh ⁹ L. Navarra ⁵ B. Crichton ⁵ A. Williams ⁹⁴ D. Knight ⁹⁵ J. Tirkkonen ⁹⁶ T. Oksanen ⁹⁷ T. Kaakinen ^{98,99} S. Bendel ^{20,21} H. Friberg ^{100,101} T. Cronberg ^{16,17} J. C. Jakobsen ^{102,103} N. Nielsen ^{22,23}	C. Yew Woon ^{80,81,82} A. Aneman ^{83,84,85} $[$ A. Stewart ⁸⁶ M. Reade ⁸⁷
L. Navarra ⁵ B. Crichton ⁵ A. Williams ⁹⁴ D. Knight ⁹⁵ J. Tirkkonen ⁹⁶ T. Oksanen ⁹⁷ T. Kaakinen ^{98,99} S. Bendel ^{20,21} H. Friberg ^{100,101} T. Cronberg ^{16,17} J. C. Jakobsen ^{102,103} N. Nielsen ^{22,23}	C. Delcourt ^{88,89} A. Delaney ⁹⁰ M. Ramanan ^{91,92,93} B. Venkatesh ⁹
T. Oksanen ⁹⁷ T. Kaakinen ^{98,99} S. Bendel ^{20,21} H. Friberg ^{100,101} T. Cronberg ^{16,17} I. C. Jakobsen ^{102,103} N. Nielsen ^{22,23}	L. Navarra ⁵ B. Crichton ⁵ A. Williams ⁹⁴ D. Knight ⁹⁵ J. Tirkkonen ⁹⁶
T Cropperg $\frac{16,17}{10}$ I C lakobsen $\frac{102,103}{10}$ N Nielsen $\frac{22,23}{100}$	T. Oksanen ⁹⁷ T. Kaakinen ^{98,99} S. Bendel ^{20,21} H. Friberg ^{100,101}
	T. Cronberg ^{16,17} J. C. Jakobsen ^{102,103} N. Nielsen ^{22,23}

Correspondence

A. Ceric, Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Skane University Hospital, Carl Bertil Laurels gata 9, 214 28 Malmo, Sweden. Email: ameldina.ceric@med.lu.se

Funding information

Clinical Research Programme Directorate of Health Ministry of Health and Social Security (Luxembourg); Hospital district of Helsinki and Uusimaa (Finland); Health Research Council of New Zealand; Sigrid Juséliuksen Säätiö,

Abstract

Background: Sedation is often provided to resuscitated out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) patients to tolerate post-cardiac arrest care, including temperature management. However, the evidence of benefit or harm from routinely administered deep sedation after cardiac arrest is limited. The aim of this trial is to investigate the effects of continuous deep sedation compared to minimal sedation on patient-important outcomes in resuscitated OHCA patients in a large clinical trial.

For affiliations refer to page 9

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

© 2025 The Author(s). Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica Foundation.

Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2025;69:e70022. https://doi.org/10.1111/aas.70022

Anaesthesiolo

Grant/Award Number: (8137); Medicinska Understödsföreningen Liv och Hälsa; Vetenskapsrådet; ALF-project funding within the Swedish Health Care; The Academy of Finland, Grant/Award Number: (341277); Medical Research Future Fund, Grant/Award Number: (199449); The Sigrid Jusélius Foundation (Finland), Grant/Award Number: (8137); Medical Research Future Fund (Australia)

Methods: The SED-CARE trial is part of the $2 \times 2 \times 2$ factorial Sedation, Temperature and Pressure after Cardiac Arrest and Resuscitation (STEPCARE) trial, a randomized international, multicentre, parallel-group, investigator-initiated, superiority trial with three simultaneous intervention arms. In the SED-CARE trial, adults with sustained return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC) who are comatose following resuscitation from OHCA will be randomized within 4 hours to continuous deep sedation (Richmond agitation and sedation scale (RASS) -4/-5) (intervention) or minimal sedation (RASS 0 to -2) (comparator), for 36 h after ROSC. The primary outcome will be all-cause mortality at 6 months after randomization. The two other components of the STEPCARE trial evaluate sedation and temperature control strategies. Apart from the STEPCARE trial interventions, all other aspects of general intensive care will be according to the local practices of the participating site. Neurological prognostication will be performed according to European Resuscitation Council and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine guidelines by a physician blinded to the allocation group. To detect an absolute risk reduction of 5.6% with an alpha of 0.05, 90% power, 3500 participants will be enrolled. The secondary outcomes will be the proportion of participants with poor functional outcomes 6 months after randomization, serious adverse events in the intensive care unit, and patient-reported overall health status 6 months after randomization.

Conclusion: The SED-CARE trial will investigate if continuous deep sedation (RASS -4/-5) for 36 h confers a mortality benefit compared to minimal sedation (RASS 0 to -2) after cardiac arrest.

KEYWORDS

cardiac arrest, randomized clinical trial, sedation

1 | BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE

Approximately 700,000 individuals suffer from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) annually in Europe and in the United States.^{1–3} After resuscitation from cardiac arrest and regaining spontaneous circulation, most cardiac arrest patients remain unconscious and require intensive care treatment.^{4,5} The post-cardiac arrest period involves many clinical decisions, including ventilator strategy, hemodynamic targets, vasopressor support, organ support, withdrawal of life-sustaining therapies, and providing patient comfort through sedation and analgesia.^{6–8} Temperature management is the only intervention that has been recommended by guidelines to reduce hypoxic-ischemic brain injury and increase the likelihood of a good functional outcome; however, it has limited supportive evidence.⁶

For general intensive care unit (ICU) patients, current guidelines recommend minimizing sedation through daily interruptions of sedative infusions or using a protocol targeting light sedation.^{9–11} In postcardiac arrest care, short-acting sedatives and opioids are recommended during targeted temperature management (TTM) to ensure patient comfort and reduce shivering, but with sedation breaks advised only after rewarming.^{12,13} Additionally, approximately one third of cardiac arrest patients have seizures, which could further aggravate the hypoxic brain injury.¹⁴ Sedation, a powerful anti-seizure strategy, has been proposed as a potentially brain-protective and seizure-prophylactic intervention based on physiological reasoning and some experimental studies.¹⁵⁻¹⁷ Sedation may also support brain protection by enhancing glymphatic system function through inducing non-rapid eye movement (REM) sleep, which helps clear toxic breakdown products such as β -amyloid and tau-protein, potentially reducing the risk of neurodegeneration.^{18,19}

While sedation can provide benefits by alleviating discomfort, pain, and anxiety as well as facilitating necessary procedures and treatments, it is important to consider the associated risks. Deeper sedation can compromise circulatory and respiratory functions and increase the risk of adverse effects like pneumonia, delirium, delayed awakening and mobilization, and prolonged ICU stay, which may negatively affect outcome.^{20–24} In addition, sedation interferes with neurological prognostication as it confounds clinical neurologic examination of consciousness and may alter electroencephalography (EEG) patterns.^{25–27}

Sedation depth is most effectively monitored using clinical sedation assessments such as the Richmond Agitation and Sedation Scale (RASS) a well-established, validated, and reliable sedation scale for general ICU patients.^{28,29} However, comatose cardiac arrest patients have been excluded in the development of sedation scales to avoid confounding interaction between unresponsiveness due to brain injury and sedation, making the assessment of sedation depth in these patients difficult.^{28,29}

In cardiac arrest patients with hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy, it is unclear whether the potential benefits of sedation outweigh the detrimental effects. In the context of these conflicting arguments for and against deep sedation in the first days following cardiac arrest, there is substantial uncertainty as to optimal clinical practice.

Here, we describe the Sedation after Cardiac Arrest and Resuscitation (SED-CARE) trial, which is part of the factorial STEPCARE randomized clinical trial. The two other interventions of the STEPCARE trial (temperature and blood pressure) are described separately.

2 | METHODS

2.1 | Trial design

The SED-CARE trial is registered at clinicaltrials.gov (NCT05564754, 2022-10-03) as part of the $2 \times 2 \times 2$ factorial STEPCARE trial. The STEPCARE trial protocol was designed following the SPIRIT guidelines, and the trial will be reported according to the CONSORT guidelines.³⁰⁻³² The full STEPCARE trial protocol is available at https://stepcare.org/. The STEPCARE trial is a randomized international, multi-center, parallel-group, investigator-initiated, superiority trial with three simultaneous intervention arms, considered three separate trials. In the SED-CARE trial, participants will be randomized to cardiac arrest management with continuous deep sedation for 36 h or minimal sedation. In the two other interventions, participants will be randomized to fever treatment with or without a device and to higher or lower mean arterial blood pressure treatments. Apart from the interventions of the STEP-CARE trial, intensive care management will be according to international guidelines and the local practices of each participating hospital.

2.2 | Inclusion criteria

SED-CARE will include adults (>18 years) who experience an OHCA with sustained return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC; 20 min of spontaneous circulation without the need for chest compressions) and who are unconscious, defined as not being able to obey verbal commands (Full Outline of UnResponsiveness [FOUR] score motor response <4) or who are intubated and sedated because of agitation after sustained ROSC.³³ Participants must not have treatment limitations for intensive care (e.g., a "do not attempt resuscitation" order or a decision not to escalate care) to be included in the trial. Screening will be performed as soon as possible but no later than 4 h after ROSC.

2.3 | Exclusion criteria

Exclusion criteria will be trauma or hemorrhage (including gastrointestinal bleeding) as the presumed cause of the arrest, pregnancy, suspected or confirmed intracranial hemorrhage, and previous randomization to the STEPCARE trial. Additionally, patients treated with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) prior to randomization will be excluded.

2.4 | Screening and randomization

Screening will be performed in the emergency room, angiography suite, or the ICU. Clinical investigators at each participating site will be responsible for the screening of all patients who are resuscitated from an OHCA. A screening log will be compiled, including all patients with sustained ROSC admitted to the ICU, to document whether they are eligible for inclusion. Informed consent will be obtained according to national ethical approvals. The reason for the exclusion of screened patients will be documented and reported. Randomization will be performed via a web-based application to allow for immediate allocation to treatment groups and to ensure allocation concealment and adequate allocation sequence generation. Randomization will be performed with blinded permuted blocks of varying sizes, stratified for trial site.

2.5 | Intervention

The intervention will begin immediately after randomization by adjusting sedative infusions and administrations to the targeted sedation level. However, if needed, patients can be initially sedated to ensure safe transport, imaging, coronary angiography, and other invasive procedures. The sedation depth will be assessed and determined using the RASS. The RASS score ranges from -5 (un-arousable) to 0 (alert and calm) to +4 (combative). RASS -4 to -5 is unresponsive to voice and considered deep sedation, while a RASS score of 0 to -3 is a patient responsive to voice and considered light sedation. The RASS score and motor response (defined as obeying commands) will be recorded every 4 h.

In both study groups, multimodal pain management will be adopted, including non-pharmacological techniques, acetaminophen (paracetamol), and opioids by either continuous or intermittent intravenous infusion. Pain management and treatment for delirium should follow the principles outlined by the Society of Critical Care Medicine (SCCM).³⁴ Thus, in both study groups, sedative medications should only be used to achieve the prescribed sedation target, and only after measures to control pain and delirium have been initiated. For patients receiving neuromuscular blocking agents, the level of sedation should be titrated to avoid awareness, as per the treating physician, regardless of the allocation group. After the 36-h intervention period, the sedation strategy for both groups will be at the discretion of the treating physician as needed for clinical care. Reasons for deviations from the allocated sedation target will be recorded. In accordance with guidelines, short-acting sedatives such as propofol should be preferred to benzodiazepines (by either continuous infusion or bolus dosing), but the type and dose of sedatives used to achieve the target RASS will be at the discretion of the treating physician.

Anaesthesiolog

Occasionally, patients may have a particular clinical indication for a benzodiazepine-based sedation regimen: for example, complementing very high rates of propofol infusion or marked hemodynamic instability. In such cases, the requirement for continuing benzodiazepine use (vs. an alternative) should be reassessed continuously.

2.5.1 | Continuous deep sedation for 36 h

For patients randomized to continuous sedation, a continuous infusion of a short-acting sedative agent (such as propofol) should be started at randomization to target deep sedation (RASS -4 to -5) and continued until 36 h after randomization. During the first 36 h, this infusion should be increased if the patient becomes rousable, with a RASS target of -4 to -5 until 36 h after randomization. After 36 h, the sedation goal should be according to the treating clinician and continued until the time of liberation from mechanical ventilation, at which time all sedative medications should be discontinued as soon as judged safe.

2.5.2 | Minimal sedation

In patients randomized to minimal sedation, sedative agents shall not be used unless needed for clinical care. During the first few hours of post-cardiac arrest care, patients may require sedation to facilitate safe transfers, imaging, and invasive procedures, but weaning from sedatives should be performed as early as possible, ideally within 6 h of randomization if not at the time of ICU admission. Patients will be continuously assessed for possibilities for extubation immediately after admission to the ICU according to local criteria. If the patient is alert, obeys commands, and is otherwise stable, the patient may be extubated. A patient who does not fulfill criteria for safe extubation should remain intubated and receive minimal sedation as needed for clinical care.

Pain assessment and adequate analgesia are required before providing sedation, which is provided only if analgesia alone is insufficient in ensuring safety in clinical care. If sedation is needed, it should be targeted at the lightest possible level that enables safe treatment and adequate patient comfort. The sedation target should be RASS 0 to -2, unless there is a clinical indication for deeper sedation, in which case a deeper sedation target is acceptable. Although anti-seizure medications should be the primary treatment of refractory status epilepticus and myoclonus, deeper sedation may be used in the minimal sedation arm when necessary to manage clinical situations such as refractory status epilepticus, myoclonus, severe hypoxemia, or confirmed or suspected raised intracranial pressure.

2.6 | Changing sedation

The clinical situation may require continuous sedation to be started in a patient in the minimal sedation group. This is at the discretion of the treating physician. If continuous sedation is started within the first 36 h, the reason for this will be recorded and classified as follows:

Was continuous sedation started within 36 h of randomization?

No

- Yes—to facilitate general intensive care
- Yes—for seizures

2.7 | Shivering

Shivering will be recorded according to the bedside shivering assessment scale (BSAS) on Day 1-3.³⁵ The treatment goal for shivering will be to maintain a BSAS score of 0 or 1. To ensure adequate control of shivering, local protocols should be followed. Interventions to minimize shivering will be decided by the treating clinician but might include paracetamol, magnesium, buspirone, increased sedation, and administration of a non-depolarizing neuromuscular blocking agent.

2.8 | General Intensive care

General intensive care, including management of respiration, metabolic disturbances, ulcer prophylaxis, deep venous thrombosis prophylaxis, and other aspects of intensive care, should be delivered similarly in all allocation groups and according to local protocols at the discretion of the treating physicians. Cardiac interventions will also be guided by local protocols. However, participating centers will need to have access to around-the-clock invasive management, either on-site or at a nearby hospital, which is also part of the trial. Cardiac catheterization (coronary angiography) should not be delayed by the trial interventions. Apart from the interventions, adhering to international and national guidelines for post-resuscitation care is recommended.

2.9 | Blinding

The clinical team responsible for the immediate care of the participant will not be blinded to the study interventions due to the inherent difficulty in blinding the interventions (sedation, temperature, and arterial blood pressure). Measures will be taken to ensure that allocation information will only be disseminated within the immediate group of health care workers responsible for patient care. A blinded physician will make a first prognostic evaluation of the participant 72 h after randomization and make a statement on neurological prognosis (for details, see below).

Participants, their legal representatives, and family will only be informed that the patient has been part of the trial but not the allocation group. The outcome assessors, prognosticators, statisticians, the data safety monitoring committee (DSMC), members of the steering committee, and authors of the manuscript will be blinded to treatment allocation. The intervention groups will be coded as "X" and "Y" Two abstracts will be prepared, one assuming X is the experimental group and Y is the control group—and one assuming the opposite. The author group must approve conclusions before the randomization code is broken.

2.10 | Prognostication and withdrawal of lifesustaining therapies

The SED-CARE trial will employ a conservative and strict protocol for neurological prognostication according to the European Resuscitation Council (ERC) and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM) recommendations (see supplement).^{6,36} Prognostication will be performed on all participants who are not awake and obeying verbal commands and who are still in the ICU at 72 h after randomization. Prognostication must be sufficiently delayed, ensuring that any lingering effects of sedative agents will not affect the assessment. Prognostication will be made by a physician experienced in neuroprognostication after cardiac arrest, blinded to treatment allocations. The blinded external physician will not make specific recommendations about the withdrawal of life-sustaining measures.

Presumed poor functional outcome will not justify the withdrawal of life-sustaining therapies (WLST) prior to prognostication. Lifesustaining therapies may only be withdrawn before protocolized prognostication in the following situations: if information on a pre-existing advanced care directive or an advanced medical comorbidity (e.g., generalized malignant disease) that prohibits continuation of care becomes available after inclusion in the trial, or if continuation of care is considered unethical due to irreversible multi-organ failure. Brain death, established according to local legislation, will be defined as death and not WLST. See supplemental material for a detailed description of neurological prognostication and WLST.

2.11 | Follow-up

Long-term outcomes will be assessed and recorded during a telephone follow-up at 30 days and during a physical visit or a telephone/ virtual meeting 6 months after randomization. The blinded outcome assessor may be an occupational therapist, physician, research nurse, psychologist, or another health care professional. The central followup coordinating team will provide outcome assessors with detailed guidelines and study-specific training. More detailed outcomes will be collected in an extended follow-up sub-study at selected sites, including, for example, cognitive function, societal participation, and family impact. This sub-study is described elsewhere.

2.12 | Outcome measures

The primary and secondary outcomes will be assessed 6 months after randomization. The primary outcome will be all-cause mortality. Secondary outcomes will be the proportion of participants with a poor functional outcome defined primarily as a score of 4–6 (moderately severe disability, severe disability or dead) reported by the structured modified Rankin Scale (mRS, range 0–6 with higher scores indicating a worse outcome).³⁷ If an mRS score cannot be assigned, patients will be categorized based on whether they are dependent on others for basic activities of daily life (need of assistance with, for example, moving indoors, eating, dressing, taking care of personal hygiene), similar to an mRS score of 4–6 but without the detailed information that is needed to separate outcomes between categories. Other secondary outcomes will include the proportion of patients who died or had a predefined serious adverse event in the ICU and patient-reported overall health by using the EQ visual analogue scale (EQ VAS), a part of the EQ-5D.³⁸

Exploratory outcomes will be ventilator-free days within the first 30 days, hospital-free days within the first 30 days, mRS (ordinal scale), time-to-event and win ratio (dead versus alive), all steps on the mRS scale, safety event, and detailed information from the EQ-5D-5L.

2.13 | Adverse events

It is recognized that the intensive care patient population will experience several common aberrations in laboratory values, signs, and symptoms due to the severity of the underlying disease and the impact of standard therapies. Intensive care patients will frequently develop life-threatening organ failure(s) unrelated to study interventions, despite optimal management. Therefore, consistent with established practice in academic ICU trials,³⁹ events that are part of the natural history of the primary disease process or expected complications of critical illness will not be reported as adverse events in this study. All adverse events that are potentially causally related to the study intervention or are otherwise of concern in the investigator's judgment will be reported and reviewed by the management committee and DSMC. A number of specified serious adverse events (SAEs) (as described below) are captured in the trial case report form and will not be separately reported as SAEs.

Only predefined SAEs (Table 1) and any unexpected SAEs will be reported by the investigator to avoid overreporting and to maximize

 TABLE 1
 Definition of specific serious adverse events.

Serious adverse event	Definition
Sepsis or septic shock	Sepsis-3 criteria ⁴⁰
Arrhythmia requiring defibrillation, cardioversion or chest compressions	Arrhythmia requiring defibrillation, cardioversion or chest compressions
Venous thromboembolism	Venous thromboembolism confirmed by imaging. Thrombi related to intravascular cooling devices should be classified as deep vein thrombosis
Moderate or severe bleeding	GUSTO criteria (global utilization of streptokinase and tissue plasminogen activator for occluded coronary arteries) ⁴¹
Reintubation	
Non-planned extubation	

the probability of finding true and important differences. We predefined SAEsbased on known and plausible harms of sedation management.

2.14 | Rationale for chosen outcomes

All-cause mortality was chosen as the primary outcome to ensure an unbiased assessment and avoid competing risks. We will use the mRS scale to evaluate functional outcome.⁴² The mRS scale is increasingly used in cardiac arrest research and is currently recommended by the Core Outcome Set for Cardiac Arrest (COSCA) and the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation (ILCOR) consensus statement for measuring functional outcome after cardiac arrest.³⁷ The primary analysis will be a binary analysis, with the mRS dichotomized to 0–3 (none to moderate disability) versus 4–6 (severe disability or death), as this dichotomization separates patients that are non-dependent from patients that are dependent on others in basic activities of daily living. This dichotomization is also previously used in cardiac arrest trials.^{37,42}

The EuroQol-visual analogue scale (EQ-VAS) included as a part of EQ-5D-5L will be used to measure a patient-reported outcome of overall health status. This instrument was chosen since it is easy to use, has shown evidence to be a valid measure in many situations, and could be used as a proxy report if necessary.³⁸ We will measure possible harmful effects of the intervention by predefined SAEs that are most common and plausibly related to the intervention. A more detailed description of the rationale for chosen outcomes and the exploratory outcomes is available in the supplement.

2.15 | Factorial design and intervention interactions

Factorial trials have the inherent risk of potential interactions between trial interventions in both physiological and patient-centered outcomes.⁴³ This trial is conducted under the assumption that there is no interaction between the interventions on the present trial's outcomes. The SED-CARE trial intervention has potential physiological interaction with the temperature and mean arterial pressure intervention of the STEPCARE trial. Targeting deep sedation may cause additional vasodilation and a potential effect on cardiovascular function; consequently, lower blood pressure may therefore affect the achievement of the allocated mean arterial pressure (MAP) target and body temperature. However, previous pilot studies suggest a higher MAP target is achievable in most patients.^{44,45} Additionally, sedation may interact with the temperature intervention, as sedative agents such as propofol may promote heat loss through vasodilation and might also directly impair hypothalamic temperature regulation.⁴⁶ However, no evidence suggests that this interaction could affect the outcomes being assessed. If higher doses of sedatives/deeper levels of sedation, inotropic/vasopressor support, or external cooling are required because of between-group interactions, differential adverse effects of these interactions are theoretically possible. On the other hand, in the minimal sedation group, some patients who wake up and are extubated early may be discharged from the ICU early, which may affect the duration of the other interventions. The DSMC will monitor the trial during its conduct to identify possible interaction effects on outcomes, focusing on patient safety. For more specific situations of intervention interaction, see Supporting Information S1

2.16 | Co-enrolment in other trials

Study participants may be included in any observational trial that does not affect protocol adherence in the STEPCARE trial. We will assess co-enrolment suggestions based on the Spice-8 co-enrolment guidelines.⁴⁷ Unless there are clear conflicts between trial interventions, co-enrolment in other trials will be possible. The STEPCARE management committee will assess co-enrolment on a case-by-case basis.

2.17 | Data collection and management

Individual patient data regarding background characteristics, clinical features, and laboratory results will be obtained from medical records, ambulance services, and relatives. Detailed data, including neurological status, body temperature, blood pressure values, and doses of vasoactive and sedative medications, will be collected. Detailed information on collected data is described in the supplement. Data will be entered into a web-based electronic case report form (eCRF) by site personnel. The software for the eCRFs is provided by Spiral, New Zealand, but the storage server for the trial database will be handled by the trial's coordinating team.

2.18 | Sedation specific data collection

The total cumulative dose of the following medications during the intervention up to 72 h post-randomization will be recorded: noradrenaline, propofol, midazolam, remifentanil, sufentanil, fentanyl, dexmedetomidine, paracetamol/acetaminophen, oxycodone, and morphine. Additionally, data on propofol dose (mg/kg/h), dexmedetomidine dose, noradrenaline dose (mcg/kg/min), and midazolam infusion (yes/no) will be collected every 4 hours during the ICU stay up to 120 h.

2.19 | Sample size and power estimation

The sample size estimation is based on a 60% mortality in the control arm and 54.4% mortality in the intervention arm at 6 months, referring to the results of the TTM1 trial,⁴⁸ the TTM2 trial,⁴⁹ and the International Cardiac Arrest Registry (INTCAR).⁵⁰ To demonstrate a relative risk of 0.91 with 90% power at a significance level of 0.05, 1639 participants are required in each group for a total of 3278

participants. In the TTM2 trial, loss to follow-up was approximately 2%, and we expect a similar loss to follow-up in the STEPCARE trial.⁴⁹ Therefore, the sample size was increased by 6.8% to 3500 participants; 1.8% of the increment is considered to account for loss to follow-up and, as a pragmatic choice, 5% is considered to account for possible interactions between interventions on patient-centered outcomes. The sample size calculation corresponds to a relative risk reduction of 9.3% and an absolute risk reduction of 5.6%, which is a clinically relevant and realistic treatment effect. For the secondary outcomes, there is an estimated power of 91% to detect a relative risk reduction of 0.9 for poor outcome (mRS 4–6), a power of >90% to detect a difference of 5 points on the EQ-5D-5L VAS scale, and a power of 91% to detect a relative risk reduction or increase of 10% for the predefined SAEs (Table 1).⁵¹

2.20 | Statistical analyses

All analyses will be conducted according to the intention-to-treat principle and adjusted for 'site' and the allocated intervention in the two other trials of the factorial STEPCARE trial. Dichotomous outcomes will be presented as proportions of participants with the event, and relative risks with 95% confidence intervals. Continuous data will be presented as means and standard deviations for each group, with 95% confidence intervals for the means of the groups and the differences between the means of the groups. Count data will be presented as means, mean differences, and 95% confidence intervals or medians, interquartile ranges, and 95% confidence intervals depending on the observed distribution. Dichotomous outcomes will be analyzed using a mixed effects generalized linear model, continuous outcomes using a mixed effects linear regression model, and count data using the Wilcoxon test. Mock tables, curves, and graphs presenting characteristics of the participants, sedation depth and motor response results, and separation of sedation level between groups and sedative drugs and dose are provided in the supplement. A detailed statistical analysis plan will be published separately.

2.21 | Subgroup analysis

The following subgroup analyses will be performed:

- Age (< median or ≥median)
- Sex (male/female)
- Bystander cardiopulmonary resuscitation (yes/no)
- Initial rhythm (shockable versus non-shockable)
- Time to ROSC (< median or ≥median)
- Circulatory status on admission (presence or absence of circulatory shock diagnosed by the treating physician)
- Baseline risk of poor functional outcome (Miracle2-score: low risk [0-2], medium risk [3-5], and high risk [6-10]).⁵²
- Presumed cause of cardiac arrest at randomization (cardiac vs. others), and

• Diagnosed with chronic hypertension (yes/no).

2.22 | Sub-studies

The main sub-studies of the STEPCARE trial include a biomarker study, an acute kidney injury study, a neuroprognostic study, intensive care monitoring studies, and an extended follow-up study. Separate protocols will be published for these sub-studies. Additional substudies will be presented on the STEPCARE trial webpage (www. stepcare.org) and the protocols for these will be published separately.

2.23 | Ethics and informed consent

Ethics application will seek approval for a delayed written consent process, since the intervention must be regarded as an emergency procedure and must be started as soon as the participants are admitted to hospital. Participants regaining consciousness will be asked for written consent as soon as they are able to make an informed decision. It is of importance that ethical approval contains a request to use data also for deceased participants, to avoid survival bias. The consent process will vary from site to site and will align with local ethical approvals, national laws, and the Declaration of Helsinki.⁵³

2.24 | Data and safety monitoring and interim analysis

The Charter for the DSMC of the STEPCARE trial describes the role and function of the DSMC. The primary focus of the DSMC is the monitoring of the safety and efficacy of the interventions and the overall conduct of the trial to guard the interests of the trial participants. The first interim analysis was conducted after the enrollment of 500 participants, with the recommendation from the DSMC to continue the trial as planned. The schedule of further interim analyses will be decided by the DSMC, but a minimum of three interim analyses will be conducted. The DSMC will arrange for an independent statistician to conduct a blinded interim analysis. The DSMC can request the unblinding of data if required. The survival and safety parameters are provided for the DSMC for the conduct of the interim analyses. Lan-DeMets group sequential monitoring boundaries will be used as the statistical limit to guide recommendations regarding the early termination of the trial.⁵⁴ Interventions of the STEPCARE trial will not be stopped for futility. The DSMC may recommend stopping or pausing the SED-CARE trial, or the entire STEPCARE trial if:

- Group difference in the primary outcome measure is found in the interim analysis according to predefined stopping rules;
- Group difference in SAEs is found in the interim analysis.
- · Evidence of an interaction influencing outcomes; or
- Results from other studies show benefits or harms associated with one of the allocation arms.
Anaesthesiolog

It is the steering group's decision whether the trial should be stopped.

2.25 | Patient group involvement

We followed the COSCA, developed in collaboration with ILCOR, which involved patient representatives to facilitate the selection of patient-centered outcomes.^{37,55} Patient organizations in Sweden and Australia were involved in the design phase of the STEPCARE trial.

2.26 | Trial status and timeline

Randomization began in August 2023 and trial sites have been added gradually. The last 6 months follow-up will be performed presumably during 2026–2027. The results from each intervention and sub-study will be reported separately. The initial publications for each STEP-CARE trial will include results of primary and secondary outcomes.

3 | DISCUSSION

The aim of this trial is to investigate the effects of deep sedation compared to minimal sedation on outcomes in resuscitated OHCA patients. By investigating these two approaches, we aim to understand the potential benefits and risks associated with each strategy, including their impact on mortality, functional outcome, the occurrence of serious adverse events, and patient-reported overall health. The findings from this trial have the potential to provide valuable insights in the development of sedation protocols tailored to the needs of cardiac arrest patients, ultimately improving their overall care, outcomes, and optimizing resource utilization. The SED-CARE trial is part of the larger STEPCARE trial, which also investigates the effects of mean arterial pressure and fever treatment with or without a temperature control device on recovery after cardiac arrest in a factorial fashion.

3.1 | Rationale for sedation after resuscitation from cardiac arrest

The implementation of hypothermia and temperature management over 20 years ago has led to the routine provision of sedation in postcardiac arrest care, with deep sedation commonly used in cardiac arrest trials ever since. However, there are limited data on sedation strategies available to guide clinicians in determining the optimal level of sedation for these patients. Considering the risks of sedation, which may affect circulation and ventilation, as well as its potential benefits and neuroprotective effects is crucial. Furthermore, sedation may interfere with neurological prognostication, confounding the evaluation of consciousness, which could significantly impact patient outcomes through premature withdrawal of treatment based on false pessimistic assessments. Thus, investigating the optimal sedation strategy after cardiac arrest and its effects on post-cardiac arrest care is essential. The results from the SED-CARE trial will contribute to future recommendations on sedation practices and provide evidence for optimizing sedation during post-cardiac arrest care.

3.2 | Potential consequences of this trial

The minimal sedation group in this trial may experience adverse events including anxiety, discomfort, pain, non-planned extubation, and development of post-traumatic stress disorder, potentially contributing to impaired neurological function. On the other hand, the deep sedation group may face consequences such as prolonged mechanical ventilation, immobilization leading to venous thromboembolism, infections causing sepsis, arrhythmias, and possible need for reintubation and prolonged intensive care stay.²⁰⁻²³ The lingering sedation in the deep sedation group may interfere with neurological prognostication.^{25,26} In clinical practice, patients who have experienced cardiac arrest are often managed with deep sedation, similar to the deep sedation group in this trial, while those in the minimal sedation group will be managed like any non-cardiac arrest ICU patient. Data will be collected to gain a better understanding of these outcomes throughout the trial.

3.3 | Strengths and limitations

Strengths of the SED-CARE trial include its large sample size, the broad inclusion criteria, and the predefined detailed methodology leading to results with a low risk of bias. The sample size enables detection of small relative risk reductions and comparisons between a variety of cardiac arrest patient subpopulations that may benefit from different sedation targets. Our choice of patient-centered outcomes, together with the blinding of outcome assessors, prognosticators, the steering group, author group, statisticians, and the trial coordinating team, represents significant strengths.

Interactions between the blood pressure, sedation, and temperature strategies, with an effect on patient-centered outcomes, are a possibility and must be considered a limitation. This risk is implicit in all factorial trials. We have designed the study assuming that there is no interaction on the primary, secondary, and exploratory endpoints with the three strategies. Importantly, it is essential to acknowledge that the focus of this trial lies in investigating the targeted sedation depth and not in the assessed sedation depth. This clarification underscores the independence of the trial's treatment allocations and potential interaction effects. Thus, we will not be able to avoid the risk of interactions between interventions because it is an inherent feature of factorial trials. However, we initially deemed the risk of interactions to be minimal. Following calculation of the sample size, we have allowed for a small increment of the sample size (6.8%) to allow for loss to follow-up and a small interaction effect.

This trial may have a potential weakness in this context, as we include severe critical illness and severely brain-injured adult critically ill patients admitted to the ICU. As a result, both groups of patients may have deep sedation scores or scores close to deep sedation on the RASS regardless of sedatives administered, making the distinction between the groups less clear due to the severity of illness and brain injury. Additionally, patients with seizures or temperature control devices started in minimal sedation may need increased sedation, also making the separation between groups less clear. This limitation could impact the trial's ability to detect a difference in outcomes, leaving the question unanswered. However, it is important to distinguish that the aim of this trial is to investigate the intervention of targeted sedation levels. To mitigate these challenges, we plan to conduct sensitivity analyses to explore subgroups of patients that may be affected by these possible confounders.

Having open-label sedation targets is another limitation in this trial. However, measures have been taken to minimize their possible impact on the results and strategies to ensure that we are kept blinded, by blinding the steering group, authors of the manuscript, outcome assessors, prognosticators, statisticians, and the DSMC.

4 | CONCLUSION

The SED-CARE trial aims to investigate if continuous deep sedation for 36 h confers a benefit compared to minimal sedation after cardiac arrest on six-month mortality in adults who are comatose following resuscitation from out-ofof-hospital cardiac arrest. This trial aims for a large sample size and will investigate sedation targets in a broad population of cardiac arrest patients. We anticipate that results from this trial will guide future recommendations on sedation management after cardiac arrest. The SED-CARE trial is part of the large international factorial STEPCARE trial that will also investigate the blood pressure targets and fever treatment after cardiac arrest.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

A. Ceric drafted the manuscript. All other authors contributed to the study design and critically revised the manuscript. All authors approved the final version.

AFFILIATIONS

¹Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Skane University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden ²Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Section of Cardiology, Skåne University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden

³Faculty of Medicine and Health Technology, Tampere University Hospital, Wellbeing Services County of Pirkanmaa and Tampere University, Tampere, Finland

⁴Intensive Care Unit, Wellington Hospital, Wellington, New Zealand
⁵Medical Research Institute of New Zealand, Wellington, New Zealand

⁶Australian and New Zealand Intensive Care Research Centre, Monash University, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia ⁷Department of Critical Care, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

⁸Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, Helsinki University Hospital and University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

⁹The George Institute for Global Health, Sydney, Australia

¹⁰Royal North Shore Hospital, Sydney, Australia

¹¹Critical Care Program, The George Institute for Global Health, UNSW, Sydney, Australia

¹²Malcolm Fisher Department of Intensive Care, Royal North Shore Hospital, St Leonards, Australia

 ¹³Critical Care Division and Department of Intensive Care Medicine, The George Institute for Global Health and St George Hospital Clinical School, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia
 ¹⁴Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

¹⁵Department of Research, Development, Education and Innovation, Skåne University Hospital, Lund, Sweden

¹⁶Neurology, Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

¹⁷Department of Neurology, Skåne University Hospital, Lund, Sweden
 ¹⁸Department of Neurology and Rehabilitation, Skåne University
 Hospital, Lund, Sweden

¹⁹Department of Neurology, Helsinki University Hospital and University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

²⁰Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland

²¹Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, Kuopio University Hospital, Kuopio, Finland

²²Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

²³Department of Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Helsingborg Hospital, Helsingborg, Sweden

²⁴Copenhagen Trial Unit, Centre for Clinical Intervention Research, The Capital Region, Copenhagen University Hospital—Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark

²⁵Department of Regional Health Research, The Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark
 ²⁶Adult Critical Care, University Hospital of Wales, Cardiff, UK
 ²⁷Wellcome-Wolfson Institute for Experimental Medicine, Queen's

University Belfast, Belfast, UK ²⁸Regional Intensive care Unit, Royal Victoria Hospital, Belfast, United Kingdom

²⁹University Hospitals Bristol and Weston NHS Foundation Trust, Bristol, UK

³⁰Essex Cardiothoracic Centre, MSE NHSFT, Essex, UK

³¹Anglia Ruskin School of Medicine & MTRC, ARU, Chelmsford, Essex, United Kingdom

³²Department of Critical Care, Guy's and St Thomas NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK

³³Faculty of Life, Sciences and Medicine, King's College, Intensive Care Medicine, Centre for Human and Applied Physiological Sciences, School of Basic and Medical Biosciences, London, UK

³⁴Intensive Care Medicine, King's Critical Care, King's College Hospital, NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK Anaesthesiolog

³⁵Department of Pharmacy and Adult Critical Care, Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK

³⁶Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, School of Cancer &

Pharmaceutical Sciences, King's College London, London, UK

³⁷Critical Care, University Hospital of Wales, Cardiff, UK

³⁸BartsHealth NHS Trust, London, UK

³⁹Department of Critical Care, Portsmouth University Hospitals Trust, Portsmouth, UK

⁴⁰Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, Leeds, UK

⁴¹Department of Clinical Sciences, Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Lund University, Skåne University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden
⁴²Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Department of Clinical Sciences

Lund, Lund University, Skane University Hospital, Lund, Sweden ⁴³Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, Helsingborg Hospital, Helsingborg, Sweden

⁴⁴Department of Operation and Intensive Care, Hallands Hospital, Halmstad, Sweden

⁴⁵Department of Intensive and Perioperative Care, Skåne University Hospital, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

⁴⁶Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine, Institute of Clinical Sciences, Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden

⁴⁷Perioperative Medicine and Intensive Care (PMI), Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden

⁴⁸Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

⁴⁹Function Perioperative Medicine and Intensive Care, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden

⁵⁰Department of Clinical Science, Interventionand Technology, Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, Sweden

⁵¹North Estonia Medical Centre, Tallinn, Estonia

⁵²Department of Anesthesia and Intensive Care medicine, Division of Emergencies and Critical care, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

⁵³Lovisenberg Diaconal University College, Oslo, Norway

⁵⁴Department of Intensive Care Medicine, Stavanger University Hospital, Stavanger, Norway

⁵⁵Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care Medicine, Centre Hospitalier de Luxembourg, Luxembourg, Luxembourg

⁵⁶Department of Life Sciences and Medicine, Faculty of Science, Technology and Medicine, University of Luxembourg, Esch-sur Alzette, Luxembourg

⁵⁷University Heart Center Lübeck, University Hospital Schleswig-Holstein, Schleswig-Holstein, Germany

⁵⁸German Center for Cardiovascular Research (DZHK), Hamburg/ Lübeck/Kiel, Germany

⁵⁹Department of Neurology and Stroke, University Hospital Tuebingen, Hertie Institute of Clinical Brain Research, Tuebingen, Germany

⁶⁰Charité—Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Department of Neurology, Freie Universität and Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Berlin, Germany ⁶¹Department of Nephrology and Medical Intensive Care, Charité— Universitaetsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany

⁶²Department of Intensive Care Medicine, Ghent University Hospital, Ghent, Belgium ⁶³Department of Cardiology, Ziekenhuis Oost-, Genk, Limburg, Belgium⁶⁴University College Dublin Clinical Research Centre at St Vincent'sUniversity Hospital, University College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland

⁶⁵The Australian and New Zealand Intensive Care Research Centre,

Monash University, Melbourne, Australia

⁶⁶The Alfred Hospital, Melbourne, Australia

⁶⁷Institute of Intensive Care Medicine University Hospital Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

⁶⁸Institute of Intensive Care Medicine, University Hospital Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

⁶⁹Department of Intensive Care Medicine, Inselspital University Hospital Bern, Bern, Switzerland

⁷⁰Klinik für Intensivmedizin, Kantonsspital St. Gallen, St. Gallen, Switzerland

⁷¹Istituto Cardiocentro Ticino, Lugano, Switzerland

⁷²Division of Intensive Care and Emergency Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Medical University Insbruck, Innsbruck, Austria

⁷³IRCCS Policlinico San Martino, Genova, Italy. Dipartimento di Scienze Chirurgiche Diagnostiche Integrate, University of Genova, Genova, Italy

⁷⁴Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, Pordenone Hospital, Azienda Sanitaria Friuli Occidentale, Pordenone, Italy

⁷⁵First Faculty of Medicine, Charles University in Prague, Institute for Heart Diseases, Prauge, Czech Republic

⁷⁶Second Department of Internal Medicine, Cardiovascular Medicine, General University Hospital, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland

⁷⁷Second Department of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, First Faculty of Medicine, Charles University in Prague and General University Hospital in Prague, Prague, Czech Republic

⁷⁸King Abdullah International Medical Research Center, King Saud bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

⁷⁹Department of Anestesia, Critical Care and Pain Medicine, Jaber Alahmad Alsabah Hospital, Kuwait City, Kuwait

⁸⁰Tan Tock Seng Hospital, Singapore, Singapore

⁸¹Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore

⁸²Lee Kong Chian School of Medicine, Nanyang Technological University, Singapore, Singapore

⁸³Intensive Care Unit, Liverpool Hospital, South Western Sydney Local Health District, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia

⁸⁴South Western Clinical School, University of New South Wales, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia

⁸⁵The Ingham Institute for Applied Medical Research, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia

⁸⁶Liverpool Hospital, Liverpool, Australia

⁸⁷Medical School, University of Queensland, Level 9, Health Sciences
 Building, Royal Brisbane and Women's Hospital, Brisbane, Australia
 ⁸⁸The George Institute for Global Health, Faculty of Medicine,

University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia

⁸⁹Department of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Health and Human Sciences, Macquarie University, Sydney, Australia

⁹⁰Critical Care Program, The George Institute for Global Health.

Malcolm Fisher Depratment of Intensive Care Medicine, Royal North

Shore Hospital. Northern Clinical School, Sydney Medical School, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

- ⁹¹Caboolture and Royal Brisbane and Women's Hospitals, Metro North Hospital and Health Service, Brisbane, Queensland, Australia
 ⁹²School of Clinical Medicine, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Queensland, Australia
- ⁹³Critical Care Division, The George Institute for Global Health, University of New South Wales, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia

⁹⁴Middlemore Hospital, Auckland, New Zealand
⁹⁵Department of Intensive Care, Christchurch Hospital, Christchurch

Central City, New Zealand

⁹⁶Intensive Care Unit, Tampere University Hospital, Tampere, Finland
⁹⁷Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, Jorvi Hospital,

University Hospital of Helsinki and University of Helsinki, Espoo, Finland

⁹⁸Research Unit of Translational Medicine, Research Group of Anaesthesiology, Medical Research Center Oulu, Oulu University Hospital and University of Oulu, Oulu, Finland

⁹⁹OYS Heart, Oulu University Hospital, MRC Oulu and University of Oulu, Oulu, Finland

¹⁰⁰Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

¹⁰¹Intensive and Perioperative Care, Skåne University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden

¹⁰²Copenhagen Trial Unit, Centre for Clinical Intervention Research, Copenhagen University Hospital—Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark

¹⁰³Department of Regional Health Research, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

M. B. Skrifvars: Speaker's fee from BARD Medical (Ireland) 2022 and Member of the editorial board of Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica. C. Leithner: Research support from the Laerdal Foundation. J. Nee: received honorarium and travel costs for presentations from BD BARD and Xenios AG. M. Joannidis: No COIs regarding these studies, but COIs outside these topics are consulting fees from Baxter Healthcare Corp, AM-Pharma, Biomerieux, Sphingotec, and AOP Pharma; and honoraria for lectures from Baxter Healthcare Corp, AOP Health, and Biomerieux. Grants from Baxter Healthcare and Fresenius received by the institution. T. Pellis: BD—lecture fees. M. Reade: I am an investigator in several National Health and Medical Research Council—funded trials, including trials of sedative agents and other treatments for brain injury.

FUNDING INFORMATION

The trial is funded by The Swedish Research Council, ALF-project funding within the Swedish Health Care, The Academy of Finland (341277), The Sigrid Jusélius Foundation (Finland) (8137), Hospital district of Helsinki and Uusimaa (Finland), Medicinska Understödsföreningen Liv och Hälsa (Sweden), Medical Research Future Fund (Australia) (199449), Health Research Council of New Zealand, and the Clinical Research Programme Directorate of Health Ministry of Health and Social Security (Luxembourg).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Research data are not shared.

ORCID

A. Ceric 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6846-5961

- V. H. Niemelä D https://orcid.org/0009-0009-5048-4801
- M. B. Skrifvars D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0341-0262
- J. White 🗅 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4557-3393
- A. Lybeck https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7574-3958
- A. Lundin D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6623-6847
- P. Druwé https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8776-6591
- M. Iten https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0140-2066
- M. Nafi D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2733-9103
- M. Joannidis https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6996-0881 Y. M. Arabi https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5735-6241
- A. Aneman b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2096-5304

REFERENCES

- Roger VL, Go AS, Lloyd-Jones DM, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics – 2012 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2012;125(1):e2-e220. doi:10.1161/CIR.0b013e31823ac046
- Atwood C, Eisenberg MS, Herlitz J, Rea TD. Incidence of EMS-treated out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in Europe. *Resuscitation*. 2005;67(1):75-80. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2005.03.021
- Rea TD, Eisenberg MS, Sinibaldi G, White RD. Incidence of EMStreated out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in the United States. *Resuscitation*. 2004;63(1):17-24. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2004.03.025
- Thomassen A, Wernberg M. Prevalence and prognostic significance of coma after cardiac arrest outside intensive care and coronary units. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand.* 1979;23(2):143-148. doi:10.1111/j.1399-6576.1979.tb01434.x
- Dragancea I, Horn J, Kuiper M, et al. Neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management 33°C versus 36°C: results from a randomised controlled clinical trial. *Resuscitation*. 2015;93:164-170. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2015.04.013
- Nolan JP, Sandroni C, Bottiger BW, et al. European Resuscitation Council and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine guidelines 2021: post-resuscitation care. *Intensive Care Med.* 2021;47(4):369-421. doi:10.1007/s00134-021-06368-4
- Callaway CW, Donnino MW, Fink EL, et al. Part 8: post-cardiac arrest care: 2015 American Heart Association guidelines update for cardiopulmonary resuscitation and emergency cardiovascular care. *Circulation*. 2015;132(18 suppl 2):S465-S482. doi:10.1161/CIR.00000000000262
- Jarpestam S, Martinell L, Rylander C, Lilija L. Post-cardiac arrest intensive care in Sweden: A survey of current clinical practice. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand.* 2023;67(9):1249-1255. doi:10.1111/aas.14298
- Celis-Rodríguez E, Díaz Cortés JC, Cárdenas Bolívar YR, et al. Evidence-based clinical practice guidelines for the management of sedoanalgesia and delirium in critically ill adult patients. *Med Intensiva*. 2020;44(3):171-184. doi:10.1016/j.medin.2019.07.013
- DAS-Taskforce 2015, Baron R, Binder A, et al. Evidence and consensus based guideline for the management of delirium, analgesia, and sedation in intensive care medicine. Revision 2015 (DAS-guideline 2015) short version. *Ger Med Sci.* 2015;13:Doc19. doi:10.3205/000223
- 11. Devlin JW, Skrobik Y, Gelinas C, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and Management of Pain, agitation/sedation, delirium,

Anaesthesiolog

- Sandroni C, Nolan JP, Andersen LW, et al. ERC-ESICM guidelines on temperature control after cardiac arrest in adults. *Intensive Care Med.* 2022;48(3):261-269. doi:10.1007/s00134-022-06620-5
- Hirsch KG, Abella BS, Amorim E, et al. Critical care management of patients after cardiac arrest: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association and neurocritical care society. *Circulation*. 2024; 149(2):e168-e200. doi:10.1161/CIR.00000000001163
- Lybeck A, Friberg H, Aneman A, et al. Prognostic significance of clinical seizures after cardiac arrest and target temperature management. *Resuscitation*. 2017;114:146-151. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2017. 01.017
- Vossler DG, Bainbridge JL, Boggs JG, et al. Treatment of refractory convulsive status epilepticus: a comprehensive review by the American Epilepsy Society Treatments Committee. *Epilepsy Curr.* 2020; 20(5):245-264. doi:10.1177/1535759720928269
- Hausburg MA, Banton KL, Roman PE, et al. Effects of propofol on ischemia-reperfusion and traumatic brain injury. J Crit Care. 2020;56: 281-287. doi:10.1016/j.jcrc.2019.12.021
- Oddo M, Crippa IA, Mehta S, et al. Optimizing sedation in patients with acute brain injury. *Crit Care.* 2016;20(1):128. doi:10.1186/ s13054-016-1294-5
- Jessen NA, Munk AS, Lundgaard I, Nedergaard M. The glymphatic system: a Beginner's guide. *Neurochem Res.* 2015;40(12):2583-2599.
- Stamatakis EA, Adapa RM, Absalom AR, Menon DK. Changes in resting neural connectivity during propofol sedation. *PLoS One.* 2010; 5(12):e14224.
- Treggiari MM, Romand JA, Yanez ND, et al. Randomized trial of light versus deep sedation on mental health after critical illness. *Crit Care Med.* 2009;37(9):2527-2534. doi:10.1097/CCM.0b013e3181a5689f
- Kress JP, Pohlman AS, O'Connor MF, Hall JB. Daily interruption of sedative infusions in critically ill patients undergoing mechanical ventilation. N Engl J Med. 2000;342(20):1471-1477. doi:10.1056/ NEJM200005183422002
- Shehabi Y, Chan L, Kadiman S, et al. Sedation depth and long-term mortality in mechanically ventilated critically ill adults: a prospective longitudinal multicentre cohort study. *Intensive Care Med.* 2013;39(5): 910-918. doi:10.1007/s00134-013-2830-2
- SRLF Trial Group. Impact of oversedation prevention in ventilated critically ill patients: a randomized trial-the AWARE study. *Ann Intensive Care*. 2018;8(1):93. doi:10.1186/s13613-018-0425-3
- Maagaard M, Barbateskovic M, Andersen-Ranberg NC, et al. Dexmedetomidine for the prevention of delirium in adults admitted to the intensive care unit or post-operative care unit: a systematic review of randomised clinical trials with meta-analysis and Trial sequential analysis. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand.* 2023;67(4):382-411. doi:10.1111/aas. 14208
- 25. Wijdicks EF, Hijdra A, Young GB, Bassetti CL, Wiebe S. Quality standards subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. Practice parameter: prediction of outcome in comatose survivors after cardiopulmonary resuscitation (an evidence-based review): report of the quality standards subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology*. 2006;67(2):203-210. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000227183.21314.cd
- Sandroni C, D'Arrigo S, Cacciola S, et al. Prediction of poor neurological outcome in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: a systematic review. *Intensive Care Med.* 2020;46(10):1803-1851. doi:10.1007/ s00134-020-06198-w
- Wimmer H, Stensønes SH, Benth JŠ, et al. Outcome prediction in comatose cardiac arrest patients with initial shockable and nonshockable rhythms. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand*. 2024;68(2):263-273. doi: 10.1111/aas.14337
- 28. Sessler CN, Gosnell MS, Grap MJ, et al. The Richmond agitationsedation scale: validity and reliability in adult intensive care unit

patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2002;166(10):1344-1348. doi:10. 1164/rccm.2107138

- Riker RR, Picard JT, Fraser GL. Prospective evaluation of the sedation-agitation scale for adult critically ill patients. *Crit Care Med.* 1999;27(7):1325-1329. doi:10.1097/00003246-199907000-00022
- Butcher NJ, Monsour A, Mew EJ, et al. Guidelines for reporting outcomes in trial protocols: the SPIRIT-outcomes 2022 extension. *Jama*. 2022;328(23):2345-2356. doi:10.1001/jama.2022.21243
- Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D. CONSORT 2010 statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. *BMJ*. 2010;340:c332.
- Kahan BC, Hall SS, Beller EM, et al. Reporting of factorial randomized trials: extension of the CONSORT 2010 statement. *Jama*. 2023; 330(21):2106-2114.
- Wijdicks EF, Bamlet WR, Maramattom BV, Manno EM, McClelland RL. Validation of a new coma scale: the FOUR score. Ann Neurol. 2005;58(4):585-593. doi:10.1002/ana.20611
- Devlin JW, Skrobik Y, Gélinas C, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of pain, agitation/sedation, delirium, immobility, and sleep disruption in adult patients in the ICU. *Crit Care Med.* 2018;46(9):e825-e873.
- Badjatia N, Strongilis E, Gordon E, et al. Metabolic impact of shivering during therapeutic temperature modulation: the bedside shivering assessment scale. *Stroke*. 2008;39(12):3242-3247. doi:10. 1161/STROKEAHA.108.523654
- 36. Sandroni C, Cariou A, Cavallaro F, et al. Prognostication in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: an advisory statement from the European Resuscitation Council and the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. *Intensive Care Med*. 2014;40(12):1816-1831. doi:10.1007/ s00134-014-3470-x
- Haywood K, Whitehead L, Nadkarni VM, et al. COSCA (core outcome set for cardiac arrest) in adults: an advisory statement from the international liaison committee on resuscitation. *Circulation*. 2018;137(22): e783-e801. doi:10.1161/cir.00000000000562
- Herdman M, Gudex C, Lloyd A, et al. Development and preliminary testing of the new five-level version of EQ-5D (EQ-5D-5L). *Qual Life Res.* 2011;20(10):1727-1736. doi:10.1007/s11136-011-9903-x
- Cook D, Lauzier F, Rocha MG, Sayles MJ, Finfer S. Serious adverse events in academic critical care research. *Cmaj.* 2008;178(9):1181-1184. doi:10.1503/cmaj.071366
- Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, et al. The third international consensus definitions for sepsis and septic shock (Sepsis-3). Jama. 2016;315(8):801-810.
- GUSTO Investigators. An international randomized trial comparing four thrombolytic strategies for acute myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med. 1993;329(10):673-682.
- van Swieten JC, Koudstaal PJ, Visser MC, Schouten HJ, van Gijn J. Interobserver agreement for the assessment of handicap in stroke patients. *Stroke*. 1988;19(5):604-607. doi:10.1161/01.str.19.5.604
- Olsen MH, Jensen AKG, Dankiewicz J, et al. Interactions in the 2×2×2 factorial randomised clinical STEPCARE trial and the potential effects on conclusions: a protocol for a simulation study. *Trials*. 2022; 23(1):889. doi:10.1186/s13063-022-06796-7
- 44. Ameloot K, De Deyne C, Eertmans W, et al. Early goal-directed haemodynamic optimization of cerebral oxygenation in comatose survivors after cardiac arrest: the neuroprotect post-cardiac arrest trial. *Eur Heart J.* 2019;40(22):1804-1814. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehz120
- Jakkula P, Pettila V, Skrifvars MB, et al. Targeting low-normal or highnormal mean arterial pressure after cardiac arrest and resuscitation: a randomised pilot trial. *Intensive Care Med.* 2018;44(12):2091-2101. doi:10.1007/s00134-018-5446-8
- Díaz M, Becker DE. Thermoregulation: physiological and clinical considerations during sedation and general anesthesia. *Anesth Prog.* 2010;57(1):25-33.

- Reade MC, Bass F, Howe B, Seppelt I, Shehabi Y. Considerations for co-enrolment in randomised controlled effectiveness trials in critical care: the SPICE-8 co-enrolment guidelines. *Crit Care Resusc.* 2017; 19(2):110-114.
- Nielsen N, Wetterslev J, Cronberg T, et al. Targeted temperature management at 33°C versus 36°C after cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(23):2197-2206. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1310519
- Dankiewicz J, Cronberg T, Lilja G, et al. Hypothermia versus normothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. *New Eng J Med.* 2021; 384(24):2283-2294. doi:10.1056/nejmoa2100591
- Dankiewicz J, Cronberg T, Lilja G, et al. Targeted hypothermia versus targeted normothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (TTM2). A randomised clinical trial – rationale and design. *Am Heart J*. 2019;217: 23-31.
- Nielsen N, Hovdenes J, Nilsson F, et al. Outcome, timing and adverse events in therapeutic hypothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2009;53(7):926-934. doi:10.1111/j. 1399-6576.2009.02021.x
- Pareek N, Kordis P, Beckley-Hoelscher N, et al. A practical risk score for early prediction of neurological outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: MIRACLE2. *Eur Heart J.* 2020;41(47):4508-4517. doi:10. 1093/eurheartj/ehaa570
- World Medical Association. World medical association declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human

subjects. Jama. 2013;310(20):2191-2194. doi:10.1001/jama.2013. 281053

- Gordon Lan KK, Demets DL. Discrete sequential boundaries for clinical trials. *Biometrika*. 1983;70(3):659-663. doi:10.1093/biomet/70. 3.659
- Haywood K, Whitehead L, Nadkarni VM, et al. COSCA (core outcome set for cardiac arrest) in adults: an advisory statement from the international liaison committee on resuscitation. *Resuscitation*. 2018;127: 147-163. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2018.03.022

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Ceric A, Dankiewicz J, Hästbacka J, et al. Continuous deep sedation versus minimal sedation after cardiac arrest and resuscitation (SED-CARE): A protocol for a randomized clinical trial. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand*. 2025;69(5): e70022. doi:10.1111/aas.70022

About the author



Ameldina Ceric received her medical degree from Lund University, Sweden, in 2019 and was admitted as a PhD student at the same university in 2020. She is currently a resident doctor in anesthesiology and intensive care medicine at Skåne University Hospital in Malmö. Combining clinical practice with ongoing research, she has developed a growing interest in sedation and analgesia management.

This dissertation aims to bridge evidence-based medicine with the everyday clinical challenges encountered in intensive care units.



FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Department of Clinical Sciences Lund

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2025:53 ISBN 978-91-8021-706-4 ISSN 1652-8220

